# Biochemical and functional characterization of Fyn-PAG association and its role in T-cell anergy

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades

doctor rerum naturalium (Dr. rer. nat.)

genehmigt durch die Fakultät für Naturwissenschaften der Otto-von-Guericke-Universität Magdeburg

von Dipl.-Biol. Michal Smida

geb. am 01.02.1976 in Boskovice, Tschechien

Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Burkhart Schraven Prof. Doreen Cantrell

eingereicht am:27. September 2007verteidigt am:27. Februar 2008

# Acknowledgement

I am deeply thankful to my mentor, Dr. Jonathan A. Lindquist, for his invaluable scientific advice and professional guidance that lead me throughout the whole project. He was more than a simple supervisor of my PhD thesis; he really took care of my life, not only professionally but also privately. Not only did he gave me all the knowledge what was in his might, but he also had that rare gift of providing me with the necessary motivation and encouragement. He always infected me with his never-ending enthusiasm and found a word of assurance when I was loosing my last hope.

I would never have been able to perform this work without the intense support of Prof. Burkhart Schraven. His constant objective view on our experiments and inestimable suggestions helped me to walk the right way and not to get lost in unlikely explanations. I shall always be indebted for his excellent scientific input that has broadened my scientific background. His expectations and trust were the driving forces that motivated me to develop further.

Many thanks should also be dedicated to Anita Posevitz-Fejfar, my colleague "in arms". It was always entertaining to work together with her, to support each other and to discuss any problems in the lab. Thanks for finishing things in the lab on that occasional Fridays when I was in a hurry to catch my train home. It was her and Vilmos Posevitz who showed me that there is also another life besides work and did not allow me to feel lonely in my free time. Together with Xiaoqian Wang and the other companions in our office, they always took care of the lovely atmosphere in our room.

I will always appreciate the company of Dr. Mauro Togni for his unceasing sense of humor and his perpetual support and willing to help me at any time. I will also never forget many valuable discussions in the hallways with Drs. Luca Simeoni, Stefanie Kliche and Roland Hartig. I would never neglect to mention the wonderful help I received from all of the technicians in our institute and their assistance with any technique. I feel I must give thanks to all the members of the Institute of Immunology, since they have made my stay here more enjoyable, by always being nice, friendly, and making me feel like at home.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENT**

I especially want to thank my parents for always believing in me and supporting me in my research career and in all of my choices. I will also remember the many new and wonderful friends I have made in Magdeburg, who regularly provided for a beautiful distraction. Additionally, I must acknowledge my old friends at home, mainly for still staying my friends despite the long distance between us. Thanks for always being on my side.

Finally, I wish to express my tribute to Pavlina, for her unbeatable tolerance, patience and loving support in whatever I intended to do. Her belief in me and eternal encouragement has given me the strength and motivation to move on. I shall always respect her for this.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS i

# **Table of contents**

1.	Introduction	1
	1.1. T-cell development	2
	1.2. Peripheral T-cell tolerance	3
	1.2.1. AICD	3
	1.2.2. Anergy	4
	1.2.2.1. Models of anergy	4
	1.2.2.2. Clinical applications of anergy	7
	1.2.2.3. Biochemical characteristics of anergic cells	7
	1.2.3. Regulatory T cells	9
	1.2.4. T-cell ignorance	9
	1.3. Ras proteins	10
	1.3.1. Ras structure and localization	10
	1.3.2. Ras regulation	11
	1.3.3. RasGEFs	12
	1.3.4. RasGAPs	12
	1.3.5. Ras effectors	13
	1.4. T-cell signaling	14
	1.4.1. T-cell receptor	14
	1.4.2. Lipid rafts	15
	1.4.3. T-cell signaling pathways	16
	1.5. Adaptor proteins	18
	1.5.1. Transmembrane adaptor proteins	19
	1.6. PAG	20
	1.6.1. Structure and expression of PAG	20
	1.6.2. Interacting partners of PAG	21
	1.6.3. The PAG phosphatase	22
	1.6.4. Function of PAG	23
	1.7. Src family kinases (SFKs)	26
	1.7.1. Structure and localization of Src family kinases	26
	1.7.2. Regulation and activation of Src family kinases	27

# TABLE OF CONTENTSii

	1.7.3. Function of Lck and Fyn2	.9
	1.8. Csk (C-terminal Src kinase)3	51
	1.9. Aim of the project	13
2.	Methods3	4
	2.1. Antibodies used in this study	4
	2.2. General reagents for cell culture	6
	2.3. T cell isolation and purification	6
	2.4. Anergy induction	7
	2.5. Proliferation assay	57
	2.6. Stimulation of T cells	8
	2.7. Cell lysis, immunoprecipitation and Western blot analysis	8
	2.8. Mass spectrometry	1
	2.9. Subcellular fractionation	1
	2.10. Flowcytometry	2
	2.11. Lipid raft preparation4	3
	2.12. In vitro kinase assay	4
	2.13. cAMP measurement	4
	2.14. Transfection	5
	2.15. Ras activation assay	6
	2.16. Scanning and quantification4	17
3.	Results4	8
	3.1. Proximal alterations within <i>Anergic</i> T cells4	8
	3.1.1. Induction of Anergic T cells4	8
	3.1.2. Increased Fyn activity and expression within <i>Anergic</i> T cells	51
	3.1.3. Altered phosphorylation profile in <i>Anergic</i> T cells5	63
	3.1.4. Defective proximal signaling in <i>Anergic</i> T cells5	64
	3.2. Alterations within PAG-associated complex in <i>Anergic</i> T cells5	5
	3.2.1. PAG-associated kinase activity is enhanced in <i>Anergic</i> T cells	5
	3.2.2. PAG is hyperphosphorylated at Y <sup>317</sup> in <i>Anergic</i> T cells	6
	3.2.3. Hyperphosphorylated PAG recruits more Csk in Anergic T cells5	57
	3.2.4. Elevated levels of the PAG-Csk complex create an inhibitory environment in	
	Anergic cells	57

	3.2.5. Increased cAMP level and pSer <sup>364</sup> -Csk in <i>Anergic</i> T cells	59
	3.2.6. Fyn is dually phosphorylated on its Y <sup>529</sup> and Y <sup>215</sup> in <i>Anergic</i> T cells	60
	3.2.7. Increased Fyn kinase activity and inhibitory tyrosine phosphorylation within the	
	lipid rafts of Anergic T cells	61
	3.3. PAG forms a novel multiprotein complex, which regulates Ras activation	65
	3.3.1. Increased expression of Sam68 and p120RasGAP	65
	3.3.2. PAG forms a novel multiprotein complex consisting of PAG, Fyn, Sam68 and	
	p120RasGAP	66
	3.3.3. PAG negatively regulates Ras activation	68
	3.3.4. Basic characterization of Y317F mutant of PAG	71
	3.3.5. PAG negatively regulates Ras activation independently of Csk binding	72
	3.3.6. Y <sup>181</sup> of PAG is the p120RasGAP binding site	74
	3.3.7. PAG negatively regulates Ras activation also in the absence of p120RasGAP	
	binding	74
	3.3.8. Both Csk and p120RasGAP binding contribute to the block in Ras activation	76
	3.3.9. PAG downregulation leads to enhanced and sustained SFK and Ras activation	77
	3.4. Identification and characterization of IGAP	80
	<b>3.4. Identification and characterization of IGAP</b>	<b>80</b> 80
	<ul> <li>3.4. Identification and characterization of IGAP.</li> <li>3.4.1. Expression of DGKs is unchanged in <i>Anergic</i> T cells.</li> <li>3.4.2. DGK alpha antibody cross-reacts with p120 protein.</li> </ul>	<b>80</b> 80 81
	<ul> <li>3.4. Identification and characterization of IGAP.</li> <li>3.4.1. Expression of DGKs is unchanged in <i>Anergic</i> T cells.</li> <li>3.4.2. DGK alpha antibody cross-reacts with p120 protein.</li> <li>3.4.3. Identification of IGAP.</li> </ul>	<b>80</b> 80 81 83
	<ul> <li>3.4. Identification and characterization of IGAP.</li> <li>3.4.1. Expression of DGKs is unchanged in <i>Anergic</i> T cells.</li> <li>3.4.2. DGK alpha antibody cross-reacts with p120 protein.</li> <li>3.4.3. Identification of IGAP.</li> <li>3.4.4. IGAP is phosphorylated <i>in vivo</i>.</li> </ul>	<b>80</b> 80 81 83 85
	<ul> <li>3.4. Identification and characterization of IGAP.</li> <li>3.4.1. Expression of DGKs is unchanged in <i>Anergic</i> T cells.</li> <li>3.4.2. DGK alpha antibody cross-reacts with p120 protein.</li> <li>3.4.3. Identification of IGAP.</li> <li>3.4.4. IGAP is phosphorylated <i>in vivo</i>.</li> <li>3.4.5. IGAP is upregulated during long-term stimulation of T cells.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>80</li> <li>80</li> <li>81</li> <li>83</li> <li>85</li> <li>86</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>3.4. Identification and characterization of IGAP.</li> <li>3.4.1. Expression of DGKs is unchanged in <i>Anergic</i> T cells.</li> <li>3.4.2. DGK alpha antibody cross-reacts with p120 protein.</li> <li>3.4.3. Identification of IGAP.</li> <li>3.4.4. IGAP is phosphorylated <i>in vivo</i>.</li> <li>3.4.5. IGAP is upregulated during long-term stimulation of T cells.</li> <li>3.4.6. IGAP is predominantly plasma membrane localized.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>80</li> <li>80</li> <li>81</li> <li>83</li> <li>85</li> <li>86</li> <li>87</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>3.4. Identification and characterization of IGAP.</li> <li>3.4.1. Expression of DGKs is unchanged in <i>Anergic</i> T cells.</li> <li>3.4.2. DGK alpha antibody cross-reacts with p120 protein.</li> <li>3.4.3. Identification of IGAP.</li> <li>3.4.4. IGAP is phosphorylated <i>in vivo</i>.</li> <li>3.4.5. IGAP is upregulated during long-term stimulation of T cells.</li> <li>3.4.6. IGAP is predominantly plasma membrane localized.</li> <li>3.4.7. IGAP associates with PAG.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>80</li> <li>80</li> <li>81</li> <li>83</li> <li>85</li> <li>86</li> <li>87</li> <li>87</li> </ul>
4.	<ul> <li>3.4. Identification and characterization of IGAP.</li> <li>3.4.1. Expression of DGKs is unchanged in <i>Anergic</i> T cells.</li> <li>3.4.2. DGK alpha antibody cross-reacts with p120 protein.</li> <li>3.4.3. Identification of IGAP.</li> <li>3.4.4. IGAP is phosphorylated <i>in vivo</i>.</li> <li>3.4.5. IGAP is upregulated during long-term stimulation of T cells.</li> <li>3.4.6. IGAP is predominantly plasma membrane localized.</li> <li>3.4.7. IGAP associates with PAG.</li> <li>Discussion.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>80</li> <li>80</li> <li>81</li> <li>83</li> <li>85</li> <li>86</li> <li>87</li> <li>87</li> <li>89</li> </ul>
4.	<ul> <li>3.4. Identification and characterization of IGAP.</li> <li>3.4.1. Expression of DGKs is unchanged in <i>Anergic</i> T cells.</li> <li>3.4.2. DGK alpha antibody cross-reacts with p120 protein.</li> <li>3.4.3. Identification of IGAP.</li> <li>3.4.4. IGAP is phosphorylated <i>in vivo</i>.</li> <li>3.4.5. IGAP is upregulated during long-term stimulation of T cells.</li> <li>3.4.6. IGAP is predominantly plasma membrane localized.</li> <li>3.4.7. IGAP associates with PAG.</li> <li>4.1. Proximal alterations within anergic T cells.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>80</li> <li>80</li> <li>81</li> <li>83</li> <li>85</li> <li>86</li> <li>87</li> <li>87</li> <li>89</li> <li>89</li> </ul>
4.	<ul> <li>3.4. Identification and characterization of IGAP.</li> <li>3.4.1. Expression of DGKs is unchanged in <i>Anergic</i> T cells.</li> <li>3.4.2. DGK alpha antibody cross-reacts with p120 protein.</li> <li>3.4.3. Identification of IGAP.</li> <li>3.4.4. IGAP is phosphorylated <i>in vivo</i>.</li> <li>3.4.5. IGAP is upregulated during long-term stimulation of T cells.</li> <li>3.4.6. IGAP is predominantly plasma membrane localized.</li> <li>3.4.7. IGAP associates with PAG.</li> <li>Discussion.</li> <li>4.1. Proximal alterations within anergic T cells.</li> <li>4.2. Alterations within the PAG-associated complex in anergic T cells.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>80</li> <li>80</li> <li>81</li> <li>83</li> <li>85</li> <li>86</li> <li>87</li> <li>87</li> <li>89</li> <li>90</li> </ul>
4.	<ul> <li>3.4. Identification and characterization of IGAP.</li> <li>3.4.1. Expression of DGKs is unchanged in <i>Anergic</i> T cells.</li> <li>3.4.2. DGK alpha antibody cross-reacts with p120 protein.</li> <li>3.4.3. Identification of IGAP.</li> <li>3.4.4. IGAP is phosphorylated <i>in vivo</i>.</li> <li>3.4.5. IGAP is upregulated during long-term stimulation of T cells.</li> <li>3.4.6. IGAP is predominantly plasma membrane localized.</li> <li>3.4.7. IGAP associates with PAG.</li> <li>Discussion.</li> <li>4.1. Proximal alterations within anergic T cells.</li> <li>4.2. Alterations within the PAG-associated complex in anergic T cells.</li> <li>4.3. Fyn is dually phosphorylated on Y<sup>529</sup> and Y<sup>215</sup> in anergic T cells.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>80</li> <li>80</li> <li>81</li> <li>83</li> <li>85</li> <li>86</li> <li>87</li> <li>87</li> <li>89</li> <li>90</li> <li>92</li> </ul>
4.	<ul> <li>3.4. Identification and characterization of IGAP.</li> <li>3.4.1. Expression of DGKs is unchanged in <i>Anergic</i> T cells.</li> <li>3.4.2. DGK alpha antibody cross-reacts with p120 protein.</li> <li>3.4.3. Identification of IGAP.</li> <li>3.4.4. IGAP is phosphorylated <i>in vivo</i>.</li> <li>3.4.5. IGAP is upregulated during long-term stimulation of T cells.</li> <li>3.4.6. IGAP is predominantly plasma membrane localized.</li> <li>3.4.7. IGAP associates with PAG.</li> <li>Discussion.</li> <li>4.1. Proximal alterations within anergic T cells.</li> <li>4.2. Alterations within the PAG-associated complex in anergic T cells.</li> <li>4.3. Fyn is dually phosphorylated on Y<sup>529</sup> and Y<sup>215</sup> in anergic T cells.</li> <li>4.4. Increased Fyn kinase activity and inhibitory tyrosine phosphorylation within the lipid</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>80</li> <li>80</li> <li>81</li> <li>83</li> <li>85</li> <li>86</li> <li>87</li> <li>87</li> <li>89</li> <li>90</li> <li>92</li> </ul>
4.	<ul> <li>3.4. Identification and characterization of IGAP.</li> <li>3.4.1. Expression of DGKs is unchanged in <i>Anergic</i> T cells.</li> <li>3.4.2. DGK alpha antibody cross-reacts with p120 protein.</li> <li>3.4.3. Identification of IGAP.</li> <li>3.4.4. IGAP is phosphorylated <i>in vivo</i>.</li> <li>3.4.5. IGAP is upregulated during long-term stimulation of T cells.</li> <li>3.4.6. IGAP is predominantly plasma membrane localized.</li> <li>3.4.7. IGAP associates with PAG.</li> <li>Discussion.</li> <li>4.1. Proximal alterations within anergic T cells.</li> <li>4.2. Alterations within the PAG-associated complex in anergic T cells.</li> <li>4.3. Fyn is dually phosphorylated on Y<sup>529</sup> and Y<sup>215</sup> in anergic T cells.</li> <li>4.4. Increased Fyn kinase activity and inhibitory tyrosine phosphorylation within the lipid rafts of anergic T cells.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>80</li> <li>80</li> <li>81</li> <li>83</li> <li>85</li> <li>86</li> <li>87</li> <li>89</li> <li>90</li> <li>92</li> <li>94</li> </ul>
4.	<ul> <li>3.4. Identification and characterization of IGAP.</li> <li>3.4.1. Expression of DGKs is unchanged in <i>Anergic</i> T cells.</li> <li>3.4.2. DGK alpha antibody cross-reacts with p120 protein.</li> <li>3.4.3. Identification of IGAP.</li> <li>3.4.4. IGAP is phosphorylated <i>in vivo</i>.</li> <li>3.4.5. IGAP is upregulated during long-term stimulation of T cells.</li> <li>3.4.6. IGAP is predominantly plasma membrane localized.</li> <li>3.4.7. IGAP associates with PAG.</li> <li>Discussion.</li> <li>4.1. Proximal alterations within anergic T cells.</li> <li>4.2. Alterations within the PAG-associated complex in anergic T cells.</li> <li>4.3. Fyn is dually phosphorylated on Y<sup>529</sup> and Y<sup>215</sup> in anergic T cells.</li> <li>4.4. Increased Fyn kinase activity and inhibitory tyrosine phosphorylation within the lipid rafts of anergic T cells.</li> <li>4.5. PAG forms a novel multiprotein complex.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>80</li> <li>80</li> <li>81</li> <li>83</li> <li>85</li> <li>86</li> <li>87</li> <li>89</li> <li>90</li> <li>92</li> <li>94</li> <li>95</li> </ul>

# TABLE OF CONTENTS iv

	4.7. PAG downregulation leads to enhanced and sustained SFK and Ras activation	98
	4.8. Expression of DGKs is unchanged in anergic T cells	100
	4.9. Identification and characterization of IGAP	.101
5.	Conclusion	103
6.	Zusammenfassung	105
7.	References	.107
8.	List of abbreviations	130
9.	Curriculum Vitae	.133
10.	Publications	.134

# **1. Introduction**

The immune system protects our body against a broad variety of pathogens and ensures homeostasis within the body. The immune system consists of two parts – the innate immune system and the acquired (or adaptive) immune system.

<u>Innate immunity</u> represents the basic resistance to pathogens. It is the first line of defense, acting immediately after infection. Its action is nonspecific and it does not possess any immune memory. The innate immune system includes also skin and surfaces of mucous membranes as anatomical barriers, various physiological barriers (e.g. low pH within stomach) and soluble factors like lysosyme, interferons, acute-phase proteins and the complement system. The cellular components of innate immunity consist mainly of granulocytes, monocytes and macrophages, specialized cells capable of phagocytosis – ingestion of particles and whole microorganisms.

<u>Adaptive immunity</u> is able to specifically recognize and selectively eliminate foreign microorganisms and molecules. The adaptive immune response is induced only later during infection. Its main properties are specificity (capability of distinguishing even subtle differences among antigens), diversity (generation of a broad spectrum of recognition molecules), memory (second encounter with the same antigen induces a faster and stronger response) and self/nonself recognition (ability to respond only to foreign antigens and tolerate self-antigens). Adaptive immunity consists of two distinct components:

- Humoral response mediated by antibodies produced and secreted by B lymphocytes
- Cellular response mediated primarily by T lymphocytes

T lymphocytes are further divided into helper T cells (Th), cytotoxic T cells (Tc), suppressor T cells (Ts) and regulatory T cells (Tregs). Helper T cells express the CD4 coreceptor on their surface. They recognize foreign antigens presented by major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II molecules on the surface of professional antigen presenting cells (i.e. dendritic cells, B cells or macrophages). Upon activation, Th cells secrete a variety of cytokines and provide help to B cells and cytotoxic T cells leading to their full activation. B cells proliferate and mature into plasma cells producing huge amounts of antibodies. Cytotoxic T cells on the contrary express the CD8 coreceptor and recognize antigens presented by MHC class I molecules expressed on any nucleated cell within the body. Activation of Tc cells induces multiple mechanisms leading to an

apoptosis of the target cell. Ts and Treg cells regulate the activities and the activation status of other T cells.

Every immune cell originates from a pluripotent stem cell in bone marrow. The pluripotent stem cell differentiates initially into either a myeloid stem cell or a lymphoid stem cell, which then give rise to a committed progenitor for each type of immune cell. Immature lymphocytes then mature and become immunocompetent within the primary (central) immune organs – bone marrow (in the case of B cells) and thymus (in the case of T cells). A variety of secondary (peripheral) immune organs exist, which trap antigens in the periphery and provide sites where immunocompetent cells can interact effectively with these antigens. Such secondary immune organs are lymph nodes, spleen and mucosa-associated lymphatic tissues (MALT) within respiratory and gastrointestinal tracts.

# 1.1. T-cell development

Thymocyte development had been fairly well studied (Shortman and Wu, 1996; Sebzda et al., 1999). T-cell precursors develop, as mentioned above, in the bone marrow and then migrate to the thymus where they gain immunocompetence. First they receive survival and instructive signals to initiate the  $\alpha\beta$  T-cell developmental pathway. At this stage, they are called double negative (DN1) cells as they express neither the T-cell coreceptor CD4 nor CD8. Various DN stages exist, which are mainly characterized by the expression of CD44 and CD25, with DN1 being CD44<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup>, DN2 CD44<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>, DN3 CD44<sup>-</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> and DN4 CD44<sup>-</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup>. The cells then proceed to the DN2 and DN3 stage, for which Notch and interleukin-7 (IL-7) signals are required. The DN3 stage is where the first critical checkpoint takes place, the so called TCR (Tcell receptor)  $\beta$  selection checkpoint. Only cells that have productively rearranged the TCR  $\beta$ chain can develop further. This newly formed TCR  $\beta$  chain pairs with an invariant pre-TCR  $\alpha$ chain and this heterodimer is transported together with the CD3 and TCR $\zeta$  molecules to the plasma membrane. Here the pre-TCR provides survival signals that rescue the cell from apoptosis, initiate allelic exclusion and lead to cell cycle entry and proliferation. Thymocytes downregulate CD25 expression and upregulate expression of the coreceptors CD4 and CD8. Note that this signal is ligand independent as pre-TCR  $\alpha$  chain lacks any antigen binding site. T cells that are unable to generate a proper pre-TCR signal are arrested and die via apoptosis at the DN3 stage.

The DN thymocytes then proceed through the DN4 stage to the double positive (DP) stage, expressing both CD4 and CD8, where the second critical checkpoint occurs, TCR  $\alpha\beta$  selection. This stage requires that a properly rearranged TCR  $\alpha$  chain pairs with the previously expressed TCR  $\beta$  chain. As the rearrangements of gene segments are random and  $\alpha$  chains pair randomly with  $\beta$  chains, every T cell expresses a unique T-cell receptor with one specificity. The selection of functional TCR-bearing cells is very critical at this point. Therefore, newly formed TCR  $\alpha\beta$ heterodimers interact with self-peptides presented by MHC molecules expressed on stromal thymic epithelial cells. Each thymocyte will undergo one of three fates. The cells without a functional TCR are not able to generate a positively selecting signal and die by neglect. The cells with too strong interaction with self-peptides/MHC represent potentially autoreactive cells and are deleted via apoptosis (= negative selection). Only the cells with low affinity binding transduce the proper survival signal allowing their further development (= positive selection) (Starr et al., 2003). They selectively downregulate either CD4 or CD8 becoming single positive (SP) thymocytes and can migrate into the periphery. The mechanism responsible for CD4 versus CD8 lineage commitment is not fully clarified. The strength of the signal that these cells receive may play a role, however Notch signaling and Src family kinase Lck involved in the positive signal might also contribute.

However, thymic selection is not a perfect process and some T cells expressing self-reactive TCRs do escape into the periphery. Such cells would then recognize self-peptides, become activated and initiate immune reaction against self tissues leading to autoimmunity. To prevent the development and activation of these potentially destructive T cells, several mechanisms of peripheral tolerance have developed: activation-induced cell death (AICD), anergy, regulatory T cells (Tregs) and T-cell ignorance (Walker and Abbas, 2002).

# **1.2.** Peripheral T-cell tolerance

# 1.2.1. AICD (Activation-induced cell death) (van Parijs et al., 1998)

Activation-induced cell death is initiated by repeated activation of T cells with their cognate antigen and is accompanied by high interleukin-2 (IL-2) production and cell death. T cells undergoing AICD co-express Fas (CD95) and Fas ligand (FasL) and the consequent engagement of Fas delivers the death-inducing signal. Fas signaling seems to be the major pathway involved

in AICD-mediated peripheral tolerance as mice with defects in either Fas or FasL exhibit defects in AICD and develop a fatal lupus-like systemic autoimmune disease. A similar disease has also been observed in humans with mutations in the Fas protein (Poppema et al., 2004).

Note that AICD is a phenomenon distinct from a passive cell death occurring after inadequate stimulation or the depletion of growth factors. Passive cell death is not receptor mediated and is prevented by CD28 and IL-2 signals, well known survival factors inducing the expression of proteins of the Bcl family. On the contrary, CD28 or IL-2 signaling does not prevent Fas-mediated death, but rather potentiates it. The mechanism behind this is not well understood, but IL-2 is known to enhance the expression of FasL and may promote the association of various proteins with the cytoplasmic domain of Fas that constitute a functional death complex.

# 1.2.2. Anergy

Anergy is a cellular state in which a lymphocyte is alive but fails to display certain functional responses when optimally stimulated through both its antigen-specific receptor and any other receptors that are normally required for full activation (Schwartz, 1996). Thus, anergic cells are functionally inactivated and are characterized by a block in their ability to produce IL-2 and to proliferate upon subsequent challenge with Ag presented on a mature antigen-presenting cell (APC) (i.e. with full costimulation) (Jenkins et al., 1987). Anergy is not an intermediate step to cell death, but rather persists for a prolonged time. TCR ligand is both necessary and sufficient to induce anergy (Quill and Schwartz, 1987).

# 1.2.2.1. Models of anergy

There are several different approaches that have been used to generate anergic T cells (reviewed in Schwartz, 1996; Lechler et al., 2001; Macian et al., 2004). Traditionally, anergy is induced by TCR occupancy in the absence of positive costimulation (i.e. CD28) or on the contrary in the presence of inhibitory costimulation (i.e. via CTLA4) (Greenwald et al., 2001). Also addition of IL-10 into a mixed lymphocyte reaction renders T cells anergic (Groux et al., 1996). Alternatively, anergy can be induced by using altered peptide ligands (Sloan-Lancaster et al., 1993) or in the presence of high concentrations of soluble peptides (O'Hehir et al., 1991; LaSalle and Hafler, 1994). Also immature dendritic cells proved to be a potent tolerogenic agent since they express only moderate levels of MHC class II and almost no costimulatory molecules

(Kubsch et al., 2003; Steinbrink et al., 2002). Anergic cells generated with these models possess different degree of unresponsiveness, which usually results from defective Ras signaling and blocked cytokine production (see below). Here I shall describe two commonly used anergy models – anergy induction in the absence of costimulation and the ionomycin-induced anergy.

# a) Anergy induced by TCR occupancy in the absence of costimulation

The two-signal model proposes that a T cell requires both antigen recognition via the T-cell receptor and an additional costimulatory signal via CD28 or another costimulatory molecule (Bretscher and Cohn, 1970). TCR engagement alone in the absence of costimulation is insufficient to provide a stimulatory signal and to induce IL-2 production, but instead results in long lasting anergy, i.e. the cells fail to proliferate when restimulated with normal APC and antigen (Schwartz, 2003). Several models have been demonstrated to induce this type of anergy antigen presentation on chemically fixed APCs, CD3 crosslinking with immobilized antibodies, purified MHC complexes with peptide (Jenkins and Schwartz, 1987; Jenkins et al., 1990; Wolf et al., 1994; Quill and Schwartz, 1987). The defect in proliferation is caused by a block in IL-2 production (Jenkins et al., 1987). Beside IL-2, anergic cells also possess reduced production of IL-3, IFN $\gamma$  (interferon  $\gamma$ ) and GM-CSF (granulocyte and monocyte-colony stimulating factor), whereas IL-4 secretion is unaffected (Jenkins et al., 1987; Trenn et al., 1992; Beverly et al., 1992). Interestingly, anergic cells are unable to proliferate to IL-4 (Chiodetti and Schwartz, 1992) or IL-12 (Quill et al., 1994) mediated signals. Additionally, anergic CD4<sup>+</sup> cells cannot provide help to B cells due to their impaired expression of CD40 ligand (Bowen et al., 1995). Anergic CD8<sup>+</sup> cells have a block in IL-2 production, but not in TCR-dependent cytotoxicity (Otten and Germain, 1991).

**Costimulation.** When fully stimulated, naïve T cells produce high amounts of IL-2. However, if only the TCR is triggered without costimulation, the amount of produced IL-2 is low and the cells enter an anergic state. Costimulation given up to 2 hours after TCR triggering is still sufficient to block the induction of anergy (Jenkins et al., 1988; Harding et al., 1992). Thus, costimulation provides not only the second signal needed for proliferation, but it also delivers signals that prevent anergy induction. This "second signal" pathway either prevents the production of the molecular inhibitors responsible for anergy, or the large amount of IL-2 produced upon costimulation prevents the expression of the inhibitors through an IL-2R signaling pathway. Alternatively, the inhibitor may be diluted out after multiple rounds of division that are

induced by IL-2. Costimulation via CD28 causes activation of PI3K (phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase) (Prasad et al., 1994), followed by the activation of JNK (c-Jun N-terminal kinase) (Saez-Rodriguez et al., 2007), which together with MAPKs (mitogen-activated protein kinases) activated by the TCR induces activation of the transcription factor AP-1 and augments IL-2 gene transcription (Su et al., 1994). Additionally, CD28 signaling increases the stability of IL-2 mRNA (Lindsten et al., 1989).

In summary, costimulation is critically important for the decision of the immune system to make a response or not (Janeway, 1992; Matzinger, 1994). Importantly, costimulatory receptors are upregulated during inflammation, infection and under other pathological conditions, therefore sensing their expression levels seems to be an ideal mechanism that enables T cells to make the decision between "non-infectious self" and "infectious non-self" (Medzhitov and Janeway, 2000).

Anergy reversal. The anergic state can be reversed by stimulation with exogenous IL-2 (Beverly et al., 1992). The reversal was demonstrated both on the level of cytokine production (Beverly et al., 1992) and by transcriptional activation of the IL-2 gene (Kang et al., 1992). This IL-2 responsiveness demonstrates that anergic cells are partially activated, in that they express a high-affinity IL-2 receptor upon their surface, and also confirms that it is indeed an unresponsive state instead of non-viability (Macian et al., 2004). The block in anergic cells can be also overcome by stimulation with phorbol ester plus ionomycin (Schwartz, 2003).

# b) Ionomycin-induced anergy

In this model, anergy is induced simply by treating T cells with the calcium ionophore ionomycin (Jenkins et al., 1987; Trenn et al., 1992). This causes an influx of calcium without inducing diacylglycerol and thereby leads to the activation of the transcription factor NFAT (nuclear factor of activated T cells) without activating either AP-1 or NFκB. The selective activation of the calcium/NFAT pathway alone resembles the processes occurring in the previous model induced by TCR triggering without costimulation (see also 1.2.2.3.). Activation of NFAT alone leads to the transcription of a new set of genes believed to be responsible for the unresponsive state (Macian et al., 2002; Im and Rao, 2004). Since the ionomycin-induced anergy mimics the characteristics of anergy induced by TCR triggering alone, the ionomycin model is considered to be very similar to the one induced in the absence of costimulation (Jenkins et al., 1987).

# 1.2.2.2. Clinical applications of anergy

Establishing anergy is of particular interest in the treatment of patients with autoimmunity and after transplantation, as specific tolerance to self-antigen is desired without inducing total immunosuppression. Systemic or mucosal administration of antigens or altered peptide ligands causes TCR stimulation in the absence of costimulation. Tolerance induction depends upon the route of administration and the dose and form of the antigen. Soluble peptide:MHC complexes have been used to induce anergy in autoreactive CD4<sup>+</sup> cells of diabetic mice (Casares et al., 2002). In bone marrow transplantation, blockade of CD28-B7 costimulation by CTLA4-Ig induces long-lasting tolerance and extended graft survival (Wekerle et al., 2002).

Genetically modified DCs have also been used to treat allograft rejection and autoimmune diseases (Morel et al., 2003). Thus, tolerogenic DCs were effective in modulating long-term allograft survival (Guillot et al., 2003) and preventing autoimmune diabetes (Feili-Hariri et al., 2003), multiple sclerosis (Menges et al., 2002), myasthenia gravis (Yarilin et al., 2002) and collagen-induced arthritis (Morita et al., 2001).

# 1.2.2.3. Biochemical characteristics of anergic cells

Here I shall focus on anergy induced in the absence of costimulation, one of the most well studied and best characterized types of anergy. When describing changes within anergic cells though, one should distinguish between the induction of anergy and its maintenance.

Anergy induction. Calcium signaling was shown to be critical for anergy induction (Jenkins et al., 1987; Jenkins et al., 1990). CD28 signaling influences only the pathways of TCR signaling that do not induce calcium flux, thus the lack of CD28 costimulation causes an unbalanced signaling in which the calcium signal predominates (Macian et al., 2002). Anergic cells have been shown to possess increased levels of intracellular calcium (Gajewski et al., 1994; Gajewski et al., 1995). Calcium signaling results in the activation of NFAT, which normally cooperates with AP-1 to induce the expression of genes required for full activation (Hogan et al., 2003). Activation of NFAT alone without other transcription factors, however, leads to the transcription of a completely different set of genes encoding proteins that could function as negative regulators of TCR signaling (Macian et al., 2002; Im and Rao, 2004). Such proteins include phosphatases, proteases and transcriptional repressors. The RNA expression of anergy-associated genes was investigated by the group of Jan Buer using gene array analysis (Lechner et al., 2001).

Interestingly, fusing anergic and non-anergic T cells maintains the anergic phenotype, meaning that anergic T cells indeed express proteins that dominantly suppress TCR activation (Telander et al., 1999).

**Maintenance of anergy.** There are many factors believed to be important for the maintenance of the anergic state. These factors are upregulated during anergy induction and might be responsible for both inducing and also maintaining the unresponsive state. Some mechanisms interfering with the proper signal progression are found already at the membrane proximal level, i.e. at the level of Src kinases and LAT (Linker for activation of T cells). The Src family kinase Fyn has been implicated in anergy, as Fyn was shown to be upregulated in anergic cells both on the protein level (Quill et al., 1992; Welke and Zavazava, 2002) and in its kinase activity (Gajewski et al., 1994; Gajewski et al., 1995). Additionally, the CD4-Lck complex appears to be displaced from lipid rafts in cells anergized by dimeric peptide:MHC molecules and consequently the recruitment and phosphorylation of ZAP70 is reduced (Thomas et al., 2003). Recently, impaired palmitoylation of the adaptor protein LAT has been observed, leading to defective LAT localization within plasma membrane and its impaired phosphorylation (Hundt et al., 2006). A reduction in ZAP70 and LAT phosphorylation was also shown using *in vivo* anergized transgenic T cells (Utting et al., 2000).

Another mechanism hindering the activation of anergic cells is based on the regulation of IL-2 promotor transcriptional activity. A hallmark of anergic cells is the block in Ras activation (Fields et al., 1996; Rapoport et al., 1993). This leads to a decrease in the activities of ERK and JNK (Li et al., 1996) and consequently to a failure to activate AP-1 (Kang et al., 1992), a transcription factor critical for IL-2 production. Additionally, increased expression of Nil-2a, a negative regulator of AP-1 transactivation, was observed (Becker et al., 1995). Anergic cells also overexpress Tob, a protein enhancing the binding of Smad proteins to the negative regulatory element in the IL-2 promoter (Tzachanis et al., 2001). Additionally, the CREB/CREM (cAMP response element binding protein/cAMP responsive element modulator) repressor complexes bind to the IL-2 promoter in anergic cells (Powell et al., 1999).

Three E3 ubiquitin ligases were also shown to be upregulated in anergic cells – GRAIL (gene related to anergy in lymphocytes), Itch and Cbl-b that specifically ubiquitinate and degrade important signaling proteins like PLC $\gamma$ 1 (phospholipase C gamma 1) and PKC $\theta$  (protein kinase C theta) (Anandasabapathy et al., 2003; Heissmeyer et al., 2004). Interestingly, T cells from Itch-

and Cbl-b-deficient mice are resistant to anergy induction (Heissmeyer et al., 2004; Jeon et al., 2004).

Another key feature of anergic cells is the lack of proliferation caused by a block in the cell cycle progression at the G1 to S stage transition (Gilbert et al., 1992). To this end, increased expression of p27kip1 and p21cip1 were found and these inhibitors of the cyclin-dependent kinases (Cdk) were proposed to promote cell cycle arrest at the G1 phase (Boussiotis et al., 2000; Jackson et al., 2001). Surprisingly, anergy still can be induced in p27kip1 and p21cip1 deficient cells (Verdoodt et al., 2003). However, when p27kip1 lacking the Cdk-binding domain is expressed in murine T cells, these cells proliferate under tolerizing conditions suggesting that intact p27kip1 is indeed required for anergy induction (Li et al., 2006).

# 1.2.3. Regulatory T cells (Tregs) (reviewed in Jonuleit and Schmitt, 2003)

Regulatory T cells are a specific population of T cells with suppressive properties. Two different subsets of Tregs can be distinguished based upon their suppressive mechanisms. Naturally occurring CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> Tregs were suggested to exert their regulatory activities probably via cell-cell contact, although the membrane molecules responsible have not yet been fully identified. CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells are hyporesponsive to TCR stimulation, but they remain responsive to IL-2. However, they need to be activated through their TCR in order to suppress the proliferation of conventional CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup> cells. Once activated, their suppressive ability is nonspecific to the antigen, meaning that suppression is independent of antigen specificity of the responding population. The exact mechanism of their suppressive effects is not clear, but it results in the inhibition of IL-2 transcription.

The second subset consists of Th3 and Tr1 cells, which develop from conventional  $CD4^+CD25^-$  cells in the periphery and represent altered states of differentiation rather than a unique cell lineage. Their suppressory properties are independent of cell contact and thus are mediated via soluble suppressive cytokines. Tr1 cells were found to produce large amounts of IL-10, whereas Th3 cells preferentially secrete TGF- $\beta$ .

## **1.2.4. T-cell ignorance**

Self-reactive T cells can exist in the periphery if their antigen is sequestered from them or is not presented in its immunogenic form. In this case, these autoreactive T cells persist in the periphery without meeting their cognate antigen and thereby not becoming activated (Walker and Abbas, 2002). Additionally, there are specialized organs that are immunologically privileged, e.g. the brain, eyes, testes and ovaria. These organs must be protected from the consequences of inflammatory damage, which would destroy the microanatomical structure of these organs (Streilein, 1996). Therefore, these organs possess mechanisms to attenuate both the innate and adaptive immune response, e.g. the presence of blood-tissue barriers, reduced migration of dendritic cells due to limited number of draining lymphatic vessels, production of immunosuppressive and anti-inflammatory cytokines like TGF- $\beta$  and expression of death inducing molecules like FasL (Chen et al., 1998; Griffith et al., 1995).

# **1.3. Ras proteins**

Ras proteins are members of the guanine nucleotide binding protein superfamily. They are highly conserved, ubiquitously expressed and play an important role in signaling pathways activating transcription factors involved in cytokine gene induction in lymphocytes (Downward et al., 1990). Ras is activated in a rapid and sustained manner by the TCR, but also by some cytokines, mainly IL-2, IL-3 and GM-CSF (Satoh et al., 1991; Graves et al., 1992). Ras was originally identified as a proto-oncogene and its mutated forms are found in many human tumors (Bos, 1989). These mutations usually confer resistance to the GTPase-activating proteins or decrease GTP hydrolysis. Additionally, Ras is essential for thymocyte development, as it mediates some of the pre-TCR signals during  $\beta$  selection and is required for positive selection of thymocytes (Swat et al., 1996; Alberola-IIa et al., 1996).

# 1.3.1. Ras structure and localization

There are three main isoforms of Ras expressed in humans – N-Ras, K-Ras and H-Ras. They are highly homologous, with conserved effector-binding domains, but distinct hypervariable regions constituting the last 23 amino acids, which may be responsible for their distinct localization. Ras proteins contain a CAAX box at their C-terminus, which becomes isoprenylated upon the cysteine residue, the last three amino acids are cleaved off and consequently the new C-terminal cysteine is methylated (Hancock et al., 1989). Isoprenylation is essential for their biological activity as it anchors Ras to the membrane (Willumsen et al., 1984; Hancock et al., 1989). Additionally, H- and N-Ras proteins can be palmitoylated on cysteines adjacent to the

CAAX box (Hancock et al., 1989) and this is presumably responsible for their targeting into lipid rafts. Whereas K-Ras is constitutively located outside of lipid rafts, H-Ras can shuffle laterally within the membrane depending upon its activation state (Prior et al., 2001). Inactive H-Ras sits in lipid rafts, however the activation of H-Ras redistributes it from the lipid rafts into the non-raft membrane by a mechanism requiring its hypervariable region. This redistribution is necessary for the proper activation of H-Ras and interaction with its effectors (Prior et al., 2001).

# 1.3.2. Ras regulation

Ras exists in one of two forms – either a GDP-bound form that is catalytically inactive or a GTP-bound form, which is active and interacts with its downstream effectors. Ras is able to rapidly cycle between these two forms and this cycling is controlled by the balanced activities of two groups of proteins. Guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs) promote the transition from the inactive GDP-bound form to the active GTP-bound state. This activity is opposed by GTPase-activating proteins (GAPs), which stimulate the intrinsic Ras GTPase activity resulting in hydrolysis of bound GTP to GDP thereby inactivating the protein (see **Figure 1.1.**). Note that in lymphocytes, there are relatively high basal levels of nucleotide exchange onto Ras (Genot and Cantrell, 2000). Importantly, there has been a discrepancy whether Ras activation and signaling occurs at the plasma membrane or rather upon endomembranes of the Golgi apparatus (Perez de



(guanine-nucleotide exchange factors)

**Figure 1.1. Regulation of Ras.** Inactive Ras (Ras-GDP) is located in lipid rafts where it is loaded with GTP by GEFs and consequently moves out of lipid rafts. Its GTPase activity is enhanced by GAPs thereby inactivating the protein.

Castro et al., 2004; Rocks et al., 2005). However, a recent approach has enabled visualization of endogenous Ras and has illustrated preferential Ras activation at the plasma membrane (Augsten et al., 2006).

# **1.3.3. RasGEFs (Ras guanine-nucleotide exchange factors)**

There are two RasGEFs known in T cells, Sos (son of sevenless) and RasGRP. Sos forms a complex with the SH3 (Src homology 3) domains of the cytosolic adaptor protein Grb2 (growth factor receptor-bound protein 2) (Cheng et al., 1998). Upon TCR triggering, Grb2 binds to phosphorylated LAT, bringing Sos to the plasma membrane, thereby inducing Ras activation (Zhang et al., 2000). The other GEF, RasGRP, contains a diacylglycerol/phorbol-ester binding C1 domain (O'Ebinu et al., 1998; Tognon et al., 1998). TCR stimulation induces tyrosine phosphorylation of LAT and recruitment and activation of PLCy1, which hydrolysis phosphoinositide-4,5-bisphosphate (PIP<sub>2</sub>) to produce inositol-1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>) and diacylglycerol (DAG) (see 1.4.3.). DAG, in turn, is bound by the C1 domain of RasGRP recruiting it to the plasma membrane. However, the contribution of each GEF pathway to Ras activation is not clear. On one hand, the PLC $\gamma$ 1-mediated pathway was found to be required for Ras activation in Jurkat T cells (Yablonski et al., 1998), while on the other hand, experiments with peripheral blood T cells showed Ras activation even in the absence of PLCy1 activity and DAG production (Izquierdo et al., 1992). Thus, knocking down one or the other GEF directly in primary T cells should help to resolve this issue of Ras activation and this approach is currently being performed in our institute by Dr. Luca Simeoni.

# **1.3.4.** RasGAPs (Ras GTPase-activating proteins)

The ever-growing family of RasGAPs contains 14 members in human so far. The best characterized RasGAPs in T cells are p120RasGAP, Neurofibromin 1 (NF1) and CAPRI. All of them are ubiquitously expressed. CAPRI contains tandem C2 domains, which recruit the protein to the plasma membrane in a calcium dependent manner and thereby CAPRI switches off the Ras pathway following elevated calcium levels (Lockyer et al., 2001). NF1 was originally identified as the protein mutated in patients with neurofibromatosis (Bernards, 1995). It seems that beside Ras regulation, NF1 may also link Ras signaling to tubulin as NF1 was found to interact with microtubules and tubulin (Bollag et al., 1993; Xu and Gutmann, 1997).

p120RasGAP contains two SH2 (Src homology 2) domains and one SH3 domain that mediate its association with other proteins and additionally a PH (pleckstrin homology) and C2 domain (protein kinase C conserved region 2 domain) that are responsible for binding to membrane phospholipids. The central region of the C2 domain is known as a CaLB domain (calcium and lipid binding domain). The CaLB domain interacts with the calcium-dependent phospholipidbinding protein annexin VI in response to increased intracellular calcium and thus may increase p120RasGAP association with the plasma membrane in the presence of elevated calcium (Chow et al., 1999). p120RasGAP was shown to interact with the phosphorylated adaptors p62dok (downstream of kinase) (Yamanashi and Baltimore, 1997) and Sam68 (Src-associated in mitosis) (Guitard et al., 1998; Jabado et al., 1998) upon T-cell stimulation and these interactions are supposed to regulate GAP activity either by changing its conformation or by recruiting GAP to the appropriate location. Furthermore, p120RasGAP associates with p190RhoGAP and thereby contributes to the coordinated downregulation of both Ras and Rho GTPases. Additionally, the function of p120RasGAP may be also regulated through its tyrosine phosphorylation and binding to the Src family kinase Lck (Amrein et al, 1992). Interestingly, mice deficient for p120RasGAP die in utero by embryonic day 10 due to defects in vascular and neuronal development, indicating the importance of proper Ras regulation during embryogenesis (Henkemeyer et al., 1995).

Although a downregulation of RasGAP activity has long been observed upon TCR stimulation (Downward et al., 1990; Izquierdo et al., 1992), the molecular details of antigen receptor-mediated GAP regulation are not understood. Additionally, the contribution of GAP regulation to the overall Ras equilibrium has also been ignored for the past few years (Genot and Cantrell, 2000; Cantrell, 2003).

#### 1.3.5. Ras effectors

The best characterized Ras effector pathway is the MAPK (mitogen-activated protein kinase) pathway - Ras-Raf1-ERK cascade (Marshall, 1994). GTP-bound Ras recruits the serine/threonine kinase Raf-1 to the membrane, where Raf becomes activated and in turn phosphorylates Mek, which in turn phosphorylates and activates both ERK1 and ERK2. The main substrate for ERK is the transcription factor Elk-1, which regulates the SRF (serum response factor) controlling c-Fos and Egr expression (Marshall, 1994; Turner and Cantrell, 1997). The Ras-ERK pathway also controls serine phosphorylation of STAT3 (signal transducer and activator of transcription), thus

forming a link between the antigen receptor and the cytokine signaling pathways (Ng and Cantrell, 1997). Additionally, a direct association between Ras and PI3K leading to PI3K activation was observed (Rodriguez-Viciana et al., 1994; Rubio et al., 1997), however the evidence of such an interaction and its physiological role in T cells is obscure.

# 1.4. T-cell signaling

# 1.4.1. T-cell receptor (TCR)

Peptide/MHC complexes bind to the variable regions within the extracellular portion of the Tcell receptor. During thymocyte development, the genes encoding the variable region of the Tcell receptor undergo somatic recombination resulting in a unique random combination of gene segments. This ensures that each T cell has a unique TCR specificity. Note that all of the TCRs within one T cell possess a single specificity. The T-cell receptor exists as a multisubunit complex consisting of one  $\alpha$  and one  $\beta$  chain, which form the antigen binding subunit that is capable of specific recognition of peptide/MHC. However, these chains are themselves not able to transmit this signal. Instead, additional immunoreceptor associated signal-transducing proteins are required to perpetuate the signal. Therefore, the  $\alpha\beta$  heterodimer noncovalently associates with CD3 subunits, namely one heterodimer consisting of  $\gamma$  and  $\varepsilon$  and the other of  $\delta$  and  $\varepsilon$  chain. Additionally, two  $\zeta$  chains pair with the TCR (Weissman, 1994). All of these proteins possess specialized signaling motifs called immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs (ITAMs), which are dually phosphorylated by a member of the Src family of protein tyrosine kinases, namely Lck. The ITAM sequence is D/ExYxxL(x)<sub>n</sub>YxxL where n is between 6 and 8 amino acids (Reth et al., 1989). The spacing between tyrosines is believed to be crucial for signaling. CD3- $\gamma$ , - $\delta$  and - $\varepsilon$  chains each contain one ITAM, whereas the TCR- $\zeta$  chains each contain three of them (Cambier, 1995). Thus the TCR possesses 10 ITAMs in total. Both tyrosines within the ITAM are phosphorylated and serve as binding sites for proteins containing tandem SH2 domains, mainly ZAP70, a member of the Syk family protein tyrosine kinases. The six tyrosines within TCR- $\zeta$  chain are sequentially phosphorylated in a highly ordered manner and their complete phosphorylation is dependent upon the strength of TCR occupancy (Kersh et al., 1998). Interestingly, since T cells constantly encounter self-peptide/MHC complexes in the periphery, there is a low level signaling (so called tonic signaling) within T cells, which induces constitutive basal phosphorylation of TCR- $\zeta$  chains even in resting state (Pitcher et al., 2003). This

phosphorylation is believed to be mediated by a pool of Fyn kinase constitutively associated with the TCR complex (Samelson et al., 1990; Timson Gauen et al., 1992).

Interestingly, resting T cells were shown to express a mixture of monovalent and multivalent TCR complexes upon the membrane, having two or more (up to 20)  $\alpha\beta$  ligand-binding subunits (Schamel et al., 2005). This observation seems to provide an answer as to how the T cell maintains high sensitivity and specificity of interaction with pMHC despite low-affinity binding of TCR-pMHC. At low concentrations of pMHC, only the multivalent complexes become phosphorylated, whereas the monovalent receptors are phosphorylated only when the antigen concentration increases. Thus, the multivalent complexes may be responsible for sensing low antigen doses, where they can augment the sensitivity to antigen by increasing the avidity or by spreading the signal through cooperative interactions between different receptors. On the contrary, the monovalent receptors may be responsible for producing the concentration dependent response even at high antigen doses, when the multivalent complexes might be saturated (Schamel et al., 2005). Recently, it has been shown that full TCR activation requires both receptor clustering and conformational changes at CD3 that are mediated by cooperative rearrangements of two TCR-CD3 complexes (Minguet et al., 2007).

# 1.4.2. Lipid rafts

Lipid rafts are also called glycosphingolipid-enriched membrane microdomains (GEMs) and were originally described as detergent-resistant membranes (DRMs). Lipid rafts are islets within the plasma membrane enriched in glycosphingolipids, sphingomyelin and cholesterol (Brown and London, 1998) and have been found in most cell types studied. Because of the high content of cholesterol and lipids with saturated acyl chains, lipid rafts form a specific ordered liquid phase separated from the less-ordered bulk membrane (Schroeder et al., 1998). This ensures their relative resistance to solubilization by some types of detergents (e.g. Brij 58, Triton X-100, NP-40) and enables their isolation by sucrose density gradient ultracentrifugation (Brown and Rose, 1992).

The lipid raft-associated components on the extracellular side of the membrane are anchored to the outer membrane leaflet via a glycosylphosphatidylinositol anchor. The cytoplasmic side of lipid rafts is associated mainly with heterotrimeric G proteins, Src family kinases and some transmembrane adaptor proteins. The signal responsible for targeting proteins into the lipid rafts is believed to be fatty acid modification of the protein, mainly acylation with long saturated fatty acids, e.g. myristoylation and/or palmitoylation (Melkonian et al., 1999). Whereas myristoylation occurs co-translationally, palmitoylation is a post-translational event. Palmitoylation is also a reversible process and may occur at any time during a life span of the proteins. This enables that certain proteins can be targeted into the lipid rafts once they are required for the signaling and moved out again (i.e. depalmitoylated) when they are no longer needed. Indeed, the initiation of TCR signaling is accompanied by the aggregation of lipid rafts and the lateral recruitment of the T-cell receptor components towards these aggregates (Xavier et al., 1998; Janes et al., 1999; Kosugi et al., 1999). Merging of the immunoreceptor complexes with the lipid rafts brings the TCR chains closer to the raft-associated Src family kinases and enables phosphorylation of their ITAMs and the initiation of the signaling. Furthermore, the critical adaptor protein LAT is also localized in lipid rafts (Zhang et al., 1998). Therefore, lipid rafts seem to act as signalosomes important for both the initiation and spatial organization of immunoreceptor signaling. However, the exact role and requirement of lipid rafts for TCR signaling is still a lively discussed question.

# 1.4.3. T-cell signaling pathways (see Figure 1.2.)

The signaling pathways activated upon triggering of the T-cell receptor have been extensively studied and are reviewed in many publications (Cantrell, 1996; van Leeuwen and Samelson, 1999; Kane et al., 2000; Samelson, 2002; Cantrell, 2002). Lymphocyte activation is initiated by the T-cell receptor encountering its antigen presented in complex with an MHC molecule. This in turn leads to the activation of Src family kinases, however the exact mechanism as to how Src kinases are activated is not well understood. The current model proposes that a subpopulation of Lck constitutively associated with the coreceptor CD4/CD8 becomes activated upon coreceptor dimerization (Moldovan et al., 2002). These activated Lck molecules then phosphorylate the tandem tyrosine residues of the ITAMs located within the cytoplasmic tail of the CD3 molecules and the zeta chains. Phosphorylated ITAMs provide docking sites for the tandem SH2 domains of the Syk family kinase ZAP70, which is thereby recruited to the plasma membrane and itself becomes activated via phosphorylates to achieve full activation. The main substrate for ZAP70 is the transmembrane adaptor protein LAT (Zhang et al, 1998), which functions as a signaling scaffold for the Grb2/Sos complex and the Ca<sup>2+</sup>-initiation complex. When phosphorylated, LAT

recruits several key signaling molecules containing SH2 domains, such as Grb2, Gads (Grb2related adaptor downstream of Shc) and PLC $\gamma$ 1 (Zhang et al., 2000). The SH2 domain of Grb2 and Gads is flanked by two additional SH3 domains and these adaptors can thus recruit additional signaling molecules to LAT. Grb2 binds the guanine nucleotide exchange factor Sos, which then contributes to activation of the GTPase Ras. Gads is constitutively associated with SLP-76 (SH2 domain containing leukocyte protein of 76 kDa), which when phosphorylated binds the SH2 domain of the Tec-family tyrosine kinase Itk. Itk then phosphorylates PLC $\gamma$ 1 leading to its activation. Activated PLC $\gamma$ 1 cleaves membrane phosphoinositide-4,5-bisphosphate (PIP<sub>2</sub>) to produce the second messengers IP<sub>3</sub> and diacylglycerol.

 $IP_3$  causes the mobilization of  $Ca^{2+}$  from intracellular stores into the cytoplasm, where it binds to the calcium-binding protein calmodulin. Calmodulin in turn activates calcineurin, which dephosphorylates the transcription factor NFAT. Upon dephosphorylation, NFAT moves into the nucleus to initiate the transcription of specific genes.



**Figure 1.2. T-cell receptor signaling pathways.** A scheme of the main signaling pathways activated upon TCR triggering is presented. See 1.4.3. for further details.

Diacylglycerol activates conventional and novel protein kinase C (PKC) isotypes and the guanine nucleotide exchange factor RasGRP. Among the PKC isoforms, PKC theta is of special interest, as it is required for activation of the transcription factor NF-kB. Additionally, PKC theta phosphorylates RasGRP, thereby further enhancing RasGRP activation (Roose et al., 2005). The function of RasGRP appears to be the same as that of the Grb2/Sos complex, namely the activation of the Ras/MAPK pathway leading to the activation of a transcription factor AP-1. At present, it is unclear whether Grb/Sos or the RasGRP pathway is the main contributor to Ras activation.

The Tec-kinase Itk also phosphorylates LAT resulting in the recruitment of the guanine nucleotide exchange factor Vav both to SLP-76 (Wu et al., 1996; Tuosto et al., 1996) and directly to LAT (Perez-Villar et al., 2002). Vav then activates small G-proteins of the Rho family, i.e. Cdc42 and Rac, required for the activation of WASP (Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein) and cytoskeletal reorganization (Crespo et al., 1997; Fischer et al., 1998). Additionally, SLP-76 binds the ADAP (Adhesion and degranulation promoting adaptor protein)/SKAP55 (Src kinase associated phosphoprotein of 55 kDa) complex, which then becomes phosphorylated by Fyn. The ADAP/SKAP55 module then recruits GTPase Rap1 to the membrane, thereby increasing integrin affinity, inducing integrin clustering and integrin-mediated adhesion further stabilizing conjugate formation between the T cell and the antigen-presenting cell (Griffiths et al., 2001; Peterson et al., 2001; Kliche et al., 2006), leading to formation of the immune synapse.

# 1.5. Adaptor proteins

Adaptors are proteins that lack both enzymatic and transcriptional activities. Instead, they participate in the regulation of lymphocyte activation by mediating constitutive and/or inducible protein-protein or protein-lipid interactions via their modular interaction domains. The role of adaptor proteins in lymphocyte signaling has been extensively reviewed (Leo et al., 2002; Horejsi et al., 2004; Togni et al., 2004; Simeoni et al., 2005). Adaptors can be divided into two main groups: transmembrane adaptor proteins (TRAPs) and cytosolic adaptor proteins (CAPs). Upon TCR triggering, CAPs are recruited from the cytosol to the plasma membrane where they bind via their modular domains to other critical signaling molecules like receptors, adaptors and enzymes and thereby enable the formation of the various multiprotein complexes that are required for signal transduction (see 1.4.3.).

# 1.5.1. Transmembrane adaptor proteins (TRAPs)

TRAPs are integral membrane proteins possessing a short extracellular domain, which does not bind ligand. Their transmembrane domain is followed by a long cytoplasmic tail that lacks any modular protein-protein interaction domains, but contains proline rich regions and/or multiple tyrosine based signaling motifs (TBSMs). The TBSM is a short peptide sequence containing a core tyrosine residue (YxxV/L/I). These residues become phosphorylated by Src and/or Syk family protein tyrosine kinases after antigen receptor triggering and provide binding sites for the SH2 and PTB domains of intracellular signaling and effector molecules, with the binding specificity being determined by the amino acids surrounding the core tyrosine residue. By recruiting these proteins to the plasma membrane, transmembrane adaptors allow the nucleation and formation of membrane associated signaling scaffolds required for the propagation of receptor-mediated signals into the intracellular compartment. Notably, TRAPs recently been suggested as potential diagnostic/prognostic have also markers in hematopathological studies for their distinct expression patterns in different types of human



**Figure 1.3. Overview of known TRAPs** (with their MW). Structure, localization, known interacting partners and the main function for each adaptor are shown. Arrows show known binding sites for the proteins. Binding sites within LAX are unidentified yet.

lymphoid neoplasms (Tedoldi et al., 2006).

So far, seven transmembrane adaptor proteins have been identified – LAT, the T-cell receptor interacting molecule (TRIM), SHP-2 interacting transmembrane adaptor protein (SIT), the phosphoprotein associated with glycosphingolipid-enriched microdomains (PAG) also called the Csk-binding protein (Cbp), the non-T cell activation linker (NTAL) also called the Linker for activation of B cells (LAB), the Lck-interacting molecule (LIME), and the Linker for activation of X cells (LAX) (see **Figure 1.3.**).

The TRAPs can be further subdivided into two groups: the TRAPs associated with lipid rafts, which include LAT, PAG, NTAL and LIME, and the TRAPs localized outside of lipid rafts – SIT, TRIM and LAX. The raft-associated TRAPs are monomeric type III transmembrane proteins that possess a palmitoylation motif CxxC juxtaposed to the transmembrane region. This motif becomes palmitoylated and is believed to be responsible for the targeting of these proteins into lipid rafts. The non-raft TRAPs are either monomeric (LAX) or disulfide-linked homodimers (SIT and TRIM) (see **Figure 1.3.**).

# **1.6.** PAG (Phosphoprotein associated with glycosphingolipid-enriched microdomains; also called Csk-binding protein, Cbp) [hereafter referred to as PAG]

#### 1.6.1. Structure and expression of PAG

The adaptor protein PAG is unique among the transmembrane adaptor proteins as it is expressed ubiquitously rather than being restricted to only hematopoietic cells, suggesting a more general function in the regulation of cell activation and differentiation. PAG is strongly expressed in lymphocytes and monocytes and weakly in neutrophils, but the expression of PAG-encoding mRNA was found in almost all tissues examined, with the highest levels in the immune system, developing brain, lung, heart, testis and placenta (Brdicka et al., 2000; Kawabuchi et al., 2000).

PAG is a type III transmembrane protein, meaning that its initial methionine is not followed by a typical signal sequence, but rather the N-proximal amino acids regulate its insertion into the membrane during protein synthesis (Brdicka et al., 2000). PAG consists of a short extracellular domain (16 amino acids), a single membrane-spanning hydrophobic domain (20 amino acids) and a long cytoplasmic tail, in total having 432 amino acids in humans (429 in mouse and 425 in rat). The extracellular part appears to lack any external ligand and no functional significance has been shown so far.

PAG predominantly localizes to the plasma membrane, namely into the lipid rafts or GEMs (Brdicka et al., 2000; Kawabuchi et al., 2000). Its cytoplasmic domain contains a dicysteine motif CSSC juxtaposed to the transmembrane region. This motif was shown to be palmitoylated and this is believed to be responsible for targeting PAG into the lipid rafts. The exact role of this motif and its importance for PAG function is the thesis topic of another PhD student in the lab, Anita Posevitz-Fejfar (Posevitz-Fejfar et al., 2007).

The cytoplasmic tail of PAG contains ten tyrosines, nine of which are found within so called tyrosine-based signaling motifs. These are potential phosphorylation sites for Src kinases and thus potential binding sites for PTB or SH2 domain-containing proteins. Six of them are arranged into three ITAM-like motifs, but with a longer spacing between the tyrosines. *In vitro* GST-SH2 pull-down assays revealed that phosphorylated PAG is capable of binding the tandem SH2 domains of ZAP70 and Syk as well as the SH2 domains of Lck, Fyn, Lyn, Csk, Shc, Vav, RasGAP and PI3K (Brdicka et al., 2000; Durrheim et al., 2001). Additionally, the cytoplasmic domain contains multiple Ser and Thr residues (12 serines and 10 threonines) that are potential sites of phosphorylation by casein kinase 2 and protein kinase B and C. Furthermore, PAG contains two proline rich regions that may bind SH3 domain-containing proteins. The overall acidic nature of PAG and its multiple sites of phosphorylation result in an anomalous binding of SDS and retarded migration on SDS-PAGE leading to an apparent molecular mass of 70 – 85 kDa rather than predicted MW of 47 kDa (Brdicka et al., 2000; Kawabuchi et al., 2000).

# 1.6.2. Interacting partners of PAG

While it was suggested that multiple proteins could bind to PAG, only three proteins have been reproducibly shown to be associated: Csk (Brdicka et al., 2000; Kawabuchi et al., 2000), Fyn (Brdicka et al., 2000) and EBP50 (Brdickova et al., 2001; Itoh et al., 2002). The interaction between PAG and Fyn was shown to be independent of phosphorylation and thus it was proposed to be mediated via the SH3 domain of Fyn binding to a proline-rich region of PAG (Brdicka et al., 2000). The mapping of the Fyn binding site within PAG is also a topic of the PhD thesis of Anita Posevitz-Fejfar. In contrast, the interaction of Csk (C-terminal Src kinase) with PAG requires tyrosine phosphorylation of PAG by Src family kinases. Mutational analysis has demonstrated that this association is mediated primarily via the phosphorylation of tyrosine 317 of PAG (in human; Y<sup>314</sup> in mouse and rat), which is then bound by the SH2 domain of Csk

(Brdicka et al., 2000; Kawabuchi et al., 2000). An additional Csk binding site at tyrosine 299 has been suggested (Lindquist, unpublished observation).

Fyn is the main kinase responsible for PAG phosphorylation and thereby mediates Csk recruitment to PAG. Fyn deficient T cells show impaired PAG phosphorylation, Csk recruitment and thus reduced Csk activity towards Lck (Yasuda et al., 2002; Shima et al., 2003; Filby et al., 2007). However other kinases like Lck and Lyn may be involved in PAG phosphorylation (Brdicka et al., 2000; Ohtake et al., 2002).

#### 1.6.3. The PAG phosphatase

The phosphorylation of PAG is a tightly regulated process as it is very rapidly dephosphorylated upon TCR triggering. Although several attempts have been made to identify the PAG phosphatase, they have however not brought clear results. On one hand, CD45, a positive regulator of TCR signaling, appears to be the PAG phosphatase, since CD45 deficient cells have enhanced basal phosphorylation of PAG with basically no detectable decrease upon stimulation (Davidson et al., 2003). On the other hand, PAG still becomes dephosphorylated in Jurkat cells lacking CD45 (Brdicka et al., 2000). Furthermore, CD45 expression is restricted only to hematopoietic cells and thus other PAG phosphatases must exist. One candidate would be PEP (PEST-enriched phosphatase), which can directly associate with the SH3 domain of Csk (Cloutier and Veillette, 1996). PEP is also able to dephosphorylate the activatory tyrosine within Src kinases (Gjorloff-Wingren et al., 1999; Cloutier and Veillette, 1999). However, mice deficient in PEP show normal PAG dephosphorylation upon stimulation (Davidson et al., 2003). Also experiments on protein tyrosine phosphatase PTPa deficient cells excluded this phosphatase as a potential candidate (Maksumova et al., 2005). Additionally, the SH2 domain-containing phosphatases SHP-1 or SHP-2 might contribute to PAG dephosphorylation, especially as SHP-1 was found to be recruited to lipid rafts upon TCR stimulation (Kosugi et al., 2001). PAG was, however, again found to be normally dephosphorylated in stimulated thymocytes from SHP-1 deficient mice (Davidson et al., 2003). Interestingly, SHP-2 was found in a complex with PAG and was shown to influence PAG dephosphorylation. Furthermore, hyperphosphorylation of endogenous PAG and sustained Csk recruitment were observed in SHP-2 deficient cells (Zhang et al., 2004). However, this observation was demonstrated only in fibroblasts and only upon growth factor stimulation. Importantly, as mentioned above, PAG is ubiquitously expressed,

whereas the phosphatases are usually specific to certain cell types. Thus, it appears that several distinct phosphatases could be responsible for PAG dephoshorylation depending upon the cell type. Also note, that, due to tonic signaling (see 1.7.3.), PAG is phosphorylated in resting T cells, but in mast cells is not and becomes phosphorylated only upon FccRI triggering (Ohtake et al., 2002). Therefore, the PAG phosphatase(s) seem to be also differentially regulated in different cell types.

# 1.6.4. Function of PAG

The main function of PAG seems to be the recruitment of Csk, a negative regulator of Src family kinases, to the plasma membrane; thereby setting the threshold for activation and keeping cells in a resting state. PAG is constitutively phosphorylated in resting T cells and binds the tyrosine kinase Csk. The activity of Csk increases upon binding to PAG (Takeuchi et al., 2000). Csk in turn phosphorylates the C-terminal inhibitory tyrosine within Src kinases and keeps them under tonic inhibition in the resting state (see Figure 1.4., bottom right panel). Upon TCR triggering, PAG becomes rapidly dephosphorylated by a yet unknown phosphatase at the Csk binding site, leading to the release of Csk. This enables the activation of Src kinases and the initiation of T-cell signaling (see Figure 1.4., top panel). However, when Fyn becomes activated, it re-phosphorylates PAG after several minutes (see Figure 1.4., bottom left panel), recruiting Csk back to the plasma membrane where Csk inhibits Src kinases by phosphorylation of their inhibitory tyrosine. In this way, the Src kinases become inactivated and signaling is shut down (Brdicka et al., 2000; Kawabuchi et al., 2000; Torgersen et al., 2001). Fitting with this model, the overexpression of PAG decreases overall tyrosine phosphorylation and inhibits TCR-mediated proximal events like Ca2+ flux (Davidson et al., 2003), downregulates TCR mediated NFAT activation in Jurkat T cells (Brdicka et al., 2000), IL-2 production both in Jurkat T cells (Itoh et al., 2002) and in transgenic mice (Davidson et al., 2003) and causes a block in cell proliferation (Davidson et al., 2003).

Interestingly, this proliferative defect was partially restored by exogenous IL-2 and the production of IL-4 and IFN- $\gamma$  was not affected by PAG overexpression. On the contrary, mutation of the Csk binding site Y<sup>317</sup> (respectively Y<sup>314</sup> in mice) results in a drastic reduction of PAG phosphorylation, complete abrogation of Csk recruitment and the restoration of calcium flux, IL-2 production and cell proliferation (Davidson et al., 2003).



**Figure 1.4. PAG regulatory function in T-cell signaling.** PAG is phosphorylated in resting T cells and binds Csk (bottom right). Upon activation, PAG becomes dephosphorylated, thereby loosing Csk and allowing activation (top). Fyn then re-phosphorylates PAG, leading to Csk recruitment and inhibition of signaling (bottom left).

Notably, tyrosine 317 is the only tyrosine within PAG for which a functional significance has been shown. The role of the other nine tyrosines has not been clarified. Clearly, there might be more proteins in addition to Csk associated with PAG and thus, PAG may have other distinct functions in addition to the negative regulation of Src kinases. Identification of new binding partners and one novel function of PAG are the outcome of this thesis.

PAG seems to be implemented also in other pathways beside TCR signaling. Experiments with mast cells suggested a role in the negative feedback of FccRI signaling (Ohtake et al., 2002). Upon FccRI aggregation, PAG becomes rapidly phosphorylated and recruits Csk, thus inhibiting Lyn kinase activity. Furthermore, the overexpression of PAG leads to an inhibition of FccRI-mediated cell activation. A role for PAG has also been suggested in cell migration and cell

spreading (Shima et al., 2003). Upon adhesion to fibronectin, PAG becomes phosphorylated and recruits Csk, which in turn inactivates the Src kinases. Knocking down PAG expression leads to impaired cell spreading.

An additional function of PAG is based upon its interaction with the cytoplasmic adaptor EBP50 (ezrin-radixin-moesin binding protein of 50 kDa) also known as NHERF (Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> exchanger regulatory factor) (Reczek et al., 1997; Yun et al, 1997). EBP50 binds through one of its two PDZ domains to the C-terminal VTRL motif of PAG and through its C-terminus to the ezrin-radixin-moesin family proteins, thus linking PAG to the actin cytoskeleton (Itoh et al., 2002; Brdickova et al., 2001). Considering the fact that PAG is located within the lipid rafts, PAG may in this way regulate their mobility. Indeed, the overexpression of PAG reduces the mobility of lipid rafts and inhibits immune synapse formation and subsequent T-cell activation (Itoh et al., 2002). The expression of a mutant PAG incapable of EBP50 binding restored both synapse formation and T-cell activation. This suggests that PAG also regulates the dynamics of the membrane, namely it keeps mobility of lipid rafts low in resting cells, but upon activation the association of EBP50 is lost (by an unknown mechanism) and the rafts become more mobile and thus able to aggregate within the immune synapse (Itoh et al., 2002).

Recently, PAG has been shown to play an important role in *Theileria parva* infection. Transformation of B lymphocytes with this intracellular parasite causes the downregulation of PAG and concomitant loss of Csk from lipid rafts. This in turn enables the constitutive activation of the Src kinase Hck, activation of the transcription factor AP-1 and continuous proliferation reminiscent of leukemic cells (Baumgartner et al., 2003). Histologically, PAG was found expressed also in germinal centers of lymphoid follicles and in follicular lymphomas. Thus, the presence of PAG may potentially be a new marker of follicular lymphomas and its absence a marker of some mantle cell lymphomas (Svec et al., 2005).

In spite of the apparent importance of PAG, two papers characterizing PAG knockout mice have been recently published suggesting that PAG is basically dispensable for T-cell development and function (Xu et al., 2005; Dobenecker et al., 2005). The first paper showed generally normal T-cell development with increased number of thymocytes in PAG deficient mice. Although they observed mild reduction in Csk localization within lipid rafts in cells lacking PAG, the TCR-induced calcium flux, cell proliferation and production of IL-2, IL-4 and IFN- $\gamma$ were normal (Xu et al., 2005). However, the authors only deleted the last coding exon in the hope

of inactivating the whole PAG gene. But they themselves show expression of a protein in their mice detectable by anti-PAG antisera and claim this to be nonspecific band. This might, however, very well be the truncated form of PAG, which can still partially fulfill PAG function. The second study demonstrated that PAG deficiency had no effect upon embryogenesis, thymic development and T-cell functions *in vivo*. Moreover, Csk recruitment into the lipid rafts was not affected by the loss of PAG and proximal signaling events like the phosphorylation of key signaling molecules was not altered (Dobenecker et al., 2005). Thus it seems, that there is a redundancy among transmembrane adaptor proteins and some are able to compensate for the loss of PAG by taking over its function.

# **1.7.** Src family kinases (SFKs)

# 1.7.1. Structure and localization of Src family kinases

The Src family consists of 9 members: Blk, Fgr, Fyn, Hck, Lck, Lyn, Src, Yes and Yrk. Among these, Src, Yes and Fyn are mainly ubiquitously expressed. Myeloid cells express Hck, Fgr and Lyn, B cells express Lyn, Fyn and Blk and T cells express primarily Lck and Fyn (Thomas and Brugge, 1997). Src kinases have a common structure consisting of an N-terminal region possessing sites for fatty acid modification, followed by a unique region, an SH3 domain, an SH2 domain, a linker region, a tyrosine kinase domain (SH1) and a C-terminal negative regulatory tyrosine. The N-terminal region is cotranslationally myristoylated on a glycine residue at position 2. This modification enables the kinase to attach to the cell membrane. Furthermore, Src kinases undergo posttranslationally reversible palmitoylation on dual cysteines and this is believed to target them into the lipid rafts. Additionally, Fyn was observed to be methylated at lysine residues within the N-terminal region and this may be required for its function in cell adhesion and spreading (Liang et al., 2004). Interestingly, the localization of Lck and Fyn within plasma membrane is largely different. Whereas Lck was predominantly detected in the non-raft fraction, Fyn in contrast is highly enriched in the raft fractions (Yasuda et al., 2002; Filipp et al., 2003). The unique domain, as well as different binding partners, are likely to contribute to their distinct subcellular localization.

# 1.7.2. Regulation and activation of Src family kinases

When the crystal structure of Src and Hck was solved, it inspired the model for a common mechanism of Src kinase activation (Xu et al., 1997; Sicheri et al., 1997) (see Figure 1.5.). According to this model, a Src kinase adopts an inactive conformation when its C-terminal inhibitory tyrosine ( $Y^{505}$  of Lck,  $Y^{529}$  of Fyn) becomes phosphorylated. In this conformation, the inhibitory phosphotyrosine is bound by the SH2 domain, bringing the SH3 domain closer to the linker region located between the SH2 and kinase domain. The SH3 domain forms an additional interaction with the proline-rich region within the linker, further stabilizing the closed inactive conformation (Xu et al., 1997; Sicheri et al., 1997). On the other hand, dephosphorylation of the inhibitory tyrosine releases the structure into a primed state, from which the kinase can then autophosphorylate the activatory tyrosine within the activation loop of the kinase domains leading to its full activation.

However, activatory tyrosine phosphorylation is not the only way to activate an Src kinase. Phosphorylation of other tyrosines have also been demonstrated that enhance kinase activity, although only for Src and only upon growth factor stimulation. In these studies, epidermal growth factor and platelet-derived growth factor selectively induced phosphorylation of a tyrosine within the SH2 domain of Src ( $Y^{215}$ ) causing a dramatic increase in the kinase activity (Vadlamudi et al.,



**Figure 1.5. Src kinase regulation.** The inactive form of SFKs has the linker region bound to its SH3 and phosphorylated C-terminal tyrosine bound to its SH2 domain (middle). This tyrosine can be dephosphorylated by CD45, thereby priming the kinase (right), which can then autophosphorylate, leading to the active state. The phosphorylation of a tyrosine within SH2 domain in addition to the C-terminal tyrosine phosphorylation results in the hyperactive form of kinase (left). For further details see 1.7.2.

2003; Stover et al., 1996). This phosphorylated SH2 domain specifically prevents binding of the phosphorylated C-terminal negative regulatory tyrosine and thus prevents folding of the kinase into an inactive state. This in consequence leads to an over 50-fold increase in the kinase activity (Stover et al., 1996) (see Figure 1.5. hyper-active).

The main proteins regulating the phosphorylation status and thereby the activity of SFKs are the phosphatase CD45 and the kinase Csk, which act antagonistically. CD45 is believed to be a critical positive regulator, which forms a complex with Lck (Schraven et al., 1991) and specifically dephosphorylates the C-terminal inhibitory tyrosine (Hermiston et al., 2003). On the other hand, Csk is able to phosphorylate this inhibitory tyrosine, thereby inactivating the enzyme (Okada et al., 1991; Bergman et al., 1992). The enzyme dephosphorylating the activatory tyrosine was shown to be the PEP (Gjorloff-Wingren et al., 1999; Cloutier and Veillette, 1999). Interestingly, this phosphatase binds to Csk (Cloutier and Veillette, 1996), thereby forming a functional complex that synergistically inhibits the Src kinases by acting upon both critical tyrosines simultaneously (Cloutier and Veillette, 1999). An additional protein tyrosine phosphatase (PTP) involved in the regulation of SFK activity, particularly that of Fyn, seems to be PTP $\alpha$ . PTP $\alpha$  deficient thymocytes exhibit enhanced phosphorylation of both the activatory and inhibitory tyrosines of Fyn, increased Fyn activity, hyperphosphorylation of PAG and reduced proliferation (Maksumova et al., 2005).

Furthermore, SFKs can be activated by interaction of either their SH2 or SH3 domains with other proteins. In this case, this domain is no longer available for the intramolecular interaction and thus the kinase cannot fold into its closed inactive conformation. One such interacting protein is SAP (SLAM-associated protein), which binds the SH3 domain of Fyn leading to its activation (Simarro et al., 2004). Another SFK activator is Unc119 (Uncoordinated 119), which was shown to increase the kinase activity of both Lck and Fyn by binding to their SH3 domain. Since Lck and Fyn are found associated with CD3 and the coreceptor CD4, Unc119 was found complexed with both CD3 and CD4. Recruiting Unc119 to the CD3- and CD4-associated Src kinases may provide the mechanism activating SFKs upon TCR triggering (Gorska et al., 2004).

Since Fyn and Lck are differentially localized within the plasma membrane (Fyn being mainly in the lipid rafts and Lck predominantly outside), the question arises as to how the TCR recruits and activates both proteins. The group of Julius, however, has proposed a model of sequential activation, according to which Lck is initially activated outside of lipid rafts, and then

translocates into the lipid rafts to activate Fyn (Filipp et al., 2003). Supporting this hypothesis is also the observation that Fyn cannot be activated in Lck deficient cells (Filipp et al., 2003).

# 1.7.3. Function of Lck and Fyn

Src family protein tyrosine kinases play a crucial role in cell differentiation, motility, adhesion, proliferation and survival. In T cells, a fraction of Lck interacts with the coreceptors CD4 and CD8 (Veillette et al., 1988; Barber et al., 1989). This noncovalent interaction is mediated via a dicysteine motif within the unique domain of Lck and two cysteines in the cytoplasmic region of CD4 or CD8 alpha (Turner et al., 1990). It facilitates participation of Lck in the initiation of TCR signal transduction upon antigen recognition. During TCR-pMHC interaction, Lck is recruited into the complex through its association with either the CD4 or CD8 coreceptor (Holdorf et al., 2002). Upon clustering of the coreceptors, Lck molecules transphosphorylate the tyrosine within the activation loop leading to their full activation. Additionally, a pool of Lck interacts with the costimulatory molecule CD28 and this interaction further sustains the activation of Lck (Holdorf et al., 2002). Furthermore, Fyn was shown to directly interact with CD3 subunits and TCR  $\zeta$  chains (Samelson et al., 1990; Timson Gauen et al., 1992). Thus, active Lck and Fyn coclustered with the receptors are perfectly positioned to phosphorylate the tyrosine residues within the ITAMs of both the CD3 complex and TCR  $\zeta$ chains. Phosphorylated ITAMs recruit ZAP70, which is then phosphorylated and activated by Lck. The subsequent events of proximal signaling are described in section 1.4.3. Underlining the essential role of Lck in TCR signaling is the finding that Jurkat cells lacking Lck possess a block in ZAP70 phosphorylation and activation, a lack in LAT phosphorylation and calcium flux and no NFAT activation and IL-2 production (Straus and Weiss, 1992; Denny et al., 2000).

Lck was suggested to be involved in a negative feedback pathway allowing the cell to discriminate between self and nonself antigen. Generally, activated Lck induces the phosphorylation of the phosphatase SHP-1, which then binds to the SH2 domain of Lck leading to a downregulation of the activity of the latter and dephosphorylation of TCR-associated ITAMs. However, Lck can also be phosphorylated by ERK on a serine residue, which interferes with SHP-1 binding. Thus, strong binding ligands (i.e. antigenic peptides) induce sufficiently rapid ERK activation to phosphorylate Lck and thus prevent SHP-1 binding. On the contrary, weak ligands (i.e. self peptides) induce a delayed ERK activation, which is simply too slow to
protect Lck from accumulated phospho-SHP-1 and signaling is in this case aborted (Stefanova et al., 2003).

Fyn appears to play a more negative regulatory role in TCR signaling by phosphorylating PAG, thereby mediating Csk recruitment and PAG-Csk interaction (Yasuda et al, 2002; Shima et al., 2003; Filby et al., 2007). The loss of Fyn results in a lack of PAG phosphorylation, a loss of Csk recruitment and reduced phosphorylation of the inhibitory tyrosine of Lck. This then correlates with elevated cytokine production and hyperproliferation (Filby et al., 2007). Reducing Lck levels additionally to Fyn deficiency causes spontaneous T-cell activation *in vivo* and the development of severe autoimmune disorders (Filby et al., 2007). Fyn deficient mice show a reduced presence of naïve CD44<sup>low</sup>CD62L<sup>high</sup> T cells in the periphery, presumably due to the inhibition of PAG phosphorylation and Csk recruitment (Yasuda et al., 2002).

Fyn was additionally shown to associate with the adapter proteins SKAP55 (Src kinaseassociated phosphoprotein of 55 kDa) (Marie-Cardine et al., 1997) and ADAP (Adhesion and degranulation promoting adaptor protein), also known as Fyb (Fyn binding protein) or SLAP (SLP-76 associated protein) (da Silva et al., 1997). Therefore Fyn also seems to be involved in integrin signaling. Upon TCR triggering, Fyn phosphorylates ADAP and consequently ADAP induces integrin clustering and integrin-mediated adhesion (Griffiths et al., 2001; Peterson et al., 2001). In addition, Fyn contributes to the regulation of cytoskeletal reorganization as Fyn phosphorylates WASP (Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein), a critical regulator of the Arp2/3 complex and actin polarization in T cells (Badour et al., 2004). Fyn was also suggested to bind phosphorylated alpha-tubulin and to regulate tubulin cytoskeleton reorganization upon T-cell activation (Marie-Cardine et al., 1995; Martin-Cofreces et al., 2006).

A role for Lck and Fyn in naïve T cell maintenance and survival in the periphery has been suggested, since there is a constant low level of signaling in peripheral T cells and a constitutive low level of TCR  $\zeta$  chain phosphorylation (Pitcher et al., 2003). As T cells are continuously scanning their environment, their TCRs are constantly encountering self-peptide/MHC complexes inducing weak signaling. Especially Fyn was believed to be responsible for the constitutive low level of zeta chain phosphorylation as Fyn associates with CD3 and TCR  $\zeta$  chains (Samelson et al., 1990; Timson Gauen et al., 1992). This so called tonic signaling is believed to be responsible for naïve T cell survival and lymphopenic expansion in the periphery. An elegant series of experiments performed by Zamoyska et al. suggested that both Fyn and Lck

(at least one of them) are required for TCR dependent naïve T cell survival in the periphery and Lck, but not Fyn, is essential for TCR dependent homeostatic proliferation (Seddon et al., 2000; Seddon and Zamoyska, 2002a; Seddon and Zamoyska, 2002b).

Finally, Src kinases are required during thymocyte development. Knockout mice deficient for both Fyn and Lck possess an absolute block at the transition from DN3 to DN4 stage during TCR $\beta$  selection (Groves et al., 1996; van Oers et al., 1996). Additionally, Lck is primarily responsible for transmitting the positive selection signal during the DP stage and it seems that this signal also determines the fate of CD4 versus CD8 lineage (Hernandez-Hoyos et al., 2000; Legname et al., 2000).

# **1.8.** Csk (C-terminal Src kinase)

Csk is a ubiquitously expressed cytoplasmic protein tyrosine kinase with a structure similar to the SFKs, consisting of an SH3, SH2 and a kinase domain (Nada et al., 1991). However, it lacks both an N-terminal acylation signal and a C-terminal regulatory tyrosine.

Csk is the major negative regulator of Src kinases as it phosphorylates their inhibitory tyrosine at the C-terminus and these adopt the closed inactive conformation (see 1.7.2.) (Nada et al., 1991; Okada et al., 1991; Bergman et al., 1992). Overexpression of Csk results in a dramatic inhibition of TCR-induced protein tyrosine phosphorylation and IL-2 production (Chow et al., 1993). The SH3 and SH2 domains of Csk were found to be absolutely critical for Csk function, therefore Csk probably requires association with other proteins to inhibit SFK activation in the cell (Cloutier et al., 1995). In resting T cells, a portion of Csk is localized within the lipid rafts through its interaction with various membrane proteins (e.g. PAG) and sets an activation threshold for TCR signaling (Brdicka et al., 2000; Kawabuchi et al., 2000). PAG can not only relocate Csk to the lipid rafts, but was also shown to activate Csk and increase its kinase activity up to 6-fold (Takeuchi et al., 2000). Additionally, Csk can be phosphorylated upon a serine residue within the catalytic loop by the cAMP-dependent protein kinase (PKA), resulting in a 2-4 fold increase in Csk activity (Vang et al., 2001), which is additive to the increase caused by PAG binding (Vang et al., 2003). Upon TCR triggering, PAG is dephosphorylated and Csk association is lost, thus enabling activation of Src kinases and proper signaling (Torgersen et al., 2001). In this phase, Csk may be sequestered by another binding partner G3BP (RasGAP-SH3-binding protein), which is located outside of lipid rafts and augments T-cell activation simply be reducing the amount of Csk in the rafts (Rahmouni et al., 2005).

Csk forms complexes with all three members of the PEP phosphatase family, protein tyrosine phosphatase PEP and PTP-PEST (PTP containing PEST domain) bind to the SH3 domain (Cloutier and Veillette, 1996; Davidson et al., 1997), whereas PTP-HSCF (hematopoietic stem cell fraction derived PTP) binding was shown to be SH2 domain mediated (Wang et al., 2001). As PEP phosphatases are believed to dephosphorylate the activatory tyrosines within the Src kinases (Gjorloff-Wingren et al., 1999; Cloutier and Veillette, 1999), the formation of Csk-PEP complex would constitute an efficient mechanism to inactivate Src kinase-mediated signaling.

The adaptor proteins Dok-1 and Dok-3 were also reported to associate with Csk through its SH2 domain (Neet and Hunter, 1995; Lemay et al., 2000). Dok proteins are efficient inhibitors of immunoreceptor signaling (at least in B cells) as they coordinate the recruitment of three inhibitory effectors, Csk, the phosphatase SHIP-1, and p120RasGAP, to the membrane upon receptor stimulation (Lemay et al., 2000; Tamir et al., 2000). Additionally, Csk was shown to bind to the transmembrane adaptor protein SIT *in vitro* and might contribute to the inhibition of TCR induced NFAT activation caused by SIT overexpression (Pfrepper et al., 2001). Csk is also recruited to another transmembrane adaptor protein, LIME, that is phosphorylated upon CD4 or CD8 crosslinking (Brdickova et al., 2003). Csk can also associate with focal adhesion-associated proteins paxillin, tensin and FAK (focal adhesion kinase), although the physiological relevance of such interactions is unclear at present (Sabe et al., 1994).

Csk deficient mice die in utero because of abnormalities in neuronal development, which result from uncontrolled Src kinase activity (Nada et al., 1993; Imamoto and Soriano, 1993). Conditional inactivation of Csk in thymocytes abrogates the requirement for pre-TCR mediated signals during TCR  $\beta$  checkpoint and also uncouples positive selection from the TCR-mediated signal, presumably because of hyperactive Src kinases, and single positive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells develop and leave into periphery (Schmedt et al., 1998; Schmedt et al., 2001).

Given the lethal phenotype of Csk knockout mice and the fact that PAG is believed to be the main protein recruiting Csk to the plasma membrane, it was expected that PAG deficiency would also have fatal consequences (Hermiston et al., 2002). Therefore it was surprising to find that PAG knockout mice have no severe phenotype (Xu et al., 2005; Dobenecker et al., 2005; see 1.6.4.). However, if one investigates the newborn mice, they indeed possess enhanced Src kinase activity, which is then downregulated at three months of age, clearly demonstrating a

development of compensatory mechanism (J. Lindquist, unpublished observation). For this reason, a simple knockout may not be the ideal approach and therefore we applied RNA interference to knock down PAG expression in primary human T cells in order to demonstrate the importance of PAG as a negative regulator of T cell signaling.

# **1.9.** Aim of the project

The aim of this study was to investigate the alterations in signaling pathways upon induction of an unresponsive state, anergy, in primary human T cells. We were mainly interested in the membrane proximal signaling events with the special focus on PAG, the negative regulator of Tcell signaling. There are three main observations that this project was based on. First, the Src family kinase Fyn was shown to be upregulated in anergic T cells both on the protein level and activity (Quill et al., 1992; Gajewski et al., 1994). Second, Fyn is the kinase responsible for phosphorylation of the transmembrane adaptor protein PAG (Yasuda et al., 2002). And third, most importantly, T cells overexpressing PAG were shown to be unresponsive to any further stimulation via TCR and this is phenotype very similar to anergy (Brdicka et al., 2000; Davidson et al., 2003). Moreover, PAG overexpressing cells produce reduced levels of IL-2 whereas normal amount of IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-4 (Davidson et al., 2003). The similar alteration in cytokine production has been observed also in anergic T cells (Jenkins et al., 1987; Blish et al., 1999). Therefore we hypothesized that PAG may play a role in the maintenance of the anergic state.

# 2. Methods

# 2.1. Antibodies used in this study

Antibody	Species and clone	Application	Source
actin	mouse monoclonal IgG <sub>1</sub> (AC-15)	WB - 1:10,000	Sigma
anti-mouse	rabbit	coating - 10 µg/ml	DAKO
anti-mouse-HRP	goat	WB - 1:10,000	Dianova
anti-rabbit-HRP	goat	WB - 1:10,000	Dianova
CD25-FITC	mouse monoclonal IgG <sub>1</sub> (M-A251)	FACS - 1:10	BD Biosciences
CD28	mouse monoclonal IgM (248.23.2)	coating - 1:1 stimulation - undiluted	hybridoma grown in our laboratory
CD3	mouse monoclonal IgM (MEM92)	stimulation - undiluted	hybridoma from V. Horejsi, Prague, grown in our laboratory
CD3	mouse monoclonal IgG <sub>2a</sub> (OKT3)	coating - 1:100, 1:10 stimulation - 1:1	hybridoma grown in our laboratory
CD3-PE	mouse monoclonal IgG <sub>1</sub> (UCHT1)	FACS - 1:10	BD Biosciences
CD59	mouse monoclonal IgG <sub>2b</sub> (MEM43/5)	WB - 1:250	V. Horejsi, Prague
CD69-FITC	mouse monoclonal IgG <sub>1</sub> (FN50)	FACS - 1:10	BD Biosciences
Csk	rabbit polyclonal IgG (C-20)	WB - 1:200	Santa Cruz
Csk-pSer364	rabbit polyclonal	WB – 1:50	K. Tasken, Norway
DGK alpha	rabbit polyclonal	WB - 1:2,000 IP - 5 μl	I. Merida, Spain
DGK zeta	rabbit polyclonal	WB - 1:1,000	T. Judd, Utah
FLAG	rabbit polyclonal	WB - 1:400	Sigma
FoxP3	rabbit polyclonal IgG	WB - 2 µg/ml	E. Schmitt, Mainz
Fyn	rabbit polyclonal	WB - 1:1,000	Biosource

Fyn	mouse monoclonal IgG <sub>1</sub> (1S)	WB - 1:1,000	Biosource
Fyn	mouse monoclonal IgG <sub>2</sub> (Fyn-02)	IP - 0.5 μl	V. Horejsi, Prague
GAPDH-HRP	mouse monoclonal IgG <sub>2b</sub> (mAbcam 9484)	WB - 1:10,000	Abcam
Grb2	rabbit polyclonal IgG (C-23)	WB - 1:1,000	Santa Cruz
Lamin A	rabbit polyclonal	WB - 1:500	BioLegend
LAT	rabbit polyclonal	WB - 1:1,000 IP - 1 μl	V. Horejsi, Prague
Lck	rabbit polyclonal	IP - 0.5 μl	A. Magee, London
Lck	rabbit polyclonal	WB - 1:1,000	Biosource
Lck	mouse monoclonal IgG <sub>2b</sub> (3A5)	WB - 1:200	Biosource
Lck	mouse monoclonal IgG <sub>1</sub> (Lck-04)	IP - 30 µl coupled to sepharose	V. Horejsi, Prague
Lck-pY505	rabbit polyclonal	WB - 1:1,000	Biosource
LIME	rabbit polyclonal	WB - 1:1,000	V. Horejsi, Prague
NTAL	mouse monoclonal (NAP03)	WB - 1:1,000	V. Horejsi, Prague
p62Dok	mouse monoclonal IgG <sub>1</sub> (45)	WB - 1:250	BD Biosciences
PAG	rabbit polyclonal	WB - 1:2,000	V. Horejsi, Prague
PAG	mouse monoclonal IgG <sub>2a</sub> (MEM255)	WB - 1:100	hybridoma from V. Horejsi, Prague, grown in our laboratory
PAG-C6	mouse monoclonal IgG <sub>2b</sub> (PAG-C6)	IP - 30 µl coupled to sepharose	hybridoma from V. Horejsi, Prague, grown in our laboratory
PAG-pY317	rabbit polyclonal	WB - 1:10,000	produced in our laboratory
pan-Ras	mouse monoclonal IgG <sub>2b</sub> (Ab-4)	WB - 1:1,000	Oncogene
pTyr	mouse monoclonal IgG <sub>2b</sub> (4G10)	WB - 1:100	hybridoma grown in our laboratory
RasGAP	mouse monoclonal IgG <sub>2a</sub> (B4F8)	WB - 1:100 IP - 5 μl	Santa Cruz

#### **METHODS**

Sam68	mouse monoclonal IgG <sub>1</sub> (15)	WB - 1:10,000 IP - 4 μl	BD Biosciences
Src-pY215	rabbit polyclonal	WB - 1:1,000 IP - 4 μl	Abcam
Src-pY418	rabbit polyclonal	WB - 1:1,000	Biosource
Src-pY529	rabbit polyclonal	WB - 1:1,000	Biosource
zeta chain	mouse monoclonal IgG <sub>1</sub> (6B10)	WB - 1:1,000 IP - 3 μl	Sigma

# 2.2. General reagents for cell culture

RPMI 1640 medium with NaHCO <sub>3</sub> and stable glutamine	Biochrom AG
PBS without Ca <sup>2+</sup> Mg <sup>2+</sup>	Biochrom AG
PBS with $Ca^{2+}Mg^{2+}$	Biochrom AG
FCS	PAN Biotech GmbH
CiproBay 200	Bayer
Phorbol myristate acetate (PMA)	Calbiochem
Ionomycin	Sigma
Interleukin 2	Tebu-bio
Trypan blue	Sigma

# 2.3. T cell isolation and purification

Biochrom AG
Biochrom AG
Miltenyi Biotec
Miltenyi Biotec

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated by Ficoll gradient centrifugation of heparinized blood collected from healthy volunteers. A ring containing PBMCs formed during the gradient centrifugation. PBMCs were carefully aspirated and washed 3x with RPMI 1640 medium. The cells were rested in RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10% FCS for 2 hours in an incubator. T cells were further purified by non-T cell depletion on the AutoMACS machine using the Pan T cell isolation kit II. T cell populations of greater than 95% purity were obtained, as determined by flow cytometry analysis.

# 2.4. Anergy induction

Reagents and instruments:

24-well flat-bottomed tissue culture plates

TPP

To induce anergy *in vitro*, 24-well flat-bottomed tissue culture plates were precoated with 10  $\mu$ g/ml rabbit-anti-mouse immunoglobulin in 0.3 ml/well PBS without Ca<sup>2+</sup>Mg<sup>2+</sup> overnight at 4°C. After washing the plates three times with 0.5 ml/well PBS, anti-CD3 (OKT3) supernatant diluted to approx. 1 $\mu$ g/ml was immobilized in 0.3 ml/well PBS overnight at 4°C. The plates were washed again three times with 0.5 ml/well PBS and T cells were inoculated at 6x10<sup>5</sup> cells/ml in 1 ml/well RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10% FCS and CiproBay 200 (1:200). Rescued samples received additionally 10<sup>-9</sup> M PMA to mimic costimulation. The resting sample was kept in culture without stimulus.

After three days of incubation in a humidified atmosphere at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, the cells were collected, centrifuged and transferred into new, uncoated 24-well plates again in 1 ml/well fresh RPMI/10% FCS/CiproBay and rested for one additional day. After a total of 4 days in culture, the cells were harvested, cell viability determined by trypan blue staining and the dead cells removed by Ficoll centrifugation.

# 2.5. Proliferation assay

Reagents and instruments:	
96-well round-bottomed tissue culture plates	Costar
[ <sup>3</sup> H]-thymidine	ICN
PHD cell harvester	Inotech AG
liquid scintillator 1450 Microbeta Wallac	Perkin Elmer

To assess the proliferative capacity after anergy induction, the cells were restimulated in 96well round-bottomed tissue culture plates. The plates were coated with anti-CD3 (OKT3, 100  $\mu$ l supernatant/well) or with anti-CD3 plus anti-CD28 (100  $\mu$ l of each supernatant/well) as described above. The cells were then plated at 5x10<sup>4</sup> cells/well in triplicates and restimulated with either anti-CD3 alone, anti-CD3 plus anti-CD28, anti-CD3 plus exogenous IL-2 (100 U/well), exogenous IL-2 alone or PMA (10<sup>-9</sup> M) plus ionomycin (0.25  $\mu$ g/ml).

 $[^{3}H]$ -thymidine (0.3  $\mu$ Ci/well) was added for the last 8-10 hours of the three-day incubation and the plates were harvested using the PHD cell harvester. Thymidine incorporation was measured by liquid scintillation and the results expressed as the mean cpm.

# 2.6. Stimulation of T cells

**Buffers:** 

```
TBS (per 1 liter) - 8.0 g NaCl
0.2 g KCl
3.0 g Tris
to pH 8.0, dI H<sub>2</sub>O to 1 liter final
```

Resting, anergic and rescued cells coming from the primary stimulation described in section 2.3. were washed once with 1 ml RPMI 1640 without FCS and re-challenged by anti-CD3 (MEM92) stimulation for 2 min at 37°C; 100  $\mu$ l antibody supernatant was used for 5x10<sup>6</sup> cells. Stimulation was stopped by adding 1 ml ice-cold TBS, the cells were quickly spun down at 5,000 rpm, 2 min, 4°C and lysed.

# 2.7. Cell lysis, immunoprecipitation and Western blot analysis

Reagents and instruments:

BSA		Sigma
protein A sepharose CL-4B		Pharmacia Biotech
CNBr-activated seph	arose 4B beads	GE Healthcare
Gel electrophoresis s	ystem	Bio-Rad
Western blotter Mult	iphor II	GE Healthcare
nitrocellulose membr	rane	GE Healthcare
Milk powder		Lasana
Tween 20		Roth
ECL Western Blotting Detection reagents		GE Healthcare
Hyperfilm ECL		GE Healthcare
Buffers:		
NP-40 lysis buffer –	1% Nonidet P-40	Sigma
	100 mM NaCl	
	50 mM Hepes pH 7.4	
	5 mM EDTA	
	1% Lauryl maltoside	Calbiochem
1 mM phenylmethylsulfonylfluori		SF)

1 mM	l sodium	n orthovanadate	
50 mM	M sodiu	m fluoride	
10 mM	M sodiu	m pyrophosphate	
Digitonin lysis buffer –	1% di	gitonin	Sigma
	100 m	M NaCl	
	50 mN	/I Hepes pH 7.4	
	5 mM	EDTA	
	1 mM	PMSF	
	1 mM	sodium orthovan	adate
	50 mN	A sodium fluoride	
	10 mN	A sodium pyroph	osphate
NP-40 washing buffer –	0.05%	NP-40	
	5 mM EDTA		
	150 m	M NaCl	
	50 mN	/I Tris pH 7.4	
Digitonin washing buffer –	0.05%	digitonin	
	5 mM	EDTA	
	150 m	M NaCl	
	50 mN	/I Tris pH 7.4	
Sample buffer – 10% g	glycerol		
60 mN	M Tris p	H 6.8	
2% SI	DS		
0.002	% brom	phenol blue	
1% 2-	-mercap	toethanol	
10% SDS-polyacrylamide g	gel –	4.7 ml H <sub>2</sub> O	
		2.5 ml 40% Acr	ylamide/Bis solution 37.5:1 Bio-Rad
		2.6 ml 1.5 M Tr	is pH 8.8
		0.1 ml 10% SDS	S
		0.1 ml 10% APS	8
		0.004 ml TEME	ED

Stacking gel – 2.19 ml H<sub>2</sub>O 0.375 ml 40% Acrylamide/Bis solution 37.5:1 0.375 ml 1.0 M Tris pH 6.8 0.03 ml 10% SDS 0.03 ml 10% APS 0.003 ml TEMED Electrophoresis buffer – 10x TGS buffer Bio-Rad Blotting buffer (per 1 liter) – 5.8 g Tris base 2.9 g glycine 0.37 g SDS to 800 ml dI H2O, add 200 ml methanol

TBS – see section 2.6.

Cells  $(5x10^6)$  were lysed in 120 µl ice-cold NP-40 lysis buffer. After 30 min incubation on ice, lysates were centrifuged for 15 min at 13,000 rpm, 4°C. Post-nuclear supernatants were transferred into new tubes containing 30 µl 5x reducing sample buffer and heated for 5 min at 95°C.

For immunoprecipitation,  $20 \times 10^6$  cells were lysed in 500 µl NP-40 lysis buffer, 10% of postnuclear lysate was kept for whole cell analysis and the rest incubated together with 1 mg/ml BSA, the immunoprecipitating antibody and 30 µl protein A sepharose for 2-18 h with gentle rotation at 4°C. Note, that some antibodies were produced from hybridoma cells in our laboratory (see section 2.1.). In this case, the antibody (Ab) was purified from the hybridoma supernatant by affinity chromatography on a column filled with protein A sepharose. The antibody was eluted, concentrated to 6 mg/ml and covalently coupled to CNBr-activated sepharose 4B beads. 30 µl of the Ab-sepharose was then used for immunoprecipitation. Immunoprecipitates were washed five times with 1 ml low detergent NP-40 washing buffer and the immunoprecipitated material was released by heating with 30 µl 1x reducing sample buffer for 5 min at 95°C. To detect the Sam68-p120RasGAP-PAG complex, cells were lysed in 500 µl digitonin lysis buffer and the immunoprecipitates washed afterwards with low digitonin washing buffer.

Whole cell lysate or immunoprecipitates were electrophoretically separated on 10% SDSpolyacrylamide gel (30 µl sample/lane) at 130V and transferred onto nitrocellulose membrane at 140 mA/gel for 1 h 15 min. The blots were blocked in 5% non-fat milk in TBS pH 8 for 1 hour. Primary antibodies were diluted in 2% milk-TBS pH 8 and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature with gentle shaking. Blots were washed three times with TBS + 0.01% Tween 20 (5 min each wash), followed by 45 min incubation with appropriate horseradish-peroxidase conjugated secondary antibody. After three additional washing steps with TBS/Tween, blots were developed using ECL Western Blotting Detection reagents and exposed on Hyperfilm ECL.

#### 2.8. Mass spectrometry (MS)

Reagents and instruments:

Non-reducing sample buffer (2x)

**Bio-Rad** 

**Buffers:** 

Fixative – 10% acetic acid 30% methanol

To identify the p120 protein recognized by anti-DGK alpha antibody using mass spectrometry, the DGK alpha immunoprecipitates were washed with NP-40 washing buffer as described above and heated with non-reducing sample buffer for 5 min at 95°C. The supernatants were then reduced in a new tube by heating with 10 mM dithiothreitol (DTT) for 5 min, 95°C. The cysteines within proteins were modified by incubation with 55 mM iodoacetamide for 30 min in the dark. Samples were loaded onto large 8% polyacrylamide gel and SDS-PAGE was performed. The gel was then fixed for 30 min and stained with Silver. The bands of interest were excised from the gel, digested with trypsin and subjected to MALDI-TOF-MS, which was performed by Dr. Thilo Kähne in the Institute of Internal Medicine, Magdeburg. The results were then compared to the protein database.

## 2.9. Subcellular fractionation

Buffers:

Buffer I – 10 mM Hepes pH 7.9 10 mM KCl 0.1 mM EDTA 0.1 mM EGTA

	1 mM DTT
	1 mM PMSF
	2 mM Na <sub>3</sub> OV <sub>4</sub>
	2 mM NaF
	10 mM sodium pyrophosphate
Buffer II –	1% NP-40
	1% LM
	50 mM Tris pH 7.4
	170 mM NaCl
	1 mM DTT
	1 mM PMSF
	2 mM Na <sub>3</sub> OV <sub>4</sub>
	2 mM NaF
	10 mM sodium pyrophosphate

Cells  $(10x10^6)$  were lysed in 50 µl buffer I for 20 min on ice. Then 3 µl 10% NP-40 was added and the sample incubated for an additional 10 min. Samples were then centrifuged at 2,000 rpm, 5 min, 4°C. Supernatant represented the cytoplasmic fraction containing both the cytosol and the membranes. The pellet was washed twice with buffer I. The pellet was then lysed in 25 µl buffer II for 1 hr at 4°C with agitation, then centrifuged at 13,000 rpm, 10 min, 4°C. Supernatant represented the nuclear fraction.

#### 2.10. Flowcytometry

Reagents and instruments:	
FACS Calibur	Becton Dickinson
Cell Quest Pro software	Becton Dickinson

Cells  $(5x10^5)$  were stained with FITC- or PE- labeled antibodies against CD3 and surface activation markers CD25 and CD69 for 20 min at 4°C. After one wash with cold PBS, samples were measured on a FACS Calibur and the data analyzed using the Cell Quest Pro software.

#### 2.11. Lipid raft preparation

Reagents and instruments:	
80% sucrose	Sigma
dounce homogenizer	Wheaton
ultracentrifuge tubes	Beckmann
Sorval OTD-Combi ultracentrifuge	DuPont Company
rotor TH-660	Sorvall

### **Buffers:**

Brij 58-lysis buffer -3% Brij 58Pierce50 mM Hepes pH 7.4100 mM NaCl100 mM NaCl1 mM PMSF5 mM EDTA1 mM sodium orthovanadate50 mM sodium fluoride10 mM sodium pyrophosphate

MNE buffer – 25 mM MES pH 6.5 5 mM EDTA 150 mM NaCl

To isolate lipid rafts,  $50 \times 10^6$  cells were lysed in 0.5 ml Brij 58-containing lysis buffer for 10 min on ice. Lysates were mixed with 0.5 ml ice-cold 80% sucrose in MNE buffer and homogenized with 10 strokes in a dounce homogenizer. Samples were then transferred into ultracentrifuge tubes and overlaid with 2 ml ice-cold 30% sucrose and 1 ml ice-cold 5% sucrose. The sucrose gradients were centrifuged in Sorval OTD-Combi ultracentrifuge, rotor TH-660, at 44,000 rpm (200,000g), 4°C for 20 hours without brakes. The following day, 10 equal fractions, 400 µl each, were collected from the top of the gradient. Fractions containing lipid rafts were detected by spotting 3 µl of each fraction onto a nitrocellulose membrane, which was then blocked in 5% milk/TBS and probed for the localization of the lipid raft-associated marker CD59.

Sigma

2.12. In vitro	kinase assay	
Reagents and instr	uments:	
Hyperfilm MP		GE Healthcare
Buffers:		
Kinase buffer –	50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4	
	10 mM MnCl <sub>2</sub>	
	0.1% NP-40	
	10 µg acid-denatured enolase	Sigma
	10 μCi [γ- <sup>32</sup> P] ATP	GE Healthcare

Cells ( $10x10^{6}$ /sample) were lysed as described in section 2.7. and immunoprecipitated with either 30 µl PAG-C6 sepharose; 0.5 µl Fyn02 and 30 µl protein A sepharose; or 0.5 µl Lck and 30 µl protein A sepharose for 18h at 4°C with gentle rotation. Immunoprecipitates were washed 5x with NP-40 washing buffer (see 2.7.) and 10% taken for Western blotting analysis. Remaining 90% was resuspended in 40 µl kinase reaction buffer containing [ $\gamma$ -<sup>32</sup>P]-ATP. The reaction was allowed to proceed for 5 min at room temperature and stopped by adding 10 µl 5x sample buffer (see 2.7.) and heating at 95°C for 5 min. Samples were analyzed on 10% SDS-PAGE, the gels were dried and exposed to film for 10 min–6 h at -70°C with intensifying screen.

# 2.13. cAMP measurement

Reagents and instruments:	
cAMP Biotrak Enzymeimmunoassay System	GE Healthcare
ELISA reader Dynatech MR 5000	DPC Biermann GmbH
GraphPad Prism software [version 3.0]	
TMB liquid substrate system	Sigma

Intracellular cyclic AMP levels from  $1 \times 10^5$  T cells were determined using the cAMP Biotrak Enzymeimmunoassay System according to the manufacturers instructions. Briefly, the cells were lysed in 200 µl lysis buffer provided. 100 µl of the lysate or of the cAMP standard dilutions ranging from 12.5-1,600 fmol were inoculated together with rabbit anti-cAMP antiserum into duplicate microplate wells precoated with donkey anti-rabbit immunoglobulin. The plate was incubated for 2 hours in fridge and then 50 µl cAMP-peroxidase conjugate was added, which

#### **METHODS**

competes with the endogenous cAMP of the sample or standard for the binding sites of anticAMP antiserum. After additional 60 min incubation in fridge, the plate was washed and shaked with 150  $\mu$ l/well enzyme substrate TMB at room temperature for 60 min. The intensity of the color reaction was read at 630 nm. Data were analyzed using the GraphPad Prism software.

# 2.14. Transfection

DNA constructs:

Reagents and instruments:	
BTX cuvette, gap size 4 mm	Qbiogene
Gene Pulser II	Bio-Rad
QuickChange <sup>TM</sup> site-directed mutagenesis kit	Stratagene
Nucleofection kit	Amaxa biosystems
Nucleofector instrument	Amaxa biosystems
12-well-plate	TPP

DIVA constructs.	
pEF Bos	Mizushima and Nagata, 1990
wt FLAG-PAG	Brdicka et al., 2000
Y317F-FLAG-PAG	Brdicka et al., 2000
Y181F-FLAG-PAG	Brdicka et al., 2000
Y181/317F-FLAG-PAG	Smida et al., 2007
FLAG-LAT	Brdicka et al., 2002
Fyn	Dr. A. da Silva, Boston, USA
pCMS3-EGFP/Renilla	Smida et al., 2007
pCMS3-EGFP/PAG	Smida et al., 2007
siRNA PAG	Invitrogen
siRNA Renilla	Invitrogen

The Y181/317F-FLAG-PAG construct was generated using the QuickChange site-directed mutagenesis kit according to the manufacturers instructions. For RNA interference, the human sequence 5' GCGAUACAGACUCUCAACATT 3' corresponding to Shima et al. (Shima et al., 2003) was cloned as shRNA into the vector pCMS3-EGFP. As a control, Renilla siRNA was also cloned into pCMS3-EGFP. All constructs were sequenced to ensure integrity.

Jurkat T cells  $(20x10^6)$  grown at a density of 2-5x10<sup>5</sup> cells/ml were washed once with 20 ml PBS with Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Mg<sup>2+</sup> and resuspended in 350 µl PBS. The cells were electroporated in BTX cuvette with 30 µg DNA at 210V, 950 µF using a Bio-Rad Gene Pulser II. 1 ml of prewarmed medium was immediately added to the cells in cuvette, the precipitated DNA was removed and the cells were transferred into 40 ml medium and cultured for 20-24 hours in an incubator. Jurkat cells transfected with siRNA constructs were cultured for 72 hours to ensure protein downregulation.

Primary human T cells  $(3x10^6)$  were washed once with PBS with Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Mg<sup>2+</sup>, resuspended in 100 µl Nucleofector solution and nucleofected with 8 µg siRNA oligonucleotides (of the same sequence as cloned into pCMS3-EGFP) using the Nucleofection kit on a Nucleofector instrument with program U-14. 0.5 ml of prewarmed medium was immediately added to the cells in cuvette and the cells were transferred into 1.5 ml prewarmed medium in 12-well-plate and cultured for 72 hours in an incubator.

## 2.15. Ras activation assay

Reagents and instruments:	
GDP	Sigma
IPTG	BTS
Glutathione-sepharose 4B	GE Healthcare
LB Broth	Sigma
Branson sonifier 450	Branson Ultrasonics
GST- Raf1-RBD	Foschi et al., 1997

#### Buffers:

Starving medium – RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with

0.2% BSA, endotoxin low

50 mM Hepes

Sigma Biochrom AG

Lysis buffer – 25 mM Hepes 150 mM NaCl 1% NP40 10 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> 1 mM EDTA 1 mM PMSF 1 mM sodium orthovanadate 50 mM sodium fluoride

Bacterial lysis buffer – 49.5 ml PBS 25 μl 1M DTT 1 tablet protease inhibitor cocktail Roche 0.5 ml Triton X-100

Cells  $(18 \times 10^6/\text{time point})$  were washed once with 20 ml starving medium and resuspended in 50 ml starving medium. After 2 hours of starving, the cells were stimulated with anti-CD3 (OKT3) plus anti-CD28 supernatants (1:1, 200 µl each) for 0, 1, 2, 5 and 10 minutes at 37°C. Cells were quickly spun down and lysed in 1 ml lysis buffer supplemented with 1 mM GDP, vigorously vortexed and centrifuged at 13,000 rpm, 5 min, 4°C. 10 % of the postnuclear lysate was kept as a loading control and the rest was used for the pull-down assay.

GST-Raf1-Ras binding domain (RBD) was expressed in bacteria by induction with 1 mM IPTG for 3 hours. The bacteria were then sonicated, lysed and the extranuclear lysate was incubated with glutathione-sepharose (120 µl sepharose in 1 ml of bacterial lysate) for 1 hour with gentle rotation at RT. The Raf1-RBD-sepharose was washed twice with 1 ml cold TBS and as 50% slurry with TBS used for pull-down assay. Active Ras was pulled down with 30 µl Raf1-RBD-sepharose by rotating for 35-45 min at 4°C. Pull-downs were washed twice with 0.5 ml lysis buffer (without GDP), heated in 50 µl 2x reducing sample buffer (see 2.7.) at 95°C, 5 min and separated on 14% SDS-PAGE. The gel was then blotted and stained with anti-Pan-Ras antibody to detect precipitated active Ras.

#### 2.16. Scanning and quantification

Western blots were scanned with an Epson Perfection 4990 Photo scanner. The optical density of the bands was determined using Kodak 1D 3.6 software. The fold induction (FI) was then calculated as the density of the band of interest in proportion to the density of the loading control normalized to the value in resting cells.

e.g.  $FI = [(Fyn/Actin)/(Fyn_{rest}/Actin_{rest})]$ 

# 3. Results

# **3.1. Proximal alterations within Anergic T cells**

#### 3.1.1. Induction of Anergic T cells

To prepare anergic T cells, we applied a well established protocol using stimulation of the cells with immobilized anti-CD3 antibodies in the absence of costimulation (Wolf et al., 1994). Note that this is the only system reproducibly shown to induce anergy in naïve T cells *in vitro* (Fathman and Lineberry, 2007). Thus, fresh human PBMCs (peripheral blood mononuclear cells) were isolated from healthy human volunteers by Ficoll gradient centrifugation and T cells were further purified by magnetic separation to more than 95% purity as determined by CD3 versus CD19 staining (Figure 3.1.).



**Figure 3.1. T-cell purity.** T cells were isolated by Ficoll gradient centrifugation and further purified by magnetic separation (MACS). The purity was determined by staining with CD3 and CD19 antibodies and measuring by flow cytometry. Result from one representative experiment is shown. Note that T cells used in all the experiments were of more than 95% purity. Also please note that all the experiments were performed at least three times and always one representative experiment is shown.

Purified T cells were then divided into three populations. The first population was left untreated and is referred to as *Resting* cells. The second population was inoculated into anti-CD3-coated plastic plates and cultured for three days to induce anergy (= *Anergic* cells). The third population, so called *Rescued* cells, was cultured also in anti-CD3 coated plates, but received additionally the phorbol ester PMA (phorbol myristate acetate) to mimic costimulation and thereby prevent anergy. After three days of culture, *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells proliferated as expected and increased their numbers approximately 3 - 4 fold (Figure 3.2.).



**Figure 3.2.** *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells proliferate on CD3-coated plates. Purified T cells (6x10<sup>5</sup>) were inoculated into plastic plates coated with either no antibody (*Resting*), anti-CD3 (*Anergic*) or with anti-CD3 plus PMA (*Rescued*). Averaged cell numbers and standard deviations from 10 experiments after 3 days of culture are shown.



Figure 3.3. Anergic and Rescued cells upregulate activation markers. Expression of activation markers CD25 (top) and CD69 (bottom) upon Resting, Anergic and Rescued cells after 3 days of culture was analyzed by staining with appropriate antibodies and measuring by flow cytometry. Results from one representative experiment are shown.

Proliferation was accompanied by an upregulation of the surface activation markers CD25 and CD69 as measured by flow cytometry (Figure 3.3.). Whereas the late activation marker CD25 was still expressed at high levels (top panels), the early activation marker CD69 was already being downregulated after three days of stimulation (bottom panels).

Following 3 days of culture, the cells were allowed to rest without stimulus for 1 additional day and then restimulated with no stimulus, anti-CD3 alone, anti-CD3 plus anti-CD28 or anti-CD3 plus IL-2 to demonstrate that the cells are anergic (Figure 3.4.). The cells do not proliferate without stimulus, showing that they are indeed rested. The *Resting* cells will proliferate to all stimuli (white bars), as is the case also of the *Rescued* cells. The magnitude of *Rescued* cells already possess a preactivated phenotype. On the contrary, *Anergic* cells (black bars) will not proliferate when restimulated with either anti-CD3 alone or anti-CD3 plus anti-CD28. However, this proliferative block is broken by adding exogenous IL-2 to the culture. This is because these cells are not able to produce their own IL-2, indicating that these cells are indeed anergic (Jenkins et al., 1987).



**Figure 3.4.** *Anergic* **T** cells are able to proliferate only in response to exogenous IL-2. *Resting* (white bars), *Anergic* (black bars) and *Rescued* (grey bars) cells were restimulated with no stimulus, anti-CD3, anti-CD3 plus anti-CD28 and anti-CD3 plus IL-2 and the proliferation after 72h was assessed by <sup>3</sup>H-thymidine incorporation. Average values and standard deviations from triplicate wells of one representative experiment are shown. Data were analyzed using one-way ANOVA (\*\* p<0.01, \*\*\* p<0.001).

However, we also needed to show that we are in fact not inducing the expansion of regulatory T cells (Tregs), which are also unresponsive and would additionally suppress the proliferation of other T cells. Regulatory T cells are known to have a markedly upregulated expression of the transcription factor FoxP3 (Hori et al., 2003; Fontenot et al., 2003), which has become their main characteristic. Therefore, to exclude the possibility of Tregs induction in our culture, we immunoblotted lysates of *Resting*, *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells with an antibody against FoxP3. To determine the basal level of FoxP3 expression in normal cells, lysates of Th cells were used and compared to Tregs, the positive control. As shown in figure 3.5., Tregs indeed possess an increase amount of FoxP3 on the protein level compared to Th cells. On the contrary, there is no increase in FoxP3 expression in any of our cultures, indicating that we are not inducing regulatory T cells.



**Figure 3.5.** Absent induction of FoxP3 in the unresponsive cells. Lysates of *Resting*, *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells were imunoblotted with anti-FoxP3 antibody. Lysates of Th and Treg cells were included as negative and positive control, respectively. Actin staining is shown for equal loading.

#### 3.1.2. Increased Fyn activity and expression within Anergic T cells

We next investigated whether our anergic cells also upregulate the level of Fyn protein and/or kinase activity as originally described (Quill et al., 1992; Gajewski et al., 1994; Gajewski et al., 1995). *Resting, Anergic* and *Rescued* cells were lysed, Fyn and Lck were immunoprecipitated and *in vitro* kinase assays (IVKs) were performed (Figure 3.6.). An exogenous substrate of Src kinases, acid-denatured enolase, was added to the IVK reactions. We found that both Fyn autophosphorylation and phosphorylation of the substrate enolase were dramatically enhanced in *Anergic* cells compared to the *Resting* sample and approximately 2-fold increased when compared to the *Rescued* cells, meaning that Fyn is hyperactive in anergic cells. (Figure 3.6.A).

The levels of phosphorylation were normalized with respect to Fyn protein levels and are presented as relative ratios. Lck activity, however, was only slightly increased compared to *Rescued* cells as visible by the phosphorylation of enolase (Figure 3.6.B). Lck autophosphorylation was not detected, because the antibody chosen for immunoprecipitation (IP) seems to preferentially recognize the autophosphorylated form of Lck. We additionally determined the expression levels of Fyn and Lck and observed a specific increase in the expression level of Fyn in *Anergic* cells [1:2,6:1,6], but only a marginal increase in Lck expression that was also detected in *Rescued* cells [1:1,7:1,7] (Figure 3.6.C).



**Figure 3.6.** *Anergic* cells show markedly enhanced Fyn kinase activity. Fyn (A) and Lck (B) were immunoprecipitated from *Resting (Rest.)*, *Anergic (Aner.)* and *Rescued (Resc.)* T cells and *in vitro* kinase (IVK) assays were performed. Phosphorylation was visualised by autoradiography. The amount of precipitated kinase was detected by immunoblotting with specific antibodies. Phosphorylation of Fyn and enolase were normalized to the level of precipitated kinase and are presented here as the fold induction (FI) of the *Resting cells* value. (C) Expression of Fyn and Lck in whole cell lysates is shown and normalized to the amount of actin.

#### 3.1.3. Altered phosphorylation profile in Anergic T cells

Due to the increase in SFK activity, we next examined the global tyrosine phosphorylation in whole lysates. *Resting, Anergic* and *Rescued* cells were either left untreated (-) or rechallenged with anti-CD3 antibody for 2 minutes (+), lysed and subjected to Western blotting (Figure 3.7.). The basal tyrosine phosphorylation in *Anergic* cells is markedly increased when compared to *Resting* cells and corresponds more to that seen in *Rescued* cells. Whereas the only protein phosphorylation observed in *Resting* cells is that of PAG, Src kinases and the constitutive basal phosphorylation of ITAMs within TCR-zeta chains, *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells show a dramatic increase in phosphorylation at 55 kDa (i.e. phosphorylation of Src kinases), in the range of 60-80 kDa and around 30 kDa. Additionally, *Anergic* cells also react differently upon TCR restimulation and show an increased number of phosphorylated proteins. Further experiments have excluded that the band induced at 30 kDa is either the Lck interacting molecule (LIME) or the non-T-cell activation linker (NTAL), two adapter proteins involved in immunoreceptor signaling (Brdickova et al., 2003; Brdicka et al., 2002) (data not shown). It is important to point out that since both *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells originally received the same stimulus via the TCR, the pattern observed with anti-phosphotyrosine staining is quite similar.



**Figure 3.7.** *Anergic* **cells have altered phosphotyrosine profile.** *Resting*, *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells were either left untreated (-) or restimulated with anti-CD3 antibody for 2 minutes (+). The cells were lysed, subjected to Western blotting and probed with anti-phosphotyrosine antibody (4G10) to show changes in overall phosphorylation pattern. Actin staining is shown for equal loading.

The difference between these cells is found more distal in the signaling cascade. *Rescued* cells received additional stimulation via PMA, an analogue of diacylglycerol, which acts directly upon PKC- $\theta$  (protein kinase C theta) and RasGRP (Ras guanyl releasing protein) to activate Ras and promote transcription, thereby preventing anergy induction.

#### 3.1.4. Defective proximal signaling in Anergic T cells

We next investigated the alterations in proximal signaling caused by the induction of anergy. One of the most proximal events upon TCR triggering is the phosphorylation of zeta chain associated with the TCR complex (see 1.4.3.). This is followed by the recruitment and activation of ZAP70, which in turn phosphorylates the adaptor protein LAT (Zhang et al., 1998). Figure 3.8. shows that the phosphorylation of the zeta chains upon TCR triggering is almost completely abolished in both *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells in comparison with *Resting* cells. Note that *Anergic* cells possess an even more profound defect, having only 50% of the zeta-phosphorylation seen in the *Rescued* sample (compare FI of lane 4 versus lane 6, left panel). However, the phosphorylation of LAT is undetectable in both the *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells. Thus, the proximal signaling appears to be affected to the similar extent in both cell populations, which reflects the fact that both *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells originally received the same stimulus via the TCR.



**Figure 3.8.** *Anergic* cells have abolished phosphorylation of zeta chain and LAT. *Resting*, *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells were either left untreated (-) or restimulated with anti-CD3 antibody for 2 minutes (+). The cells were lysed and zeta chain (left panel) or LAT (right panel) were immunoprecipitated. Western blots of phosphotyrosine staining (4G10) and total protein are shown. The amount of zeta chain phosphorylation was normalized to the total zeta immunoprecipitated and is presented as the fold induction (FI) of the *Resting cell* value.

## 3.2. Alterations within PAG-associated complex in Anergic T cells

#### 3.2.1. PAG-associated kinase activity is enhanced in Anergic T cells

Considering the fact that Fyn constitutively associates with PAG and that we found enhanced Fyn activity in anergic cells, we were interested in whether also the activity of the Fyn pool bound to PAG had specifically increased. Thus, we performed *in vitro* kinase assays on PAG immunoprecipitates and found markedly enhanced phosphorylation of the substrate enolase in *Anergic* cells when compared to both the *Resting* and *Rescued* cells (Figure 3.9.). Interestingly, it seems that PAG is the preferred substrate for Fyn as we observed only very minor phosphorylation of enolase in *Resting* cells, despite clear PAG phosphorylation meaning that Fyn was indeed active. Note that Fyn kinase levels coprecipitated with PAG were similar throughout the samples and thus the differences in phosphorylation are indeed caused by increased kinase activity and not by an increased amount of Fyn associated to PAG.



**Figure 3.9.** *Anergic* cells show markedly enhanced PAG-associated Fyn kinase activity. PAG was immunoprecipitated from *Resting (Rest.), Anergic (Aner.)* and *Rescued (Resc.)* T cells and *in vitro* kinase (IVK) assays were performed. Phosphorylation was visualised by autoradiography. The amount of precipitated PAG and coprecipitated Fyn was detected by immunoblotting with specific antibodies. Phosphorylation of enolase was normalized with respect to the level of precipitated PAG and is presented here as the fold induction (FI) of the *Resting cell* value.

# 3.2.2. PAG is hyperphosphorylated at Y<sup>317</sup> in Anergic T cells

Since Fyn is the kinase primarily responsible for PAG phosphorylation and we observed an increase in PAG-associated Fyn kinase activity, we next investigated PAG phosphorylation and its changes upon restimulation of the cells (Figure 3.10.). Note that in the resting state, PAG is phosphorylated and becomes dephosphorylated by an unknown phosphatase upon TCR stimulation, thereby releasing Csk and allowing T-cell activation (see 1.6.4.). Probing the Western blots of whole cell lysates with a phospho-specific antibody to the Csk binding site (pY317) showed that PAG becomes hyperphosphorylated during anergy induction. An increase in PAG phosphorylation was also observed in Rescued cells, but the increase in phosphorylation was not so dramatic as in the case of Anergic cells. Upon restimulation, PAG becomes dephosphorylated in all samples, including Anergic cells, indicating that the phosphatase is still active. However, in Anergic cells the level of PAG dephosphorylation upon restimulation never falls below the level observed in unstimulated Resting T cells. On the other hand, upon TCR triggering of the *Rescued* cells, PAG is rapidly dephosphorylated to the same level as in restimulated Resting T cells. Also note that the expression of PAG protein does not seem to be altered by the induction of anergy. We have quantified the level of PAG phosphorylation, since the expression of phospho-PAG in the cells is, as we believe, the critical event for the regulation of signaling.



Figure 3.10. PAG is hyperphosphorylated in *Anergic* cells. *Resting*, *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells were either left untreated (-) or restimulated with anti-CD3 antibody for 2 minutes (+). The cells were lysed, separated by SDS-PAGE, subjected to Western blotting and probed with a phospho-specific antibody recognizing  $pY^{317}$  of PAG and with an antibody against total PAG. Actin staining is shown for equal loading. The level of phospho-PAG in the cells (determined by  $Y^{317}$  phosphorylation) was normalized to actin and is presented as the fold induction (FI) of the *Resting cell* value.

#### 3.2.3. Hyperphosphorylated PAG recruits more Csk in Anergic T cells

Having found that PAG becomes hyperphosphorylated in *Anergic* cells, we next wanted to analyze how does this hyperphosphorylation affect the amount of the proteins associated to PAG. Therefore we immunoprecipitated PAG from untreated or restimulated cells and probed by Western blotting for the presence of Fyn and Csk (Figure 3.11.). Here we demonstrate that hyperphosphorylation of  $Y^{317}$  observed in *Anergic* cells leads also to an enhanced Csk recruitment to PAG. In *Resting* and *Rescued* cells, Csk association decreases upon TCR restimulation, whereas in *Anergic* cells, Csk is only partially lost, but the Csk level is still increased compared to *Resting* unstimulated cells. Fyn association, which was proposed to be phosphorylation-independent (Brdicka et al., 2000), was largely unchanged in these samples.



**Figure 3.11. Hyperphosphorylated PAG recruits more Csk in** *Anergic* **cells.** *Resting*, *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells were either left untreated (-) or restimulated with anti-CD3 antibody for 2 minutes (+). PAG was immunoprecipitated and the associated proteins detected by immunoblotting with anti-Csk and anti-Fyn antibody. The amount of Csk co-precipitated with PAG was normalized to the PAG level and is presented as the fold induction (FI) of the *Resting cell* value.

# **3.2.4.** Elevated levels of the PAG-Csk complex create an inhibitory environment in *Anergic* cells

Once Csk is recruited by PAG to the plasma membrane, it can phosphorylate the inhibitory tyrosines within the C-terminus of the Src kinases. Since we observe increased Csk association with PAG, we next investigated whether the phosphorylation of the inhibitory tyrosine residues within the SFKs was altered. Thus, whole cell lysates from *Resting*, *Anergic* and *Activated* cells

were probed with phospho-specific antibodies against the inhibitory tyrosine of Fyn ( $Y^{529}$ ) and Lck ( $Y^{505}$ ), and against their activatory tyrosine residues  $Y^{418}$  or  $Y^{394}$ , respectively (Figure 3.12.). Reflecting the increased Csk recruitment, we found a 2-fold enhancement in the phosphorylation of the inhibitory tyrosine within Fyn in *Anergic* cells (Figure 3.12.A, upper panel). We also observed increased levels of  $Y^{529}$  phosphorylation in *Rescued* cells, but this change was not as dramatic as that seen in *Anergic* cells. In contrast, the inhibitory tyrosine within Lck is not altered in *Anergic* cells. This we attribute to the fact that little Lck resides within lipid rafts (Yasuda et al., 2002; Filipp et al., 2003) where the PAG-Csk complex is located (Figure 3.12.B, upper panel). Surprisingly, we observed a mild decrease in the phosphorylation status of the activatory tyrosines in both Fyn and Lck in *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells (Figure 3.12.A and B, lower panels). Since both protein tyrosine kinases show substantially increased kinase activity (compare Figure 3.6.), we conclude that autophosphorylation is probably not a direct measure of kinase activity.



Figure 3.12. Fyn possesses increased inhibitory tyrosine phosphorylation in *Anergic* cells. (A) Whole lysates of *Resting* (*Rest.*), *Anergic* (*Aner.*) and *Rescued* (*Resc.*) T cells were immunoblotted with phosphospecific antibodies against the inhibitory ( $Y^{529}$ ; upper panel) and activatory ( $Y^{418}$ ; lower panel) tyrosines of Fyn. The level of phosphorylation was normalized to the total amount of Fyn and is presented as the fold induction (FI) of the *Resting cell* value. (B) The same lysates as in A were probed with phosphospecific antibodies against the inhibitory ( $Y^{505}$ ; upper panel) and activatory ( $Y^{394}$ ; lower panel) tyrosine of Lck and the phosphorylation was normalized to the total amount of kinase.

# 3.2.5. Increased cAMP level and pSer<sup>364</sup>-Csk in Anergic T cells

There are two explanations for the increased phosphorylation of the inhibitory tyrosine within Fyn observed in *Anergic* cells. It may be either due to a decrease in phosphatase activity or on the contrary to an increase in kinase activity, which would result from enhanced Csk recruitment to the lipid rafts and/or increased Csk activity. Although we indeed observed increased amounts of Csk associated with PAG in *Anergic* cells compared to *Resting* cells (Figure 3.11.), the amount was basically equal to that in unstimulated *Rescued* cells. Therefore we presumed that there might be difference in Csk activity between *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells, which is responsible for the specific increase in Fyn inhibitory tyrosine phosphorylation observed in *Anergic* cells. Csk activity was shown to be enhanced upon binding to PAG and additionally upon Ser<sup>364</sup> phosphorylation through PKA (cAMP-dependent protein kinase). As cAMP levels increase upon TCR triggering, we measured the cAMP levels in our cells (Figure 3.13.A). We indeed found an approximately 2,5-fold increase in cAMP levels in *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells compared to *Resting* cells. Next we investigated the phosphorylation status of Csk using the phospho-specific



Figure 3.13. Anergic cells contain both increased cAMP levels and augmented Ser<sup>364</sup>-Csk phosphorylation. (A) *Resting*, *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells were lysed and cAMP levels measured using the cAMP Biotrak Enzymeimmunoassay System. The mean values and standard deviations from four independent experiments are shown. Data were analyzed using one-way ANOVA (\*\* p<0.01). (B) The level of Ser<sup>364</sup> phosphorylation within Csk was determined by Western blotting. Total Csk staining is shown for equal loading. The level of phosphorylation normalized to total Csk is presented as the fold induction (FI) of the *Resting* cell value. antibody against Ser<sup>364</sup> (Yagub et al., 2003) (Figure 3.13.B). We observed an approximately 20% increase in PKA-dependent phosphorylation at Ser<sup>364</sup> of Csk in *Anergic* cells, whereas there was a decrease in Ser<sup>364</sup> phosphorylation in *Rescued* cells. Although it does not seem to be proportional with the elevations of the cAMP levels, the increase in pSer-Csk argues for an increased activity of Csk specifically in *Anergic* cells. However, the increase in Fyn inhibitory tyrosine phosphorylation was much higher (+100%) than the increase in Ser<sup>364</sup>-Csk phosphorylation and therefore we must conclude that it is also the phosphatase activity of either CD45 or RPTP $\alpha$  that is altered in *Anergic* cells and thus contributing to the differences in Fyn inhibitory tyrosine phosphorylation observed (Figure 3.12.A).

# 3.2.6. Fyn is dually phosphorylated on its $Y^{529}$ and $Y^{215}$ in *Anergic* T cells

A somewhat puzzling observation is the fact that we observe increased inhibitory tyrosine phosphorylation and, simultaneously, increased kinase activity of Fyn in anergic cells. Normally, one would expect phosphorylation of inhibitory tyrosine to lead to a closed conformation of the kinase and thereby inhibit its activity. However, phosphorylation of the inhibitory tyrosine may, in some cases, lead to a hyperactive state if a tyrosine located within the SH2 domain of the Src kinase is also phosphorylated at the same time (Stover et al., 1996). To investigate whether this mechanism applies to our system, we probed whole lysates from *Resting*, *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells with a phospho-specific antibody to the tyrosine within SH2 domain of the SFKs (i.e.  $pY^{215}$ ) (Vadlamudi et al., 2003) (Figure 3.14.A). Interestingly, we observed an increase in Y<sup>215</sup> phosphorylation in both Anergic and Rescued cells. However the epitope recognized by this antibody is conserved among the SFKs and therefore it is difficult to judge which kinase is responsible for the increased staining. To solve this problem, we decided to immunoprecipitate Src kinases with the anti-pY215 antibody and reprobe for the presence of Fyn (Figure 3.14.B). The phosphorylation of Y<sup>215</sup> within Fyn is clearly enhanced in *Anergic* cells compared to both the Resting and Rescued cells and even further increases upon TCR triggering. Reprobing the same blot with a phosphospecific antibody against  $Y^{529}$  demonstrates that Fyn phosphorylated on  $Y^{215}$ is simultaneously phosphorylated also on its inhibitory tyrosine. This in turn results in the hyperactive state of Fyn observed in Anergic cells. Interestingly, Lck does not seem to follow the same kinetic as Fyn and its Y<sup>215</sup> is rather dephosphorylated upon restimulation of *Resting* and Anergic cells.



**Figure 3.14.** *Anergic* **cells possess increased phosphorylation of Y<sup>215</sup> within SH2 domain of Fyn.** (A) Whole cell lysates of *Resting, Anergic* and *Rescued* cells were immunoblotted with antibodies against phospho-Y<sup>215</sup>, Fyn and actin. (B) Lysates from A were used for immunoprecipitation with pY215 antibody, samples were resolved by SDS-PAGE, blotted and probed for the presence of Fyn, pY529 and Lck.

# **3.2.7.** Increased Fyn kinase activity and inhibitory tyrosine phosphorylation within the lipid rafts of *Anergic* T cells

Fyn and Lck kinases are differentially localized within the plasma membrane and this spatial distribution is believed to be important for their proper activation and function (Filipp et al., 2003). As we observed a specific increase in both protein level and kinase activity for Fyn in whole lysates of anergic cells, we looked to see whether the localization and/or activity within the lipid rafts and the non-raft fraction had changed. Therefore, we lysed the cells and isolated lipid rafts by sucrose density gradient centrifugation. Aliquots of fractions taken from the gradient were spotted onto nitrocellulose and the raft-containing fractions identified using an antibody against CD59, a known lipid raft-associated protein (data not shown). Pooled raft-containing fractions (fractions 2-4) and non-raft fractions (fractions 9-10) from Resting, Anergic and Rescued cells were then analyzed by Western blotting and the distribution of Fyn and Lck within the various fractions was detected with specific antibodies (Figure 3.15.A). As previously described, Fyn was mainly localized in the lipid raft fractions, whereas Lck is found predominantly outside of the lipid rafts. We observed increased expression of both Fyn and Lck in Anergic and Rescued cells in comparison to the Resting sample. However, this increase was observed in both the rafts as well as the non-raft fractions and no specific shift in the localization of these kinases upon anergy induction was found.

Consequently, Fyn and Lck were immunoprecipitated from either lipid rafts or the non-raft fractions and *in vitro* kinase assays were performed (Figure 3.15.B). We observed that Fyn kinase activity predominates within lipid rafts, whereas the non-raft-fractions had to be exposed for an extended time to obtain a good signal. In agreement with the previously observed Fyn hyperactivity in whole lysates (Figure 3.6.), we again found augmented Fyn kinase activity in both the raft and non-raft compartment of *Anergic* cells (Figure 3.15.B, upper panel). This suggests that the distribution of Fyn activity within the membrane is not altered by anergy induction. Additionally, the localization of Lck activity was not disturbed and moreover, we did not find dramatic changes regarding Lck activity in *Anergic* cells in comparison with other samples (Figure 3.15.B, lower panel).

Since we found a dramatic increase in the inhibitory tyrosine phosphorylation of Fyn in *Anergic* cells, we were further interested whether this change was specific to a certain membrane compartment. Therefore we probed the blots of pooled lipid raft and non-raft fractions with phosphospecific antibodies against the activatory and inhibitory tyrosines of Fyn and Lck (Figure 3.15.C). The phosphorylation of the activatory tyrosine ( $Y^{418}$  or  $Y^{394}$  respectively) seems to be unchanged for both Fyn and Lck and we also do not observe any remarkable changes in phosphorylation of the inhibitory tyrosine of Lck ( $Y^{505}$ ), neither in the lipid rafts nor outside. On the contrary, our results clearly demonstrate a specific increase in the phosphorylation of the inhibitory tyrosine of lipid rafts. Thus, the dramatic increase in the phosphorylation of the inhibitory tyrosine of Fyn observed in whole lysates of *Anergic* cells (compare figure 3.12.) seems to be preferentially located in the lipid rafts where the bulk of Fyn and the PAG-Csk complex reside.

A



B





С



64

**Figure 3.15.** *Anergic* cells possess enhanced Fyn kinase activity and increased inhibitory tyrosine phosphorylation of Fyn in lipid rafts. (A) *Resting*, *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells were lysed and subjected to sucrose density gradient centrifugation. Fractions containing lipid rafts (fr. 2-4) and heavy fractions (fr. 9-10) were pooled, subjected to SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted with antibodies against total Fyn and Lck, respectively. (B) Fyn (upper panel) or Lck (lower panel) were immunoprecipitated from pooled raft-fractions (fr. 2-4) and non-raft-fractions (fr. 9-10) from A and subjected to *in vitro* kinase assay (IVK). Phosphorylation was visualized by autoradiography. The amount of precipitated kinase was detected by immunoblotting with specific antibodies. Note that Fyn IVK and immunoblot from fractions 9-10 were exposed for extended time due to low Fyn localization in these fractions. (C) The blots from A were reprobed with phospho-specific antibody (pY418) recognizing the activatory tyrosine of both Fyn (Y<sup>418</sup>) and Lck (Y<sup>394</sup>) and with phospho-specific antibodies against the inhibitory tyrosine of Fyn (pY529) and Lck (pY505). Bands corresponding to Fyn and Lck in pY418 staining are marked.

# **3.3.** PAG forms a novel multiprotein complex, which regulates Ras activation

#### 3.3.1. Increased expression of Sam68 and p120RasGAP

In the previous section, we have identified a mechanism that leads to the hyper-activation of Fyn kinase and consequently to an increased Csk recruitment and alterations in proximal signaling. This mechanism, however, does not explain the connection between increased Fyn kinase activity and the block in Ras activation, a key feature of anergic T cells. If such a link between Fyn and Ras exists, we hypothesized that the candidate protein (or proteins) must be a substrate of Fyn and must possess the ability to attenuate Ras activity, either directly or indirectly, i.e. by recruiting Ras GTPase-activating proteins (RasGAPs). Since we observed an increased phosphorylation of proteins in the range of 60 - 80 kDa in Anergic cells (see Figure 3.7.), we hypothesized that the protein should be of this size. Therefore we searched the literature and found two candidates that fulfilled our criteria in addition to p120RasGAP itself - the nuclear/cytosolic protein Sam68 (Src-associated in mitosis of 68 kDa) (Najib et al., 2005) and the cytosolic adaptor protein p62Dok (Downstream of kinase; Dok1) (Yamanashi and Baltimore, 1997). Both of these proteins are phosphorylated by Fyn and were shown to associate with p120RasGAP, the main RasGAP within T cells (Guitard et al., 1998; Jabado et al., 1998; Yamanashi and Baltimore, 1997). We first investigated the expression of these proteins by probing post-nuclear lysates from Resting, Anergic and Rescued cells with antibodies specific for Sam68, p62Dok and p120RasGAP. Interestingly, we found that the expression of both Sam68 and p120RasGAP is enhanced in Anergic and Rescued cells, whereas p62Dok was not altered (Figure 3.16.A and data not shown).

However, Sam68 seems to be drastically upregulated also in *Resting* cells already after 2 minutes of stimulation (Figure 3.16.A, lane 2). One has to realize though, that these are postnuclear lysates of cells and that Sam68 is an RNA-binding protein that shuttles from the cytosol into the nucleus and back. Indeed, it was shown that, upon stimulation of T cells, Sam68 is rapidly phosphorylated by Fyn (Fusaki et al., 1997) and that Sam68 phosphorylation negatively correlates with its nuclear localization and retains the protein in the cytosol (Wang et al., 1995). To determine whether Sam68 is upregulated in *Anergic* cells or whether only the intracellular distribution of Sam68 is altered, we applied a different fractionation protocol using different lysing conditions to separate the nuclear and cytosolic fractions; note that cytosol in this case
contains both the cytoplasm and the membranes. Using this other fractionation approach, the cytosolic fraction of Sam68 appeared to be unchanged, however we observed a clear increase in Sam68 within the nuclear fraction of *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells (Figure 3.16.B). Thus, it appears that the expression of total Sam68 is indeed increased.



**Figure 3.16. Increased expression of Sam68 and p120RasGAP.** (A) *Resting, Anergic* and *Rescued* cells were either left untreated (-) or restimulated with anti-CD3 antibody for 2 minutes (+). Postnuclear lysates were immunoblotted and probed for the expression of Sam68 and p120RasGAP. Actin staining is shown for equal loading. (B) Cytosolic and nuclear fractions were prepared from *Resting, Anergic* and *Rescued* cells and blotted with antibody against Sam68. GAPDH and Lamin A staining is presented as marker for cytosolic and nuclear fraction, respectively.

# 3.3.2. PAG forms a novel multiprotein complex consisting of PAG, Fyn, Sam68 and p120RasGAP

Since it had been suggested using GST-SH2-pulldown assays that p120RasGAP could directly associate with PAG (Brdicka et al., 2000; Durrheim et al., 2001), we next wanted to investigate whether this interaction occurs also *in vivo*. Additionally, since Sam68 was shown to

associate with p120RasGAP (Jabado et al., 1998), we were also interested to see whether we could find Sam68 in a complex with PAG as well. Therefore, we immunoprecipitated PAG from *Resting*, *Anergic* and *Rescued* cell lysates and looked for the presence of Sam68 and p120RasGAP (Figure 3.17.A). Recall that we have already earlier investigated the association of Fyn and PAG and found this to be unchanged upon anergy induction (Figure 3.11.). Panel A shows that there is a very weak association of p120RasGAP and Sam68 with PAG in *Resting* T cells, but this interaction clearly increases upon prolonged stimulation of the cells (i.e. in *Anergic* 



**Figure 3.17. Sam68 and p120RasGAP associate with PAG.** (A) *Resting, Anergic* and *Rescued* cells were either left untreated (-) or restimulated with anti-CD3 antibody for 2 minutes (+). PAG was immunoprecipitated from the lysates and associated proteins detected by immunoblotting with anti-p120RasGAP and anti-Sam68 antibody. The amount of precipitated material is shown with anti-PAG staining. (B) Purified T cells were cultured in the presence (+) or absence (-) of PMA for three days. PAG was immunoprecipitated and associated Sam68 detected by immunoblotting. (C) Samples prepared as in A were used to immunoprecipitate Sam68 and then probed with anti-p120RasGAP, anti-PAG and anti-Fyn antibodies. The amount of precipitated material is shown by probing with anti-Sam68 antibody.

and *Rescued* cells). Restimulation of the cells for 2 minutes appears not to affect the extent of p120RasGAP-PAG interaction. The abundant association of Sam68 upon restimulation of *Rescued* cells is partially the additive effect of PMA treatment itself, as we could also induce some Sam68-PAG association by treating T cells with PMA alone (Figure 3.17.B). Indeed, it was recently shown that the Ser/Thr phosphorylation influences the localization of Sam68 (Paronetto et al., 2006) and thus PMA may prime Sam68 for nuclear export.

To confirm the specificity of these interactions, we performed the reciprocal experiment by precipitating Sam68 and looking for p120RasGAP, PAG and Fyn association (Figure 3.17.C). Sam68 binds p120RasGAP in both Anergic and Rescued cells, but not in Resting state. Surprisingly, Sam68 appears to be constitutively associated with Fyn and PAG in all samples. That we can detect PAG association in Sam68-IP's from Resting cells, but not Sam68 in PAG-IP's, may simply result from the inability of the PAG antibody to recognize its epitope within the complex. However, we can clearly detect the complex in Anergic and Rescued cells when the amount of Sam68 and the phosphorylation of proteins in the cell increase, suggesting that we are at the limit of detectability in *Resting* cells. Also note that the abundant association of Sam68 with PAG in restimulated Rescued cells (3.17.A, last lane) was not visible in Sam68 immunoprecipitates (3.17.C, last lane). One explanation would be that Sam68 oligomerizes (Chen et al., 1997) and by precipitating PAG we would then coprecipitate also oligomerized Sam68 bound to it. Whereas if we perform Sam68 IP, the antibody could disturb oligomerization by competing for the same epitope. Alternatively, since we propose that Sam68 is phosphorylated on Ser/Thr after treatment with PMA (see above), such a phosphorylation could affect binding affinity and/or epitope accessibility for the Sam68 antibody towards the native versus denatured protein. Taken together, these results suggest that PAG forms a novel multiprotein complex consisting of PAG, Fyn, Sam68 and p120RasGAP.

# 3.3.3. PAG negatively regulates Ras activation

In the previous section, we have identified a novel complex containing PAG, Fyn, Sam68 and p120RasGAP. Since PAG is constitutively present in lipid rafts, recruiting p120RasGAP into this compartment would be an ideal mechanism of Ras regulation, since Ras-GDP is also lipid raft-associated (Prior at el., 2001). Thereby, p120RasGAP localized within the lipid rafts would be

perfectly positioned to inactivate any Ras-GTP that is formed before it had the chance to translocate and fulfill its function. Recall that LAT, the adaptor required for recruiting the activators of Ras (i.e. Sos and RasGRP), is also localized within the lipid rafts. To test whether the PAG-associated complex is indeed involved in Ras regulation, we switched to a different system and used the Jurkat T-cell line, since these cells can be easily transfected and consequently Ras assays can be performed, which require large amounts of cells. Thus, Jurkat T cells were transfected with constructs encoding PAG and Fyn, thereby attempting to mimic the situation observed in Anergic T cells. Consequently, the cells were stimulated and active Ras was pulled down using the GST-Raf1-RBD (Ras binding domain) construct (Foschi et al., 1997). This construct contains the Ras binding domain of Raf1, the main downstream effector of Ras, which binds specifically only to active Ras. Since the RBD is tagged with GST, one can easily isolate active Ras bound to the GST-RBD with glutathione-sepharose. Total Ras and active Ras in pulldowns were detected by imunoblotting with a pan-Ras antibody (Figure 3.18.). Cells transfected with vector alone activate Ras with normal kinetic peaking at 1 to 2 minutes (Figure 3.18.A). Remarkably, cells expressing PAG together with Fyn demonstrate complete suppression of Ras activation. To prove that this is not simply the result of a disturbed lipid raft organization caused by PAG overexpression, we used another lipid raft marker LAT. The cotransfection of LAT together with Fyn, however, did not block Ras activation (Figure 3.18.A). The Ras kinetic in this sample seems to be slightly faster compared to vector alone, which is not so surprising since LAT recruits Grb2/Sos and PLCy1, both of which contribute to Ras activation. Panel B shows that the overexpression of Fyn alone does not disturb the Ras kinetic. Cells expressing PAG alone show a more truncated response, although the peak is comparable to the Fyn-transfected cells. Thus, only the cells expressing both PAG and Fyn demonstrate strong suppression of Ras activation (Figure 3.18.B). Interestingly, the ability to block Ras activation appears to correspond with the level of PAG phosphorylation, as indicated by pY317 staining (Figure 3.18.C). These results suggest that a hyper-phosphorylated PAG can recruit other proteins, probably via SH2 or PTB domains, that are able to block Ras activation. However, one could also hypothesize that a hyperphosphorylated PAG recruits more Csk and thereby suppresses Src kinases activation, blocking LAT phosphorylation and consequently Ras activation. To exclude this possibility, we decided to repeat the Ras assay using the PAG Y317F mutant, which is unable to bind Csk.

# A



B







Figure 3.18. PAG overexpression together with Fyn blocks Ras activation. (A) and (B) Jurkat T cells were transfected either with empty vector or with constructs encoding FLAG-PAG, FLAG-LAT and Fyn. Cells were then stimulated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 antibodies for the indicated time and lysed. Active Ras was pulled-down using GST-Raf1-RBD (left panels). Total Ras is shown to prove that equal amounts of lysates were used for the assay (right panels). A quantitative analysis of the data is shown under appropriate pull-down assay. (C) Total expression of various constructs and phosphorylation of  $Y^{317}$  after transfection is presented here.

# 3.3.4. Basic characterization of Y317F mutant of PAG

First, we needed to characterize the PAG Y317F mutant to show that the mutated protein functions as expected. Replacing tyrosine 317 with phenylalanine abrogates Csk binding (Brdicka et al., 2000) and thus Csk is no longer recruited to the membrane and cannot phosphorylate the inhibitory tyrosine within the Src kinases. Therefore Jurkat T cells were transfected with Fyn alone or Fyn in combination with either FLAG-tagged wildtype (wt) PAG or the Y317F mutant and the lysates were immunoblotted with a phospho-specific antibody to the inhibitory tyrosine of Fyn (pY<sup>529</sup>) (Figure 3.19.A). As expected, expression of wt PAG markedly increased the phosphorylation of Y<sup>529</sup> while the mutated form of PAG did not show this increase. Additionally, we performed PAG immunoprecipitation and can demonstrate that, although both constructs are being phosphorylated, only the wildtype PAG is capable of binding Csk, whereas Y317F mutant has indeed lost its ability to recruit Csk (Figure 3.19.B). Importantly, both the wildtype and mutated form of PAG are able to associate with p120RasGAP as shown in the p120RasGAP immunoprecipitation reprobed with anti-FLAG antibody (Figure 3.19.C). This demonstrates that the loss of Csk binding does not interfere with the binding of p120RasGAP.





B

С



Figure 3.19. Y317F-PAG does not enhance inhibitory tyrosine phosphorylation, but still binds p120RasGAP. (A) Jurkat T cells were transfected with Fyn alone, wt FLAG-PAG plus Fyn or FLAG-Y317F-PAG plus Fyn. The cells were lysed and immunoblotted with anti-pY529 antibody. FLAG staining shows equal expression of the PAG constructs. Actin staining is shown for equal loading. (B) Samples as in A were used for FLAG immunoprecipitation and reprobed with anti-phosphotyrosine and anti-Csk antibodies. FLAG staining shows that equal amount of material was precipitated. (C) Samples as in A were used for p120RasGAP immunoprecipitation and reprobed with anti-FLAG antibody; p120RasGAP staining shows equal amount of precipitated material.

### 3.3.5. PAG negatively regulates Ras activation independently of Csk binding

Having demonstrated that the PAG Y317F mutant does not recruit Csk, but still binds p120RasGAP, we next investigated how this construct affects Ras signaling. Jurkat T cells were transfected with Fyn alone or Fyn together with either wildtype PAG or the Y317F-PAG construct. The transfectants were stimulated and active Ras was pulled down again with GST-Raf1-RBD. Total and active Ras were then detected by immunoblotting with a pan-Ras antibody

(Figure 3.20.). Cells transfected with Fyn alone show normal kinetic of Ras activation with a peak at 2 minutes, whereas cells expressing wt PAG together with Fyn have a strongly abolished Ras activation similar to the data shown above. Most importantly, if we express the Y317F mutant together with Fyn, we can block Ras activity almost to the same extent as with the wt protein. If we compare the quantitative analysis of the data, it seems that the Y317F mutant can slightly restore the block in Ras activation induced by the wt PAG. Thus, Csk-mediated Ras inactivation may contribute to the total PAG-mediated Ras inhibition, but it represents only a minor pathway. The majority of the effect upon Ras activity must be caused via recruiting another protein, most presumably p120RasGAP.





# 3.3.6. Y<sup>181</sup> of PAG is the p120RasGAP binding site

To confirm that PAG is able to inhibit Ras activation by the means of p120RasGAP recruitment, we first needed to identify the binding site for p120RasGAP within the PAG protein and then to use the mutant of this tyrosine for the Ras assay. We took the advantage of having the complete set of FLAG-tagged PAG constructs with single tyrosines mutated to phenylalanine and used these mutants to identify the p120RasGAP binding site. Note that these constructs have been already successfully used for the identification of the Csk binding site (Brdicka et al., 2000). These PAG mutants were transfected into the Jurkat T-cell line and p120RasGAP was immunoprecipitated. IP's were resolved by Western blotting and the blot was probed with an anti-FLAG antibody to detect associated FLAG-PAG mutants (Figure 3.21.). Since the Y181F mutant reproducibly did not coprecipitate with p120RasGAP, we conclude that Y<sup>181</sup> is the main p120RasGAP binding site.



**Figure 3.21.** Y<sup>181</sup> of PAG is the p120RasGAP binding site. Jurkat T cells were transfected with constructs encoding individual tyrosine mutants of PAG. The p120RasGAP protein was immunoprecipitated (IP) from cell lysates, IP's were subjected to SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted for the association of FLAG-PAG constructs. p120RasGAP staining shows the amount of precipitated material. Lysates are shown for the expression of FLAG-PAG mutants and p120RasGAP. Note that due to space restrictions, the samples were run in parallel on two gels.

# 3.3.7. PAG negatively regulates Ras activation also in the absence of p120RasGAP binding

Having identified the p120RasGAP binding site, we could test to see whether the Y181F PAG mutant ablates the block in Ras activation induced upon the expression of either wt or

Y317F PAG. Thus, we transfected Jurkat T cells with constructs encoding Fyn alone or Fyn in combination with either wildtype PAG or the Y181F mutant. Ras, activated upon stimulation, was pulled-down again using GST-Raf1-RBD and detected by immunoblotting with anti-pan-Ras antibody. To our surprise, mutant PAG incapable of p120RasGAP binding was still as efficient in suppressing Ras activation as the wildtype protein (Figure 3.22.). Therefore we had to postulate that the ability of PAG to block Ras activation is still maintained because of the intact Csk binding.



Figure 3.22. PAG negatively regulates Ras activation in the absence of p120RasGAP binding. (A) Jurkat T cells were transfected with constructs encoding Fyn, Fyn plus wt FLAG-PAG or Fyn plus FLAG-Y181F-PAG. Cells were then stimulated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 antibodies for the indicated time and lysed. Active Ras was pulled-down using GST-Raf1-RBD (left panels). Total Ras is shown to prove that equal amounts of lysates were used for the assay (right panels). (B) A quantitative analysis of the amount of an active Ras compared to a total Ras protein is shown underneath. (C) Total expression of the constructs after transfection is presented here.

A

#### 3.3.8. Both Csk and p120RasGAP binding contribute to the block in Ras activation

Since the Y181F mutant was still capable of suppressing Ras activation, we suspected that the Csk-mediated inhibition and the p120RasGAP-meidated inhibition could compensate for each other to ensure proper regulation of Ras. Therefore we had to mutate both tyrosines (i.e. Y181 and Y317) in order to abolish the binding of both Csk and p120RasGAP to PAG. We utilized the Y317F mutant and introduced an additional mutation at Y181 to phenylalanine by site-directed mutagenesis. This double mutant was then transfected into Jurkat T cells together with Fyn. Whereas expression of wildtype PAG with Fyn again lead to a diminished Ras activity, the Y181/317F was able to rescue this block and showed activation of Ras comparable to Fyn alone (Figure 3.23.).

A



**Figure 3.23. Mutation of both Y181 and Y317 ablates Ras suppression by PAG.** (A) Jurkat T cells were transfected with constructs encoding Fyn, Fyn plus wt FLAG-PAG or Fyn plus FLAG-Y181/317F-PAG. Cells were then stimulated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 antibodies for the indicated time and lysed. Active Ras was pulled-down using GST-Raf1-RBD (upper panel). Total Ras is shown to prove that equal amounts of lysates were used for the assay (lower panel). (B) A quantitative analysis of the amount of an active Ras compared to a total Ras protein is shown underneath. (C) Total expression of the constructs after transfection is presented here.

Therefore, in addition to identifying two new PAG associated proteins, i.e. Sam68 and p120RasGAP, we have identified a novel function of PAG. Namely, its ability to negatively regulate Ras by recruiting GAPs into the lipid rafts where they would associate with Ras-GDP rapidly and efficiently inactivating any Ras-GTP that formed before it had a chance to translocate. Additionally, it seems that this pathway may be partially compensated by Csk-mediated Src inhibition and only deletion of both Csk and p120RasGAP binding ablates the ability of PAG to suppress Ras activation.

#### 3.3.9. PAG downregulation leads to enhanced and sustained SFK and Ras activation

The fact that PAG negatively regulates both Src kinases and Ras suggests that PAG is an important negative regulator of cellular activation. However, two recent publications have demonstrated that PAG knockout mice are perfectly normal and do not demonstrate defects in thymic development and/or T-cell function (Xu et al., 2005; Dobenecker et al., 2005). One should hypothesize though, that there might be various compensatory mechanisms developed to regulate Src kinase activity and, upon further investigation, this has indeed turned to be the truth (J. Lindquist, unpublished observation). Therefore, to determine the role and importance of PAG for T-cell signaling, we used RNA interference in both primary human and Jurkat T cells. Primary human T cells were nucleofected with siRNA oligonucleotides against PAG or Renilla using Amaxa's Nucleofection technology, whereas Jurkat T cells were electroporated with vectors encoding shRNA. The cells were kept 72 hours in culture and then stimulated, lysed and subjected to Western blotting to detect phosphorylation pattern upon stimulation (Figure 3.24.). One can clearly see that already unstimulated cells possess enhanced basal tyrosine phosphorylation of several proteins in the absence of PAG. The protein phosphorylation further increases upon stimulation and the activation is sustained in the cells transfected with PAG siRNA. These results suggest that knocking down PAG expression results in markedly enhanced basal Src kinase activity and mainly that it does not become down-modulated later on to shut off signaling.

Additionally, since we have shown that PAG negatively regulates Ras, we investigated the impact of PAG downregulation on Ras activation. Thus, we transfected Jurkat T cells with siRNA against PAG or Renilla, stimulated them, lysed and performed Ras activation assays with the GST-Raf1-RBD (Figure 3.24.C). Here we can show that suppression of PAG expression

leads to a dramatic enhancement (approximately 5-fold) in Ras activation. We believe that these data together clearly demonstrate that PAG is indeed an important negative regulator of both the Src kinases and Ras.

A



B





**Figure 3.24. PAG downregulation leads to enhanced SFK and Ras activation.** (A) Primary human T cells were nucleofected with siRNA oligos against PAG or Renilla control. After 72 hours, the cells were stimulated with CD3/CD28 antibodies, lysed and subjected to Western blotting. Immunoblotting with anti-phosphotyrosine antibody (4G10) shows changes in the phosphorylation signature in these cells. Arrows indicate proteins hyperphosphorylated in the absence of PAG. Actin staining is shown for equal loading. PAG expression in both samples is shown on the right, the amount of PAG was normalized to actin and is presented as percentage of PAG expression in control cells. (B) Jurkat T cells were transfected with pCMS3-EGFP plasmid containing either PAG shRNA or Renilla shRNA and processed as described in panel A. (C) Jurkat T cells were transfected with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 antibodies, lysed and active Ras was pulled-down using GST-Raf1-RBD (left panels). Total Ras is shown to prove that equal amounts of lysates were used for the assay (right panels). A quantitative analysis of the amount of an active Ras compared to a total Ras protein is shown underneath. PAG expression in both samples is shown (bottom right).

# 3.4. Identification and characterization of IGAP

#### 3.4.1. Expression of DGKs is unchanged in Anergic T cells

An interesting issue with regard to anergic cells is that they have increased calcium levels, but simultaneously possess a block in the Ras/MAPK pathway. However, such a situation should not theoretically happen, because PLC $\gamma$  produces IP<sub>3</sub> and DAG in an equimolar ratio. IP<sub>3</sub> then induces calcium flux, whereas DAG activates PKC and RasGRP leading to the activation of Ras. One explanation would be that diacylglycerol is rapidly metabolized by diacylglycerolkinases (DGK). Therefore we lysed *Resting*, *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells and immunoblotted to see whether the expression of any of the DGK isoforms is enhanced upon anergy induction. However, we did not find any alteration in expression of either DGK alpha (Figure 3.25.A) or DGK zeta (Figure 3.20.B), the two main DGKs present in T cells. However, from these blots we cannot exclude that the activity of either of the DGKs is enhanced in anergic T cells.



**Figure 3.25.** Normal DGK expression in *Anergic* T cells. *Resting*, *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells were either left untreated (-) or restimulated with anti-CD3 antibody for 2 minutes (+). Lysates were immunoblotted with anti-DGK alpha (A) or anti-DGK zeta (B) antibody. Note, that DGK zeta exists in several isoforms. Actin staining is shown for equal loading.

#### 3.4.2. DGK alpha antibody cross-reacts with p120 protein

Surprisingly, when probing the lysates with the anti-DGK alpha antibody, we observed a strong induction in the expression of a protein at 120 kDa in *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells (Figure 3.26.A). However, there exists no known isoforms of DGK alpha. Therefore, we used the anti-DGK alpha antibody for immunoprecipitation and tested whether this antibody recognizes the p120 protein also in its native form. By reprobing Western blots of DGK alpha-IP's with anti-DGK alpha antibody, we demonstrate that we can specifically precipitate not only DGK alpha, but also the p120 protein (Figure 3.26.B).



**Figure 3.26. Anti-DGK alpha antiserum specifically cross-reacts with induced p120 protein.** (A) *Resting*, *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells were either left untreated (-) or restimulated with anti-CD3 antibody for 2 minutes (+) and whole cell lysates were immunoblotted with anti-DGK alpha antibody. Bands corresponding to DGK alpha and p120 are marked. Actin staining is shown for equal loading. (B) Lysates as in A were used for immunoprecipitation with anti-DGK alpha antibody, IP's were subjected to Western blotting and reprobed again with the DGK alpha antibody. Bands corresponding to DGK alpha antibody.

Since we could immunoprecipitate p120, we decided to identify this protein. Therefore we prepared a large number of *Rescued* cells and used them for immunoprecipitation with the anti-DGK alpha antibody. *Anergic* cells were omitted since *Rescued* cells can be produced in a higher

amount and also express high levels of p120. As a negative control, resting cells were taken, as they express only very low levels of p120 (see figure 3.26.A). These IP's were loaded onto a large acrylamide gel to ensure better separation and the gel stained with silver to visualize the proteins (Figure 3.27.). We observed a number of bands that were specifically precipitated with the DGK alpha antibody, some were present in all samples (bands 2, 5, 6, 7), but interestingly, others were selectively co-precipitated only in long-term stimulated cells (bands 1, 3, 4).



#### DGKalpha - IP

Figure 3.27. Silver staining of DGK alpha-IP's. Lysates of *Resting* and *Rescued* cells  $(50 \times 10^6 \text{ or } 100 \times 10^6)$  were used for immunoprecipitation with anti-DGK alpha antibody. Samples were then loaded onto large 8% acrylamide gel and stained with silver. Bands marked with arrows were cut out and subjected to peptide mass mapping.

## 3.4.3. Identification of IGAP

Bands 1 – 7 shown in figure 3.27. were excised from the silver gel and subjected to trypsic digestion, which was performed by Dr. Thilo Kähne in the Institute of Experimental Internal Medicine, Magdeburg. The resulting peptides were then analyzed by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry and the results compared to the protein database to identify the corresponding proteins. The results obtained are shown in Figure 3.28. Band number 2 was identified as DGK alpha, the protein against which the immunoprecipitating antibody was raised. Bands 3 and 4 could not be identified due to low quality of tryptic peptides. Bands 5 and 6 were identified as the non-muscle myosin heavy chain II (MYH9). Band 7 contained actin plus an additional protein that could not be clearly determined. Most interestingly, band 1 (i.e. p120) was identified as a hypothetical protein with the accession number XP\_029084, which was originally predicted by automated computational analysis of the human genome.

Band number	Identified protein
1	XP_029084
2	DGK alpha
3	not determined
4	not determined
5	MYH9
6	MYH9
7	Actin + ?

**Figure 3.28. List of proteins identified by mass spectrometry.** The indicated bands from figure 3.22. were excised, digested with trypsin and subjected to mass spectrometric analysis to identify the proteins.

The SMART algorithm (Schultz et al., 1998) enabled us to model the predicted domain structure of p120 based upon its primary amino acid sequence (Figure 3.29.). To our surprise, p120 contains a RasGAP domain and thus belongs to a family of Ras GTPase activating proteins. Since p120 is expressed in *Resting* T cells only in very small amount, but is drastically induced upon long-term stimulation of the cells, we have named this protein **IGAP** (Inducible <u>G</u>TPase-

<u>a</u>ctivating <u>p</u>rotein). In addition to the GAP domain, IGAP also possesses one PH and one C2 domain, both of which are believed to be responsible mainly for targeting proteins to the phospholipids within plasma membrane. Moreover, the C2 domain does so in a calcium-dependent manner. Additionally, there are several predicted sites of phosphorylation within the IGAP sequence – multiple serine and threonine residues and several tyrosine residues, two of which are surprisingly arranged into an atypical ITAM sequence. A coiled-coil domain is situated at the C-terminus, which is involved in protein dimerization.



**Figure 3.29. Structure and predicted domains of IGAP.** The structure and domains of IGAP were predicted based upon the primary amino acid sequence using the SMART tool available on http://smart.embl-heidelberg.de.

When we compare IGAP structure with other known RasGAPs, we realize that IGAP is quite unique among the RasGAPs and is more similar to SynGAP and NGAP, which are, however, not expressed in T cells, but are rather specific for neuronal cells (Figure 3.30.). Compared to the main known GAP in T cells, p120RasGAP, IGAP completely lacks any protein-protein interaction domains like SH2 or SH3.



Figure 3.30. Comparison of known RasGAPs.

#### 3.4.4. IGAP is phosphorylated in vivo

Since we found an atypical ITAM sequence within the GAP domain, we were interested to see whether IGAP indeed becomes phosphorylated in T cells. Therefore we took the advantage that we could immunoprecipitate IGAP with the anti-DGK alpha antibody (see figure 3.26.B) and reprobed these IP's with anti-phosphotyrosine (Figure 3.31.). We could not detect any phosphorylation in *Resting* cells where there is only minimal expression of IGAP, but we indeed observed IGAP phosphorylation in *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells, which upregulated the IGAP protein.



**Figure 3.31. IGAP is phosphorylated** *in vivo*. Western blot of the DGK alpha-IP from figure 3.26.B was reprobed with anti-phosphotyrosine antibody (4G10). Bands corresponding to IGAP and DGK alpha are indicated.

#### 3.4.5. IGAP is upregulated during long-term stimulation of T cells

Since we originally found IGAP only in cells that had been stimulated for three days and not in resting cells, we wanted to determine more precisely the time kinetic of IGAP induction. Thus, we prepared *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells as always by culturing T cells on CD3-coated plates with or without PMA for three days and resting them for one additional day. Aliquots of cells were taken at each day of culture and lysed for Western blot analysis (Figure 3.32.). Whereas resting T cells express only very little of IGAP, the expression increases during stimulation, with a maximum at day 2. As the cells rest for one day without any stimulus, the level of IGAP expression decreases again (Figure 3.32., last two lanes). There was no difference between *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells with regard to IGAP expression.



**Figure 3.32. IGAP is upregulated during long-term stimulation.** *Resting* T cells (*Rest.*) were cultured on anti-CD3-coated plastic plates for three days plus one day of resting with (*Resc.*) or without (*Aner.*) PMA. Aliquots of *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells were taken at each day of culture and probed with anti-DGK alpha antibody. Bands corresponding to IGAP and DGK alpha are indicated. Actin staining is shown for equal loading.

#### 3.4.6. IGAP is predominantly plasma membrane localized

The predicted structure suggests that IGAP contains two domains (PH and C2 domain, see figure 3.29.) responsible for targeting to the membrane phospholipids. In order to investigate the subcellular localization of IGAP, we used Jurkat T cells, which also express endogenous IGAP (data not shown) and can be produced in high amount needed for subcellular fractionation. Jurkat T cells were lysed, their membranes separated from the cytosolic compartment by gradient centrifugation and both membrane and cytosolic fractions were subjected to Western blotting (Figure 3.33.). The transmembrane adapter protein LAT was chosen as a marker for the membrane fraction and the cytosolic adapter protein Grb2 was used to stain the cytosolic fraction. Probing the blot with anti-p120RasGAP antibody showed that this RasGAP is primarily a cytosolic protein. On the contrary, IGAP was detected mainly in the membrane fraction.



**Figure 3.33. IGAP is prelocalized at the plasma membrane.** Membrane and cytosolic fractions were isolated from Jurkat T cells and probed with indicated antibodies.

#### 3.4.7. IGAP associates with PAG

Since we identified p120RasGAP in a complex together with PAG, we were further interested to look whether the new protein IGAP can also be found associated to a PAG complex. Therefore we prepared lysates of *Resting*, *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells, immunoprecipitated PAG and looked for the presence of IGAP in these IP's by immunoprobing with anti-DGK alpha antibody (Figure 3.34.A). Surprisingly, we indeed detected IGAP associated with PAG in *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells, whereas there was no IGAP in PAG-IP's from *Resting* sample. Additionally, we performed reciprocal IP's and used the anti-DGK alpha antibody for immunoprecipitation. Also using this

approach, we could detect the interaction of PAG and IGAP in *Anergic* and *Rescued* cells (Figure 3.34.B). Although one could argue that the anti-DGK alpha antibody precipitates both DGK alpha and IGAP and therefore some PAG may have also been associated with DGK alpha and not only specifically with IGAP, we do not find DGK alpha present in PAG-IP's. Thus it seems safe to conclude that immunoprecipitated IGAP was indeed associated with the PAG complex.



**Figure 3.34. IGAP associates with PAG.** (A) *Resting (Rest.), Anergic (Aner.)* and *Rescued (Resc.)* cells were lysed and PAG was immunoprecipitated. Associated IGAP was detected by immunoblotting with anti-DGK alpha antibody. PAG staining shows the amount of precipitated material. (B) Samples as in A were subjected to immunoprecipitation with anti-DGK alpha antibody and the associated PAG was detected by immunoprobing with anti-PAG antibody. IGAP staining shows the amount of precipitated material.

In summary, we have demonstrated that PAG is able to recruit at least two RasGAPs – p120RasGAP and the novel IGAP. This observation further supports our findings that PAG is a potent negative regulator of Ras GTPases. Whether IGAP is recruited to the same complex of PAG as p120RasGAP or whether two separate complexes exist within the cells is unclear at this moment. What is the exact role of IGAP and whether it can fulfill the same functions as p120RasGAP will be certainly the subject of further investigations.

# 4. Discussion

### 4.1. Proximal alterations within anergic T cells (see 3.1.)

In this study, we investigated the signaling alterations underlying anergy, an important mechanism of peripheral tolerance. To perform this, we purified freshly isolated peripheral human T cells and used a well established method of anergy induction, namely culturing the cells on anti-CD3-coated plates. The absence of costimulation drove the cells into anergy, as they no longer proliferated upon subsequent restimulation via CD3 or CD3+CD28 (Figure 3.4.). This is because the CD3-mediated pathway triggered in the primary culture is alone not sufficient to induce the production of sufficient amounts of IL-2. And indeed, the addition of exogenous IL-2 to the culture induced dramatic proliferation of these cells during the secondary stimulation, showing that these cells are indeed anergic. Corresponding to previous findings, we observed a dramatic upregulation of the Src family kinase Fyn in anergic T cells, both at the kinase activity and the protein level, whereas only a marginal increase in the activity and expression level of Lck was observed (Figure 3.6.). Moreover, Lck expression and activity were also enhanced in rescued cells and therefore the Lck upregulation appears to be more related to the proliferation and activation of the cells. Therefore, it seems that Fyn is the main kinase playing an important role in anergic T cells.

Interestingly, we found an enhanced overall tyrosine phosphorylation in anergic T cells (Figure 3.7.), whereas phosphorylation of key signaling molecules, i.e. TCR zeta chain and LAT was completely abolished (Figure 3.8.). This means that there is no general increase in phosphorylation of all proteins that would correspond to the enhanced activity of Src kinases. Instead, the SFK activity is targeted towards specific proteins, which may play an important role in maintaining the anergic state, whereas proteins required for activation and proliferation of the cell are kept inactive (i.e. unphosphorylated). Interestingly, Lck is believed to play the main role in phosphorylating signaling molecules during activation of the cell, whereas Fyn is not so critical for activatory signal progression as it rather phosphorylates more specific proteins. Since Fyn was shown to be specifically upregulated in anergic T cells, the main role of Fyn may be to phosphorylate the proteins responsible for anergy. Note that a large portion of Lck is associated with the coreceptor CD4 or CD8 and the costimulatory molecule CD28 and that these pools of Lck only become activate these pools of Lck and the positive signal may be "overridden" by the

Fyn-mediated phosphorylation of anergy-promoting factors. Based upon the apparent molecular weight, we propose that the proteins specifically hyper-phosphorylated in anergic T cells are mainly Src kinases and Cbl. Importantly, both Src kinases and the E3 ubiquitin ligases (e.g. Cbl, Itch, GRAIL) are indeed believed to contribute to the maintenance of anergy (Quill et al., 1992; Mueller, 2004). Certainly an interesting approach would be an immunoprecipitation using an anti-phosphotyrosine antibody followed by mass spectrometry as this would enable the identification of other proteins hyperphosphorylated in anergic T cells. This would then lead to a better understanding of the mechanism(s) responsible for the block in signaling pathways. Currently, we are trying to identify pp30, which is the most abundant phospho-protein in anergic and rescued T cells (Figure 3.7.). Since pp30 is equal in both anergic and rescued cells, we propose that the phosphorylation (and possibly also the upregulation) of this protein is associated with the activation and proliferation of the cells and is not specific to anergy.

Note that since both the anergic and rescued cells originally received the same stimulus via the TCR, the phosphorylation profile and the proximal signaling appear to be very similar in both populations. The difference is that the rescued cells received additionally PMA, which acts more distal in the signaling cascade, where it mimics costimulation and overcomes the block in anergy. Alternatively, we could have used stimulation of the cells with CD3 plus CD28 to produce activated cells as the positive control. However, CD28 costimulation may also lead under certain circumstances to anergy and the final outcome of anergy versus activation depends probably upon the proper amount of CD28 antibody used for stimulation (Schwartz, 2003). Additionally, using the stimulation with CD3 plus PMA clearly demonstrates that it is presumably indeed the DAG-mediated pathway that is not activated upon CD3 crosslinking alone, thereby resulting in anergy. As we demonstrate, simple reconstitution of DAG in the CD3-stimulated T cells by its analogue PMA enhances the DAG-mediated signaling and this is sufficient to prevent anergy induction (compare figure 3.4.).

### **4.2.** Alterations within the PAG-associated complex in anergic T cells (see 3.2.1. – 3.2.5.)

Since PAG overexpressing T cells behave very similar to anergic T cells, i.e. they are both unresponsive to TCR stimulation and fail to produce IL-2, we hypothesized that PAG might be upregulated either on the protein level and/or on the phosphorylation level in anergic T cells. Although we did not observe any increase in PAG expression, we can show that, in anergic T cells, the activity of the Src family kinase Fyn associated to PAG is markedly enhanced leading

to the hyperphosphorylation of PAG, determined by anti- $Y^{317}$  phospho-specific antibody (Figure 3.9. and 3.10.). Please note that PAG possesses 10 tyrosines and we have found that whereas some are dephosphorylated (mainly  $Y^{317}$ ), others become phosphorylated only upon TCR triggering (J. Lindquist, unpublished observation). Therefore it would be rather difficult and potentially misleading to interpret total PAG phosphorylation by performing PAG-IPs and probing with a pan-phosphotyrosine antibody (e.g. 4G10).

This hyperphosphorylation could also be the result of decreased PAG phosphatase activity. However, upon stimulation of the cells, PAG becomes rapidly dephosphorylated in all samples and, in fact, the extent of dephosphorylation is largest in anergic T cells, meaning that the phosphatase is still active. Importantly, the level of phospho-PAG in anergic cells never decreases below that of unstimulated resting cells (Figure 3.10.). Consequently, we also observed an increased recruitment of Csk to PAG in anergic cells (Figure 3.11.). This in turn leads to the increased phosphorylation of the inhibitory tyrosine of Fyn within the total Fyn pool (Figure 3.12.). Thus it seems that hyperphosphorylation ensures that PAG may still fulfill its inhibitory function even upon restimulation of anergic cells and we propose that PAG may, in this way, contribute to the defects in proximal signaling. Until now, we have investigated only the changes in phosphorylation for total Fyn, however it would be interesting to look at specific pools of Fyn within the cell and compare Fyn tyrosine phosphorylation and kinase activity for the fraction associated to PAG with the fraction bound to TCR zeta chain. Since we observed a dramatic decrease in zeta chain phosphorylation, we predict that the associated kinase activity must also be strongly reduced.

Interestingly, a phenotype very similar to the one that we observe in anergic T cells has also been found in PTPalpha knockout mice (Maksumova et al., 2005). PTPalpha deficient thymocytes show increased phosphorylation of several proteins and enhanced Fyn kinase activity. Since PTP alpha localizes in the lipid rafts, it regulates the raft-associated Fyn. The hyperactive Fyn in the rafts in turn induces a hyperphosphorylation of PAG and increased association of Csk with PAG. Consequently, the inhibitory tyrosine within Fyn is more phosphorylated. Importantly, the PTPalpha deficient thymocytes elicit reduced proliferation and impaired IL-2 production upon stimulation with CD3 alone or CD3 plus costimulation and this is a phenotype very similar to anergy. Moreover, stimulation with PMA plus Ionomycin, i.e. with stimulus that normally breaks anergy, induces proliferation and IL-2 production also in PTPalpha

observations and our hypothesis that increased Fyn activity together with increased Csk recruitment to hyperphosphorylated PAG may constitute an effective mechanism to block T-cell signaling.

Opposite to our results, the group of Andre Veillette has very recently demonstrated an increased Fyn recruitment to PAG whereas Csk association was unchanged in murine anergic T cells (Davidson et al., 2007). They have however used the ionomycin-induced model of anergy, where they have first preactivated the cells with CD3 and CD28 antibodies and then expanded them with IL-2 before applying ionomycin to induce anergy. Hence, they were investigating anergy induced in murine effector T cells, whereas we used human naïve T cells. Due to these major differences it is difficult to directly compare the results obtained from two distinct systems. Unfortunately, they did not investigate the kinase activity of Fyn associated to PAG and/or PAG phosphorylation upon anergy induction and thus it is difficult to speculate why the increased recruitment of Fyn did not lead to an increased phosphorylation of PAG and consequently also to enhanced recruitment of Csk in their anergic cells. However, using various transgenic mice, they have shown that the PAG-Fyn complex plays an important role in the maintenance of anergy, mainly by increasing calcium flux without activating the Ras-MAPK pathway; although the authors could not find the mechanism responsible for this effect. We complement this finding with the observation that the PAG-Fyn complex can also actively inhibit proximal signaling and Ras activation by hyperphosphorylating PAG, thereby leading to enhanced recruitment of other critical proteins like Csk and p120RasGAP, two important negative regulators of SFKs and Ras, in order to prevent cell activation and proliferation (see also 4.5.). Indeed, we can show using PAG siRNA that knocking down PAG expression leads to an unbalanced hyperactivation of both Src kinases and Ras (see 4.7.).

# 4.3. Fyn is dually phosphorylated on $Y^{529}$ and $Y^{215}$ in anergic T cells (see 3.2.6.)

An interesting and also somewhat confusing observation is that we find increased Fyn activity simultaneously with the increased phosphorylation of its inhibitory tyrosine (compare Figure 3.6. and 3.12.). Normally, the phosphorylated inhibitory tyrosine binds to the SH2 domain of Fyn and thus one would expect that its hyperphosphorylation should lead to a decreased kinase activity. However, it is known from the crystal structure that another intramolecular interaction is required for the inactive state of the kinase, namely the binding of the SH3 domain to the linker region between the kinase domain and SH2 domain (see section 1.7.2.). In fact, there is a growing body

of evidence to suggest that interfering with the SH3-linker interaction is sufficient to activate the kinase (Simarro et al., 2004; Gorska et al., 2004). The interaction of Fyn with PAG was demonstrated to be phosphorylation independent in human T cells and therefore mediated by binding of the SH3 domain in Fyn to a proline-rich region within PAG. Conversely, Fyn association appears to be phosphorylation dependent in murine T cells (Davidson et al., 2007). Since the amount of Fyn associated to PAG is not enhanced in our anergic T cells (Figure 3.11.), the strength of interaction with PAG would have to be more stable in anergic cells, thereby preventing the folding of the kinase into the inactive conformation. However, this would concern only the pool of Fyn associated with PAG. Since we also observed hyperactivity of Fyn in whole lysates, we searched for additional mechanisms that would apply to total Fyn. We found two publications proposing that the phosphorylation of the inhibitory tyrosine of chicken Src leads to a hyperactive state of the kinase if a tyrosine within its SH2 domain  $(Y^{215})$  is also phosphorylated (Vadlamudi et al., 2003; Stover et al., 1996). It was proposed that the inhibitory tyrosine cannot bind to the SH2 domain because of the charge repulsion between phosphorylated Y<sup>215</sup> and a conserved glutamate residue at + 4 position relative to the inhibitory tyrosine within the Cterminus (Src chicken [P00523]: 525-PQpYQPGE-531). Since the sequence around Y<sup>215</sup> of Src is conserved also among the SFKs, we tested whether this mechanism could also apply to Fyn. We can indeed clearly show that the phosphorylation of Fyn at  $Y^{215}$  is remarkably increased in anergic cells compared to both the resting and rescued cells and increases even more upon restimulation. Importantly, Y<sup>215</sup> phosphorylation clearly correlates with inhibitory tyrosine phosphorylation and therefore we believe that this dual phosphorylation of Fyn in anergic cells results in its opened hyperactive conformation. One may also hypothesize that if the phosphorylated inhibitory tyrosine does not bind to the SH2 domain in this hyperactive state, both the SH2 domain and the C-terminal phosphotyrosine are free and provide binding sites for other proteins that may be additionally recruited to the Fyn complexes, e.g. to the PAG-Fyn complex. Such an amplificatory mechanism has been also proposed for the complex of Lck with LIME (Lck-interacting molecule) (Brdickova et al., 2003).

Note that the paper from Maksumova et al. mentioned above also shows increased activity of Fyn simultaneously with the increased phosphorylation of the inhibitory tyrosine in PTPalpha deficient thymocytes (Maksumova et al., 2005). They propose that Fyn is kept in its active conformation, because it is dually phosphorylated on both the activatory and the inhibitory tyrosine. However they did not investigate the phosphorylation status of  $Y^{215}$ . It is tempting to

speculate that PTP alpha may be the phosphatase responsible for the dephosphorylation of  $Y^{215}$  and its deficiency leads to  $Y^{215}$  hyperphosphorylation and consequently to increased Fyn kinase activity.

So far  $Y^{215}$  has only been shown to be phosphorylated in Src upon growth factor receptor stimulation and the phosphorylation is probably mediated by the receptor tyrosine kinase. We are the first to show that  $Y^{215}$  phosphorylation occurs also in the case of Fyn and that this takes place in human T cells *in vivo*. Furthermore, we predict that this mechanism might play a role in TCR-mediated signaling and especially in T-cell anergy. Currently, we do not know the kinase responsible for  $Y^{215}$  phosphorylation. This tyrosine may either undergo autophosphorylation as is the case for the activatory tyrosine or other kinases may be involved. Certainly, this will be the subject of further investigations.

# 4.4. Increased Fyn kinase activity and inhibitory tyrosine phosphorylation within the lipid rafts of anergic T cells (see 3.2.7.)

Since lipid rafts play an important role in T-cell signaling, we looked whether the results found in whole lysates of anergic cells are specifically enhanced within the lipid rafts. We found that Fyn and Lck upregulation occurs in both the lipid raft and non-raft membrane compartments of anergic cells. Also the distribution of their kinase activities seems to be unchanged and the increased Fyn activation is detected both in the rafts and outside, with much stronger activity in the raft fraction. The enhanced phosphorylation of the inhibitory tyrosine of Fyn within anergic cells is located almost exclusively within the lipid rafts, where most of the Fyn and PAG-Csk complex are located. Importantly, the localization of PAG is not altered upon anergy induction and PAG is still targeted into the lipid rafts to the same extent as in resting and rescued cells. That also explains why the PAG-Csk complex has a stronger impact upon Fyn, which is mainly situated in the rafts, whereas only a minor effect upon a non-raft kinase Lck.

Notably, it was recently demonstrated that another transmembrane adaptor protein LAT is displaced from the lipid rafts in anergic T cells (Hundt et al., 2006). Since LAT is not palmitoylated in anergic T cells, it cannot be targeted into the rafts and therefore does not function properly. Since palmitoylation is necessary also for other adaptor proteins to be targeted into lipid rafts, one would expect that the lack of palmitoylation and the dislocation would be common also to the other raft-associated transmembrane adaptors. However, we know that treating T cells with polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) also displaces LAT from lipid rafts,

whereas PAG is not dislocated (Zeyda et al., 2002). Thus it seems that PAG is more stably inserted within the rafts by an unidentified mechanism probably involving the transmembrane and/or the extracellular part of PAG. Additionally, protein-protein interactions can be responsible for stable PAG localization within lipid rafts, e.g. its constitutive association with Fyn that is mainly present in the rafts. This stable insertion may ensure that PAG is not so easily displaced from the rafts, e.g. upon PUFA treatment or anergy induction. However, we were unable to show displacement of LAT from the lipid rafts in anergic T cells in our system. This discrepancy might be due to the different systems investigated, as we induced anergy in primary naïve human T cells with immobilized anti-CD3 antibodies, while they applied the ionomycin-induced model of anergy induction using activated murine transgenic T cells (Hundt et al., 2006).

#### **4.5.** PAG forms a novel multiprotein complex (see 3.3.1., 3.3.2.)

When searching for the possible link connecting Fyn activity and PAG hyperphosphorylation to the block in Ras activation, we found two proteins whose expression is upregulated in anergic T cells, Sam68 and p120RasGAP (Figure 3.16.). Sam68 was originally identified also as KH domain containing, RNA-binding, signal transduction associated 1 protein (KHDRBS1). By immunoprecipitating either PAG, Sam68 or p120RasGAP, we are the first to demonstrate the formation of a multi-molecular complex consisting of PAG, Fyn, Sam68 and p120RasGAP (Figure 3.17.). The fact that we do not see any detectable difference in p120RasGAP association to PAG between anergic and rescued cells may be again attributed to the fact that rescued cells received the same stimulus as anergic cells (namely immobilized anti-CD3 antibody) and were rescued from anergy by adding PMA, which acts only more downstream on the level of DAG and therefore downstream of PAG. In fact, PMA directly stimulates RasGRP1, a GEF for Ras. The signal delivered by PMA is presumably much more robust than the intrinsic activity of p120RasGAP, thus leading to Ras activation and proliferation of rescued cells. Moreover, we investigated only the association of p120RasGAP with PAG, but not its activity. Interestingly, p120RasGAP was shown to be phosphorylated by receptor tyrosine kinases or transformed Src kinase and this tyrosine phosphorylation was suggested to modulate its GAP activity or interaction with other proteins (Molloy et al., 1989; Kaplan et al., 1990; Liu and Pawson, 1991). Since we find p120RasGAP in a complex with PAG and Fyn and we have observed increased Fyn activity associated with PAG in anergic cells, it is tempting to speculate that Fyn could phosphorylate p120RasGAP in this complex, leading to its activation and consequently Ras

inhibition in anergic T cells. Alternatively, PAG-associated Csk might also phosphorylate p120RasGAP. Since we observed enhanced amount of Csk associated with PAG specifically in anergic cells, the PAG-associated p120RasGAP may be more active in these cells.

The next important step is to identify the binding sites of the individual proteins and to find out how the complex is assembled. The binding of p120RasGAP to PAG appeared to be phosphorylation-dependent as it increased when we induced maximal phosphorylation, i.e. upon pervanadate treatment of the cells (data not shown). Previously, it was shown by an *in vitro* GST-SH2 pull-down assay that the N-terminal SH2 domain of p120RasGAP is capable of binding to PAG. Therefore we utilized the set of individual PAG Y $\Delta$ F mutants that had been previously made in our laboratory to identify which tyrosine might be critical for p120RasGAP binding. By transfecting these PAG mutants into Jurkat T cells and looking for the presence of PAG in p120RasGAP immunoprecipitations, we found out that Y<sup>181</sup> is the main p120RasGAP binding site within PAG. Surprisingly, we do not observe any decrease in p120RasGAP association to PAG upon restimulation of anergic cells for 2 minutes (Figure 3.17.A), although it induces maximal dephosphorylation of the Csk binding site,  $Y^{317}$ . Thus it seems that the tyrosine binding p120RasGAP is dephosphorylated with a different time kinetic than the Csk binding tyrosine and one would have to do the whole time course of stimulation in order to characterize the dynamics of p120RasGAP-PAG association. In addition, we need to generate a phospho-specific antibody against Y<sup>181</sup> to fully characterize the kinetics of its phosphorylation and dephosphorylation. One should point out that attempts to identify the PAG phosphatase are until now very inconsistent (see 1.6.3.). The fact that different tyrosines are dephosphorylated in a different time manner suggests that there may be not only one phosphatase, but rather several phosphatases with distinct specificities for individual tyrosine-based signaling motifs.

Sam68 most probably does not bind directly to PAG as it lacks any protein-binding domains. Instead it possesses several tyrosines and proline-rich motifs and therefore can bind to either Fyn or p120RasGAP (Fusaki et al., 1997; Guitard et al., 1998; Jabado et al., 1998). Since Fyn binds to PAG presumably via its SH3 domain (Brdicka et al., 2000), its SH2 domain is free to bind phosphorylated Sam68. Additionally, p120RasGAP could be the direct Sam68 binding partner as it possesses two SH2 domains and whereas the N-terminal SH2 was suggested to bind PAG, the C-terminal domain binds preferentially to Sam68 (Brdicka et al., 2000; Durrheim et al., 2001; Sanchez-Margalet and Najib, 2001). The phosphorylation-dependent interaction of Sam68 with the complex would also explain why we could not detect the Sam68-PAG complex in PAG

immunoprecipitates from resting cells, possessing low Fyn activity. Namely, the complex stability may be increased only when the Fyn kinase activity is upregulated by the induction of anergy. The role of Sam68 in this complex is unclear. It may function simply as an adaptor further stabilizing the binding of p120RasGAP. Beside its adaptor function (Najib et al., 2005), Sam68 also belongs to the STAR (signal transduction and activation of RNA) family of RNA binding proteins (Lukong and Richard, 2003). It is postulated that Sam68 binds specific RNAs and their release into the cytosol enables their translation. Thus, Sam68 may enable the cells to become anergic by releasing RNAs for anergy-promoting factors. Additionally, Sam68 is phosphorylated by Fyn and this negatively correlates with RNA binding and leads to the relocalization of Sam68 into the cytosol (Hartmann et al., 1999; Wang et al., 1995). Therefore, increased phosphorylation by Fyn and recruitment into the cytosol towards the PAG complex might mediate enhanced shuffling from the nucleus and more rapid release of RNAs needed for translation of various factors important for anergy.

The fact that we found an upregulation of Sam68 expression in anergic T cells may provide an explanation for the proliferative block attributed to anergy. Sam68 was shown to regulate the cell cycle progression and the expression of cyclin D1, which is required for the transition into S phase (Barlat et al., 1997). Importantly, the overexpression of Sam68 results in decreased levels of cyclin D1 and E and in cell cycle arrest in the G1 phase (Taylor et al., 2004). Notably, anergic cells were also shown to possess a block in the cell cycle at G1/S transition (Gilbert et al., 1992). Since recent studies have questioned the role of p27kip1 and p21cip1 as candidates responsible for the block in cell cycle progression (Verdoodt et al., 2003; Li et al., 2006), it will be interesting to see whether Sam68 deficient mice possess a defect in anergy induction.

## **4.6.** PAG negatively regulates Ras activation (see 3.3.3. – 3.3.8.)

Using the GST-RBD pull-down assay, we can demonstrate that PAG is a novel negative regulator of Ras signaling. Transfection of wildtype PAG and Fyn into the Jurkat T-cell line leads to the hyperphosphorylation of PAG, the same phenotype as we observe in anergic T cells, and this results in an almost completely abolished activation of Ras upon TCR stimulation (Figure 3.18.). We can additionally show that this effect is not dependent upon Y<sup>317</sup> and therefore is not due to the enhanced recruitment of Csk and reduction of SFK activation. In fact, the Y317F mutant of PAG only minimally restores Ras activation and thus, the Csk-mediated pathway might not play the major role in the downregulation of Ras activity (Figure 3.20.). Interestingly, murine

fibroblasts deficient for the phosphatase Shp2 possess a block in Ras and ERK activation, presumably because of PAG hyperphosphorylation and increased Csk recruitment (Zhang et al., 2004). However, the expression of Y314F-PAG mutant in Shp2 deficient cells also only partially restored ERK activation (Zhang et al., 2004). In addition, T cells from Y314F-PAG transgenic mice demonstrate a reduction in ERK activation compared to control cells; although the mechanism could not be found (Davidson et al., 2007). Therefore it seems that the block in Ras activation is induced mainly by recruiting another protein to hyperphosphorylated PAG and we propose that such a protein is p120RasGAP. However, mutation of p120RasGAP binding site within PAG is not sufficient to restore the block in Ras activation (Figure 3.22.). Thus it seems that both Csk and p120RasGAP participate in the inhibition of Ras signaling. Therefore the presence of either of these mechanisms is sufficient to maintain Ras inactive. Indeed, deletion of both the Csk and p120RasGAP binding sites restores Ras activation comparable with the control cells (Figure 3.23.). Since Ras signaling is initiated in the lipid rafts and active Ras-GTP must translocate out of the rafts to interact with its effectors, formation of a multimolecular complex including p120RasGAP within the rafts would be an effective mean of inhibiting Ras before it had the chance to translocate (Figure 4.1.).

# **4.7. PAG downregulation leads to enhanced and sustained SFK and Ras activation** (see 3.3.9.)

Since PAG knockout mice had been published with no apparent phenotype (Xu et al., 2005; Dobenecker et al., 2005), we had difficulties to convince reviewers that PAG is indeed such an important negative regulator of SFKs and Ras as our data would suggest. Because preliminary experiments had suggested the development of a compensatory mechanism in PAG knockout mice (J. Lindquist, unpublished observation), we decided to investigate the role of PAG directly in human T cells. Downregulation of PAG expression both in Jurkat and in primary human T cells using RNA interference lead to a dramatic upregulation of SFK activity as measured by overall protein tyrosine phosphorylation (Figure 3.24.A, B). In addition, the activity of Src kinases was sustained during stimulation, clearly reflecting the lack of a critical regulatory mechanism. When investigating Ras activation, we found that the loss of PAG results in a 5-fold induction of Ras activity compared to control cells (Figure 3.24.C). This clearly indicates that PAG is indeed an important negative regulator of both SFKs and Ras in human T cells. These results also confirm that there are differences between mouse and human, including development



**Figure 4.1. Schematic model of PAG function in T-cell anergy. 1**. PAG is hyperphosphorylated by Fyn leading to increased recruitment of Csk. Csk in turn phosphorylates the inhibitory tyrosine within Fyn. However, Fyn becomes phosphorylated additionally on its Y<sup>215</sup> within the SH2 domain, leading to the hyperactive state of Fyn. **2**. Hyperphosphorylated PAG recruits p120RasGAP into lipid rafts, where it stimulates the intrinsic GTPase activity of Ras thereby preventing its activation and translocation out of rafts. **3**. Additionally, PAG binds Sam68, which may further stabilize the complex and release mRNAs for anergy-promoting factors. Increased Sam68 expression can reduce cyclin D1 levels and thereby prevent transition of the cell cycle from G1 to S phase.

of alternative compensatory pathways in knockout mice, and this should always be taken into consideration. Therefore, it is impossible to generalize mouse data onto the human system or vice versa, but rather the data should always be verified by performing the appropriate experiment.

Interestingly, mutation of the Csk and p120RasGAP binding sites within PAG leads to a Ras activation equal to empty vector transfected cells (Figure 3.23.), whereas removal of the total PAG protein induces 5-fold higher Ras activation than the control cells. Clearly, when the mutant form of PAG is expressed in Jurkat T cells, there is still endogenous PAG present that attenuates Ras activation. Only if we downregulate endogenous PAG expression by siRNA, Ras becomes

hyperactive. On the other hand, there might be also additional mechanisms by which PAG can block Ras and thus, these pathways are still present in the mutant lacking both Csk and p120RasGAP binding. Their existence and affect upon Ras would then only become apparent when the whole protein was lost. This also means that these other pathways must be dependent upon the recruitment of proteins to tyrosines other than  $Y^{317}$  and  $Y^{181}$  and/or they might be recruited to phosphoserines or phosphothreonines or in a phosphorylation-independent manner to the proline-rich regions within PAG. We propose that one such protein recruited to PAG that could negatively regulate Ras might be IGAP, the inducible GTPase-activating protein that we have newly identified (see 4.9.).

# 4.8. Expression of DGKs is unchanged in anergic T cells (see 3.4.1.)

Anergic T cells are known to have normal calcium signaling but abolished activation of ERK and JNK pathway. Since activated PLCy1 produces both IP<sub>3</sub> and DAG in an equimolar ratio, it is not clear how calcium flux should be activated by IP<sub>3</sub> without the MAPK cascade being simultaneously activated via DAG. One hypothesis would be that DAG is immediately converted into phosphatidic acid by diacylglycerolkinases. Therefore we hypothesized that the expression of either DGK alpha or zeta, the two main DGK isoforms expressed in T cells, would be enhanced in anergic cells. However, we did not find upregulation of either of these isoforms in our system (Figure 3.25.). This is in contrast to the very recent publications implicating DGK alpha in the regulation of anergy (Olenchock et al., 2006; Zha et al., 2006). These two papers showed that overexpression of DGK alpha in murine T cells leads to reduced activation of ERK and JNK, reduced production of IL-2 and diminished proliferation. Additionally, DGK alpha deficient T cells still produced IL-2 under anergizing conditions and thus it was concluded that DGK alpha deficiency impairs anergy induction. These results are however not so surprising, if one imagines that DGK alpha removal should enhance the DAG levels in the cells and thus lead to the upregulation of the whole DAG-Ras-MAPK pathway, which may in fact out compete the downregulation of Ras activation implemented by anergy-promoting machinery. Only the group of Gajewski showed that the expression of DGK alpha is indeed upregulated in anergic T cells and that the pharmacological inhibition of DGK alpha in these cells could rescue the production of IL-2 (Zha et al., 2006). The fact that we do not observe an upregulation of DGK alpha in our anergic cells may simply result from the differences between murine and human T cells as there

are clearly many differences. Additionally, the use of different DGK alpha antibodies with distinct affinities and epitopes may also give slightly different results. We also cannot exclude that the activity of any DGK isoform be enhanced in anergic cells, therefore one should test DGK activity, e.g. by assessing the rate of DAG conversion *in vitro*.

#### 4.9. Identification and characterization of IGAP (see 3.4.2. – 3.4.7.)

While investigating the expression of DGK isoforms in anergic T cells, we observed a band at 120 kDa specifically cross-reacting with the anti-DGK alpha antibody (Figure 3.26.), which we identified as a predicted hypothetical protein with the accession number XP\_029084 (Figure 3.27. and 3.28.). Since this protein is induced upon long-term stimulation of T cells and has a putative GAP domain, we named this protein IGAP (Inducible GTPase-activating protein). IGAP differs from p120RasGAP, the main RasGAP in T cells, in that it lacks SH2 and SH3 domains. Its predicted structure is rather similar to the neuronal GAPs expressed primarily in the brain, SynGAP and NGAP (Figure 3.29. and 3.30.). Surprisingly, IGAP possesses within its GAP domain an ITAM, which is usually found in immunoreceptors. We found that IGAP indeed becomes tyrosine phosphorylated (Figure 3.31.) and we propose that this may regulate its activity and/or accessibility to its interacting partners and substrates. IGAP is expressed only at low levels in resting T cells, but is dramatically upregulated upon prolonged stimulation of the cells. Therefore we hypothesize that IGAP may play role in shutting down signaling and the activation status of the cells. Resting cells do not need IGAP since they need to be activated, however once they are activated and have performed their effector function, signaling must be shut down. Therefore they upregulate IGAP, which may inactivate Ras and thereby terminate AP-1 activation. Once IGAP is not needed anymore, it may be degraded. That would explain why we see a downregulation of IGAP levels when we rest the cells for one day (Figure 3.32.). Whereas IGAP might diminish AP-1 activation, other transcription factors like NFAT and NFkB may remain active. This way, IGAP may switch the transcriptional program within the cell so that a new set of genes would be transcribed leading to the expression of proteins that would alter the fate of the cell. In this scenario, IGAP might affect the development of memory cells or regulate expression of anergy-promoting factors. Interestingly, the main pool of IGAP is localized at the plasma membrane, whereas p120RasGAP is primarily cytosolic in unstimulated cells (Figure 3.33.). Thus, IGAP is already prelocalized in the proximity of Ras and might more efficiently
inactivate Ras signaling. Importantly, there are three main isoforms of Ras, which differ in their subcellular localization. Therefore, IGAP may only be selective for a specific Ras isoform and thereby may have partially distinct effect compared to other RasGAPs expressed in T cells.

Finally, we can show that IGAP is able to associate with PAG (Figure 3.34.). The nature of this association is not clear yet, since IGAP lacks any protein-protein interaction domains. The interaction is therefore most probably not direct, but rather mediated via another yet unidentified partner. One good candidate would be Fyn, which constitutively binds to PAG and could additionally bind the phosphorylated ITAM within IGAP via its SH2 domain. Additionally, since p120RasGAP is recruited to PAG through its SH2 domain, it still has a free SH3 domain that could bind the multiple proline-rich domains within IGAP. Interestingly, there has been an unexpected observation recently that the C2 domain of PKC $\delta$  is able to directly bind to a phosphotyrosine (Benes et al., 2005). Since IGAP also possesses a C2 domain, we must consider also the possibility that IGAP binds directly to the phosphotyrosine within PAG via its C2 domain.

Taken together, we conclude that PAG functions as a potent negative regulator of Ras signaling through recruiting two GAPs to the multiprotein complexes at the membrane and thereby situating them to the proximity of their substrates to provide rapid and efficient Ras inactivation.

#### **5.** Conclusion

Anergy is an important mechanism of peripheral tolerance preventing self-reactive T cells from becoming activated and thereby the development of autoimmune disorders. Despite many attempts to identify signaling alterations responsible for the unresponsive phenotype of anergic cells, the real molecular mechanism still remains unresolved. The hallmarks of anergic cells are the upregulation of Fyn kinase and the defect in Ras activation. In human T cells, a pool of Fyn is constitutively associated with PAG and was shown to be responsible for PAG phosphorylation. Importantly, we found that PAG-associated Fyn possesses enhanced kinase activity and this leads to hyperphosphorylation of PAG in human anergic T cells. Consequently, PAG recruits more Csk and although a portion of Csk is lost upon restimulation of the cells, there is still a remarkable amount of Csk bound to PAG that leads to enhanced phosphorylation of the inhibitory tyrosine within Fyn. This mechanism might then contribute also to a block in proximal signaling, which was attributed to anergic cells.

Additionally, we have described a novel mechanism of Fyn kinase regulation. We have shown here that Fyn becomes phosphorylated not only on its C-terminal inhibitory tyrosine, but at the same time also on a tyrosine within its SH2 domain and we propose that this leads to its opened hyper-active conformation in human anergic T cells.

Furthermore, we have identified a novel multiprotein complex consisting of PAG, Fyn, Sam68 and p120RasGAP and have demonstrated an important inhibitory role of PAG on Ras activation. We have also shown that its ability to regulate Ras is dependent on both Csk and p120RasGAP association and only the deletion of both binding sites completely ablates PAGs impact on Ras signaling. Using RNA interference, we could demonstrate that suppression of PAG expression leads to an unbalanced upregulation of both Src kinase and Ras activity resulting from the loss of a critical negative feedback loop.

Finally, we have identified a new protein, which we called IGAP, as it appears to be a GTPase-activating protein that is induced only upon activation of T cells. We hypothesize that IGAP may be needed by the activated T cells to shut down their activation status in order to terminate the immune response. We could show that, contrary to p120RasGAP, IGAP is already prelocalized at the plasma membrane and that one mechanism of its regulation might be mediated via its association to PAG.

In conclusion, we have established PAG as a potent negative regulator of Ras activation recruiting two RasGAPs and we propose that this regulatory mechanism may play a role in anergy. Thus, PAG is involved in the regulation of both Src kinases and Ras, two important oncoproteins implicated in many forms of cancer. Therefore it is tempting to speculate that there might be alterations in PAG expression and/or various PAG mutations found in certain types of cancer that might be responsible for dysregulation of cellular signaling leading to a pathological transformation of the cell.

#### 6. Zusammenfassung

Anergie ist ein Mechanismus der peripheren Toleranz, der eine Aktivierung von autoreaktiven T Zellen verhindert und damit der Entstehung verschiedener autoimmuner Erkrankungen vorbeugt. Trotz vieler Versuche, die modifizierte Signalwege zu definieren, welche den aresponsiven Phänotyp der anergischen Zellen verursachen, bleibt der molekulare Mechanismus bisher weitgehend unklar. Die wichtigste Merkmale der anergischen Zellen sind sowohl eine erhöhte Fyn-Kinase-Aktivität und -Expression als auch ein Block in der Aktivierung des kleinen G-Proteins Ras. In humanen T Zellen ist ein Teil von Fyn konstitutiv an PAG gebunden, der auch für die PAG-Phosphorylierung verantwortlich ist. Interessanterweise sind T Zellen mit einer erhöhten PAG-Expression nach T-Zell-Rezeptor-Stimulation aresponsiv, ein Phänotyp, der Anergie sehr ähnelt. Auf diesen Grundlagen basierend war es Ziel der vorliegenden Dissertation, die Rolle von PAG für die Aufrechterhaltung von Anergie zu untersuchen. In anergischen humanen T Zellen konnten wir zeigen, dass die PAG-assoziierte Fyn-Kinase eine erhöhte Aktivität besitzt. Dies führt zu einer Hyperphosphorylierung von PAG. Nachfolgend bindet PAG mehr Csk. Trotzdem ein Teil von Csk nach der Stimulation der anergischen T Zellen seine Assoziation zu PAG verliert, bleibt es noch mehr Csk an PAG gebunden als in unstimulierten oder aktivierten T Zellen. Dies resultiert in einer erhöhten Phosphorylierung des inhibitorischen Tyrosins von Fyn. Dieser Mechanismus kann einen Block in den proximalen Signalwege verursachen, der ein wesentliches Merkmal der anergischen Zellen darstellt.

Zusätzlich haben wir hier einen neuen Mechanismus für Fyn-Kinase-Regulation beschrieben. Wir haben belegt, dass die Fyn-Kinase nicht nur auf ihrem C-terminalen inhibitorischen Tyrosin phosphoryliert wird, sondern gleichzeitig auch an einem Tyrosin, das sich innerhalb der SH2-Domäne befindet. Wir behaupten, dass diese duale Phosphorylierung eine offene Struktur der Kinase bewirkt und so eine Hyperaktivierung von Fyn in humanen anergischen T Zellen herbeiführt.

Weiterhin haben wir einen Multiproteinkomplex entdeckt, der aus PAG, Fyn, Sam68 und p120RasGAP entsteht. Darüber hinaus haben wir eine wichtige Rolle von PAG für die Inhibition der Ras-Aktivierung nachgewiesen. Hierzu konnten wir zeigen, dass das Vermögen von PAG, Ras-Aktivität zu regulieren, von seiner Fähigkeit, sowohl Csk als auch p120RasGAP zu

#### ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

rekrutieren, abhängt. Nur wenn beide Bindungsstellen für Csk und p120RasGAP eliminiert sind, hat PAG keinen Effekt auf die Ras-Signalwege mehr. Mit Hilfe von RNA-Interferenz ist es uns gelungen, zu zeigen, dass die Herunterregulierung der PAG-Expression zu einer unbalancierter Hochregulation von sowohl Src-Kinasen als auch Ras-Aktivität führt, der ein Verlust eines kritischen negativen Rückkopplungsmechanismen zugrunde liegt.

Zusätzlich haben wir ein neues Protein entdeckt, das wir IGAP benannt haben, da es sich um ein GTPase-aktivierendes Protein handelt, welches erst nach einer Stimulation der T Zellen exprimiert wird. Wir vermuten, dass IGAP erst in aktivierten Zellen benötigt wird, um ihre Aktivation und Proliferation einzustellen und somit die Immunantwort zu beenden. Im Gegensatz zu p120RasGAP ist IGAP schon auf der Zellmembrane vorhanden und kann so effektiver seine Wirkung auf Ras-Proteine ausüben. Zusätzlich haben wir IGAP im Komplex mit PAG gefunden und schlagen vor, dass diese Assoziation einen Einfluss auf die IGAP-Regulation haben könnte.

Zusammengefasst haben wir PAG als einen potenten negativen Regulator der Ras-Aktivierung dargestellt, der zwei RasGAP Proteine rekrutieren kann. Wir vermuten, dass dieser regulatorischer Mechanismus auch eine wichtige Rolle in der Ausbildung und Aufrechterhaltung von Anergie spielen könnte. PAG ist also an der Regulation sowohl von Src-Kinasen als auch Ras beteiligt. Beide sind wichtige Onkoproteine, deren Defekte mit einer Vielzahl von Krebserkrankungen assoziiert sind. Aus diesem Grund spekulieren wir, dass verschiedene Änderungen in PAG-Expression bzw. Phosphorylierung und/oder verschiedene PAG-Mutationen in bestimmten Arten maligner Erkrankungen zu finden sind, die eine Dysregulation der zellulären Signalwege verursachen und somit zu einer pathologischen Transformation von Zellen führen.

### 7. References

- Alberola-Ila J, Hogquist KA, Swan KA, Bevan MJ, Perlmutter RM. Positive and negative selection invoke distinct signaling pathways. J Exp Med 1996;184:9-18
- Amrein KE, Flint N, Panholzer B, Burn P. Ras GTPase-activating protein: A substrate and a potential binding protein of the protein-tyrosine kinase p56<sup>lck</sup>. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1992;89:3343-46
- Anandasabapathy N, Ford DS, Bloom D, Holnes C, Paragas V, Seroogy C, Skrenta H, Hollenhorst M, Fathman CG, Soares L. GRAIL: an E3 ubiquitin ligase that inhibits cytokine gene transcription is expressed in anergic CD4+ T cells. Immunity 2003;18:535-47
- Augsten M, Pusch R, Biskup C, Rennert K, Wittig U, Beyer K, Blume A, Wetzker R, Fiedrich K, Rubio I. Live-cell imaging of endogenous Ras-GTP illustrates predominant Ras activation at the plasma membrane. EMBO Rep. 2006;7:46-51
- **Badour K, Zhang J, Shi F, Leng Y, Collins M, Siminovitch KA.** Fyn and PTP-PEST-mediated regulation of Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein (WASp) tyrosine phosphorylation is required for coupling T cell antigen receptor engagement to WASp effector function and T cell activation. J Exp Med 2004;199:99-112
- **Barber EK, Dasgupta JD, Schlossman SF, Trevillyan JM, Rudd CE.** The CD4 and CD8 antigens are coupled to a protein-tyrosine kinase (p56lck) that phosphorylates the CD3 complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1989;86:3277-81
- **Barlat I, Maurier F, Duchesne M, Guitard E, Tocque B, Schweighoffer F.** A role for Sam68 in cell cycle progression antagonized by a spliced variant within the KH domain. J Biol Chem 1997;272:3129-32
- Baumgartner M, Angelisova P, Setterblad N, Mooney N, Werling D, Horejsi V, Langsley G. Constitutive exclusion of Csk from Hck-positive membrane microdomains permits Src kinase-dependent proliferation of Theileria-transformed B lymphocytes. Blood 2003;101:1874-81
- Becker JC, Brabletz T, Kirchner T, Conrad CT, Brocker EB, Reisfeld RA. Negative transcriptional regulation in anergic T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995;92:2375-78

- **Benes CH, Wu N, Elia AEH, Dharia T, Cantley LC, Soltoff SP.** The C2 domain of PKCδ is a phosphotyrosine binding domain. Cell 2005;121:271-80
- **Bergman M, Mustelin T, Oetken C, Partanen J, Flint NA, Amrein KE, Autero M, Burn P, Alitalo K.** The human p50<sup>csk</sup> tyrosine kinase phosphorylates p56<sup>lck</sup> at Tyr-505 and down regulates its catalytic activity. EMBO J 1992;11:2919-24
- **Bernards A.** Neurofibromatosis type 1 and Ras-mediated signaling: filling in the GAPs. Biochim Biophys Acta 1995;1242:43-59
- **Beverly B, Kang SM, Lenardo MJ, Schwartz RH.** Reversal of *in vitro* T cell clonal anergy by IL-2 stimulation. Int Immunol 1992;4:661-71
- Blish CA, Dillon SR, Farr AG, Fink PJ. Anergic CD8+ T cells can persist and function in vivo. J Immunol 1999;163:155-64
- **Bollag G, McCormick F, Clark R.** Characterization of full-length neurofibromin: tubulin inhibits Ras GAP activity. EMBO J 1993;12:1923-27
- Bos JL. Ras oncogenes in human cancer: a review. Cancer Res 1989;49:4682-89
- **Boussiotis VA, Freeman GJ, Taylor PA, Berezovskaya A, Grass I, Blazar BR, Nadler LM.** p27kip1 functions as an anergy factor inhibiting interleukin 2 transcription and clonal expansion of alloreactive human and mouse helper T lymphocytes. Nat Med 2000;6:290-97
- **Bowen F, Haluskey J, Quill H.** Altered CD40 ligand induction in tolerant T lymphocytes. Eur J Immunol 1995;25:2830-34
- Brdicka T, Imrich M, Angelisova P, Brdickova N, Horvath O, Spicka J, Hilgert I, Luskova P, Draber P, Novak P, Engels N, Wienands J, Simeoni L, Osterreicher J, Aguado E, Malissen M, Schraven B, Horejsi V. Non-T cell activation linker (NTAL): a transmembrane adaptor protein involved in immunoreceptor signaling. J Exp Med 2002;196:1617-26
- Brdicka T, Pavlistova D, Leo A, Bruyns E, Korinek V, Angelisova P, Scherer J, Shevchenko A, Hilgert I, Cerny J, Drbal K, Kuramitsu Y, Kornacker B, Horejsi V, Schraven B. Phosphoprotein associated with glycosphingolipid-enriched microdomains (PAG), a novel ubiquitously expressed transmembrane adaptor protein, binds the protein tyrosine kinase csk and is involved in regulation of T cell activation. J Exp Med 2000;191:1591-604

- Brdickova N, Brdicka T, Andera L, Spicka J, Angelisova P, Milgram SL, Horejsi V. Interaction between two adaptor proteins, PAG and EBP50: a possible link between membrane rafts and actin cytoskeleton. FEBS Lett 2001;507:133-36
- Brdickova N, Brdicka T, Angelisova P, Horvath O, Spicka J, Hilgert I, Paces J, Simeoni L, Kliche S, Merten C, Schraven B, Horejsi V. LIME: a new membrane Raft-associated adaptor protein involved in CD4 and CD8 coreceptor signaling. J Exp Med 2003;198:1453-62
- Bretscher P, Cohn M. A theory of self-nonself discrimination. Science 1970;169:1042-49
- **Brown DA, London E.** Structure and origin of ordered lipid domains in biological membranes. J Membr Biol 1998;164:103-14
- **Brown DA, Rose JK.** Sorting of GPI-anchored proteins to glycolipid-enriched membrane subdomains during transport to the apical cell surface. Cell 1992;68:533-44
- **Cambier JC.** Antigen and Fc receptor signaling. The awesome power of the immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM). J Immunol 1995;155:3281-85
- Cantrell DA. GTPases and T cell activation. Immunol Rev 2003;192:122-30
- **Cantrell DA.** T cell antigen receptor signal transduction pathways. Annu Rev Immunol 1996;14:259-74
- Cantrell DA. T-cell antigen receptor signal transduction. Immunology 2002;105:369-74
- **Casares S, Hurtado A, McEvoy RC, Sarukhan A, von Boehmer H, Brumeanu TD.** Downregulation of diabetogenic CD4+ T cells by soluble dimeric peptide-MHC class II chimera. Nat Immunol 2002;3:383-93
- **Chan AC, Dalton M, Johnson R, Kong GH, Wang T, Thoma R, Kurosaki T.** Activation of ZAP-70 kinase activity by phosphorylation of tyrosine 493 is required for lymphocyte antigen receptor function. EMBO J 1995;14:2499-508
- **Chan AC, Iwashima M, Turck CW, Weiss A.** ZAP-70: a 70 kd protein-tyrosine kinase that associates with the TCR zeta chain. Cell 1992;71:649-62
- **Chen T, Damaj BB, Herrera C, Lasko P, Richard S.** Self association of the single KH-domain family members Sam68, GRP33, GLD-1 and QK1: role of the KH domain. Mol Cell Biol 1997;17:5707-18

- **Chen JJ, Sun Y, Nabel GJ.** Regulation of the proinflammatory effects of Fas ligand (CD59L). Science 1998;282:1714-17
- Cheng A, Saxton T, Sakai R, Kulkarni S, Mbamalu G, Vogel W, Tortorice C, Cardiff R, Cross J, Muller W, Pawson T. Mammalian grb2 regulates multiple steps in embryonicdevelopment and malignant transformation. Cell 1998;95:793-803
- **Chiodetti L, Schwartz RH.** Induction of competence to respond to IL-4 by CD4<sup>+</sup> Th1 cells requires costimulation. J Immunol 1992;149:901-10
- **Chow A, Davis AJ, Gawler DJ.** Investigating the role played by protein-lipid and proteinprotein interactions in the membrane association of the p120<sup>GAP</sup> CaLB Domain. Cell Signal 1999;11:443-51
- Chow LM, Fournel M, Davidson D, Veillette A. Negative regulation of T-cell receptor signaling by tyrosine protein kinase p50csk. Nature 1993;365:156-60
- Cloutier JF, Chow LM, Veillette A. Requirement of the SH3 and SH2 domains for the inhibitory function of tyrosine protein kinase p50csk in T lymphocytes. Mol Cell Biol 1995;15:5937-44
- **Cloutier JF, Veillette A.** Association of inhibitory tyrosine protein kinase p50csk with protein tyrosine phosphatase PEP in T cells and other hemopoietic cells. EMBO J 1996;15:4909-18
- **Cloutier JF, Veillette A.** Cooperative inhibition of T-cell antigen receptor signaling by a complex between a kinase and a phosphatase. J Exp Med 1999;189:111-21
- **Crespo P, Schuebel KE, Ostrom AA, Gutkind JS, Bustelo XR.** Phosphotyrosine-dependent activation of Rac-1 GDP/GTP exchange by the vav protooncogene product. Nature 1997;385:169-72
- da Silva AJ, Li Z, de Vera C, Canto E, Findell P, Rudd CE. Cloning of a novel T-cell protein FYB that binds FYN and SH2-domain-containing lekocyte protein 76 and modulates interleukin 2 production. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997;94:7493-98
- **Davidson D, Bakinowski M, Thomas ML, Horejsi V, Veillette A.** Phosphorylation-dependent regulation of T-cell activation by PAG/Cbp, a lipid raft-associated transmembrane adaptor. Mol Cell Biol 2003;23:2017-28

- **Davidson D, Cloutier JF, Gregorieff A, Veillette A.** Inhibitory tyrosine protein kinase p50csk is associated with protein-tyrosine phosphatase PTP-PEST in hemopoietic and non-hemopoietic cells. J Biol Chem 1997;272:455-62
- **Davidson D, Schraven B, Veillette A.** PAG-associated FynT regulates calcium signaling and promotes anergy in T lymphocytes. Mol Cell Biol 2007;27:1960-73
- **Denny MF, Patai B, Straus DB.** Differential T-cell antigen receptor signaling mediated by the Src family kinases Lck and Fyn. Mol Cell Biol 2000;20:1426-35
- **Dobenecker MW, Schmedt C, Okada M, Tarakhovsky A.** The ubiquitously expressed Csk adaptor protein Cbp is dispensable for embryogenesis and T-cell development and function. Mol Cell Biol 2005;25:10533-42
- **Downward J, Graves JD, Warne PH, Rayter S, Cantrell DA.** Stimulation of p21ras upon T-cell activation. Nature 1990;346:719-23
- **Durrheim GA, Garnett D, Dennehy KM, Beyers AD.** Thy-1 associated pp85-90 is a potential docking site for SH2 domain-containing signal transduction molecules. Cell Biol Int 2001;25:33-42
- **Fathman CG, Lineberry NB.** Molecular mechanisms of CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell anergy. Nat Rev Immunol 2007;7:599-609
- Feili-Hariri M, Falkner DH, Gambotto A, Papworth GD, Watkins SC, Robbins PD, Morel PA. Dendritic cells transduced to express interleukin-4 prevent diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice with advanced insulitis. Hum Gene Ther 2003;14:13-23
- **Fields PE, Gajewski TF, Fitch FW.** Blocked Ras activation in anergic CD4+ T cells. Science 1996;271:1276-78
- Filby A., Seddon B, Kleczkowska J, Salmond R, Tomlinson P, Smida M, Lindquist JA, Schraven B, Zamoyska R. Fyn regulates the duration of T cell receptor engagement needed for commitment to effector function. J Immunol 2007;179:4635-44
- **Filipp D, Zhang J, Leung BL, Shaw A, Levin SD, Veillette A, Julius M.** Regulation of Fyn through translocation of activated Lck into lipid rafts. J Exp Med 2003;197:1221-27
- Fischer KD, Kong YY, Nishina H, Tedford K, Marengere LE, Kozieradzki I, Sasaki T, Starr M, Chan G, Gardener S, Nghiem MP, Bouchard D, Barbacid M, Bernstein A,

**Penninger JM.** Vav is a regulator of cytoskeletal reorganization mediated by the T-cell receptor. Curr Biol 1998;8:554-62

- **Fontenot JD, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY.** Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. Nat Immunol 2003;4:330-36
- Foschi M, Chari S, Dunn MJ, Sorokin A. Biphasic activation of p21ras by endothelin-1 sequentially activates the ERK cascade and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. EMBO J. 1997;16(21):6439-51
- **Fusaki N, Iwamatsu A, Iwahima M, Fujisawa J.** Interaction between Sam68 and Src family tyrosine kinases, Fyn and Lck, in T cell receptor signalling. J Biol Chem 1997;272:6214-19
- **Gajewski TF, Fields P, Fitch FW.** Induction of the increased Fyn kinase activity in anergic T helper type 1 clones requires calcium and protein synthesis and is sensitive to cyclosporin A. Eur J Immunol 1995;25:1836-42
- Gajewski TF, Qian D, Fields P, Fitch FW. Anergic T-lymphocyte clones have altered inositol phosphate, calcium, and tyrosine kinase signaling pathways. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1994;91:38-42
- Genot E, Cantrell DA. Ras regulation and function in lymphocytes. Curr Opin Immunol 2000;12:289-94
- Gilbert KM, Ernst DN, Hobbs MV, Weigle WO. Effects of tolerance induction on early cell cycle progression by Th1 clones. Cell Immunol. 1992;141:362-72
- **Gjorloff-Wingren A, Saxena M, Williams S, Hammi D, Mustelin T.** Characterization of TCRinduced receptor-proximal signaling events negatively regulated by the protein tyrosine phosphatase PEP. Eur J Immunol 1999;29:3845-54
- Gorska MM, Stafford SJ, Cen O, Sur S, Alam R. Unc119, a novel activator of Lck/Fyn, is essential for T cell activation. J Exp Med 2004;199:369-79
- Graves JD, Downward J, Izquierdo-Astor M, Rayter S, Warne PH, Cantrell DA. The growth factor IL-2 activates p21ras proteins in normal human T lymphocytes. J Immunol 1992;148:2417-22
- Greenwald RJ, Boussiotis VA, Lorsbaach RB, Abbas AK, Sharpe AH. CTLA-4 regulates induction of anergy *in vivo*. Immunity 2001;14:145-155

- **Griffith TS, Brunner T, Fletcher SM, Green DR, Ferguson TA.** Fas ligand-induced apoptosis as a mechanism of immune privilege. Science 1995;270:1189-92
- Griffiths EK, Krawczyk C, Kong YY, Raab M, Hyduk SJ, Bouchard D, Chan VS, Kozieradzki I, Oliveira-Dos-Santos AJ, Wakeham A, Ohashi PS, Cybulsky MI, Rudd CE, Penninger JM. Positive regulation of T cell activation and integrin adhesion by the adapter Fyb/Slap. Science 2001;293:2260-63
- **Groux H, Bigler M, de Vries JE, Roncarolo MG.** Interleukin-10 induces a long-term antigenspecific anergic state in human CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. J Exp Med 1996;184:19-29
- Groves T, Smiley P, Cooke MP, Forbush K, Perlmutter RM, Guidos CJ. Fyn can partially substitute for Lck in T lymphocyte development. Immunity 1996;5:417-28
- Guillot C, Menoret S, Guillonneau C, Braudeau C, Castro MG, Lowenstein P, Anegon I. Active suppression of allogeneic proliferative responses by dendritic cells after induction of long-term allograft survival by CTLA4Ig. Blood 2003;101:3325-33
- Guitard E, Barlat I, Maurier F, Schweighoffer F, Tocque B. Sam68 is a Ras-GAP-associated protein in mitosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1998;245:562-66
- Hancock JF, Magee AI, Childs JE, Marshall CJ. All ras proteins are polyisoprenylated but only some are palmitoylated. Cell 1989;57:1167-77
- Harding FA, McArthur JG, Gross JA, Raulet DH, Allison LP. CD28-mediated signalling costimulates murine T cells and prevents induction of anergy in T cell clones. Nature 1992;356:607-09
- Hartmann AM, Nayler O, Schwaiger FW, Obermeier A, Stamm S. The interaction and colocalization of Sam68 with the splicing-associated factor YT521-B in nuclear dots is regulated by the Src family kinase p59(fyn). Mol Biol Cell 1999;10:3909-26
- Heissmeyer V, Macian F, Im SH, Varma R, Feske S, Venuprasad K, Gu H, Liu YC, Dustin ML, Rao A. Calcineurin imposes T cell unresponsiveness through targeted proteolysis of signaling proteins. Nat Immunol 2004;5:255-65
- Henkemeyer M, Rossi DJ, Holmyard DP, Puri MC, Mbamalu G, Harpal K, Shih TS, Jacks T, Pawson T. Vascular system defects and neuronal apoptosis in mice lacking ras GTPaseactivating protein. Nature 1995;377:695-701

- **Hermiston ML, Xu Z, Majeti R, Weiss A.** Reciprocal regulation of lymphocyte activation by tyrosine kinases and phosphatases. J Clin Invest 2002;109:9-14
- Hermiston ML, Xu Z, Weiss A. CD45: A critical regulator of signaling thresholds in immune cells. Annu Rev Immunol 2003;21:107-37
- Hernandez-Hoyos G, Sohn SJ, Rothenberg EV, Alberola-Ila J. Lck activity controls CD4/CD8 T cell lineage commitment. Immunity 2000;12:313-22
- **Hogan PG, Chen L, Nardone J, Rao A.** Transcriptional regulation by calcium, calcineurin, and NFAT. Genes Dev 2003;17:2205-32
- Holdorf AD, Lee KH, Burack WR, Allen PM, Shaw AS. Regulation of Lck activity by CD4 and CD28 in the immunological synapse. Nat Immunol 2002;3:259-64
- Horejsi V, Zhang W, Schraven B. Transmembrane adaptor proteins: organizers of immunoreceptor signaling. Nat Rev Immunol 2004;4:603-16
- **Hori S, Nomura T, Sakaguchi S.** Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3. Science 2003;299:1057-61
- Hundt M, Tabata H, Jeon MS, Hayashi K, Tanaka Y, Krishna R, De Giorgio L, Liu YC, Fukata M, Altman A. Impaired activation and localization of LAT in anergic T cells as a consequence of a selective palmitoylation defect. Immunity 2006;24:513-22
- **Im SH, Rao A.** Activation and deactivation of gene expression by Ca2+/calcineurin-NFATmediated signaling. Mol Cells 2004;18:1-9
- **Imamoto A, Soriano P.** Disruption of the csk gene, encoding a negative regulator of src family tyrosine kinases, leads to neural tube defects and embryonic lethality in mice. Cell 1993;73:1117-24
- Itoh K, Sakakibara M, Yamasaki S, Takeuchi A, Arase H, Miyazaki M, Nakajima N, Okada M, Saito T. Cutting edge: negative regulation of immune synapse formation by anchoring lipid raft to cytoskeleton through Cbp-EBP50-ERM assembly. J Immunol 2002;168:541-4
- **Izquierdo M, Downward J, Graves JD, Cantrell DA.** Role of protein kinase C in T-cell antigen receptor regulation of p21ras: evidence that two p21ras regulatory pathways coexist in T cells. Mol Cell Biol 1992;12:3305-12

- Jabado N, Jauliac S, Pallier A, Bernard F, Fischer A, Hivroz C. Sam68 association with p120GAP in CD4+ T cells is dependent on CD4 molecule expression. J Immunol 1998;161:2798-803
- Jackson SK, DeLoose A, Gilbert KM. Induction of anergy in Th1 cells associated with increased levels of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors p21Cip1 and p27Kip1. J Immunol 2001;166:952-58
- Janes PW, Ley SC, Magee AI. Aggregation of lipid rafts accompanies signaling via the T cell antigen receptor. J Cell Biol 1999;147:447-61
- Janeway CA. The immune system evolved to discriminate infectious nonself from noninfectious self. Immunol Today 1992;13:11-16
- Jenkins MK, Ashwell JD, Schwartz RH. Allogeneic non-T spleen cells restore the responsiveness of normal T cell clones stimulated with antigen and chemically modified antigen presenting cells. J Immunol 1988;140:3324-30
- Jenkins MK, Chen C, Jung G, Mueller DL, Schwartz RH. Inhibition of antigen-specific proliferation of type 1 murine T cell clones after stimulation with immobilized anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody. J Immunol 1990;144:16-22
- Jenkins MK, Pardoll DM, Mizuguchi J, Chused TM, Schwartz RH. Molecular events in the induction of a nonresponsive state in interleukin 2-producing helper T-lymphocyte clones. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1987;84:5409-13
- Jenkins MK, Schwartz RH. Antigen presentation by chemically modified splenocytes induces antigen-specific T cell unresponsiveness *in vitro* and *in vivo*. J Exp Med 1987;165:302-19
- Jeon MS, Atfield A, Venuprasad K, Krawczyk C, Sarao R, Elly C, Yang C, Arya S, Bachmaier K, Su L, Bouchard D, Jones R, Gronski M, Ohashi P, Wada T, Bloom D, Fathman CG, Liu YC, Penninger JM. Essential role of the E3 ubiquitin ligase Cbl-b in T cell anergy induction. Immunity 2004;21:167-77
- **Jonuleit H, Schmitt E.** The regulatory T cell family: distinct subsets and their interrelations. J Immunol 2003;171:6323-27
- Kane LP, Lin J, Weiss A. Signal transduction by the TCR for antigen. Curr Opin Immunol 2000;12:242-49

- Kang SM, Beverly B, Tran AC, Brorson K, Schwartz RH, Lenardo MJ. Transactivation by AP-1 is a molecular target of T cell clonal anergy. Science 1992;257:1134-38
- Kaplan DR, Morrison DK, Wong G, McCormick F, Williams LT. PDGF beta-receptor stimulates tyrosine phosphorylation of GAP and association of GAP with a signaling complex. Cell 1990;61:125-33
- Kawabuchi M, Satomi Y, Takao T, Shimonishi Y, Nada S, Nagai K, Tarakhovsky A, OkadaM. Transmembrane phosphoprotein Cbp regulates the activities of Src-family tyrosine kinases. Nature 2000;404:999-1003
- **Kersh EN, Shaw AS, Allen PM.** Fidelity of T cell activation through multistep T cell receptor zeta phosphorylation. Science 1998;281:572-75
- Kliche S, Breitling D, Togni M, Pusch R, Heuer K, Wang X, Freund C, Kasirer-Friede A, Menasche G, Koretzky GA, Schraven B. The ADAP/SKAP55 signaling module regulates T-cell receptor-mediated integrin activation through plasma membrane targeting of Rap1. Mol Cell Biol 2006;26:7130-44
- Kosugi A, Saitoh S, Noda S, Yasuda K, Hayashi F, Ogata M, Hamaoka T. Translocation of tyrosine-phosphorylated TCRζ chain to glycolipid-enriched membrane domains upon T cell activation. Int Immunol 1999;11:1395-1401
- Kosugi A, Sakakura J, Yasuda K, Ogata M, Hamaoka T. Involvement of SHP-1 tyrosine phosphatase in TCR-mediated signaling pathways in lipid rafts. Immunity 2001;14:669-80
- **Kubsch S, Graulich E, Knop J, Steinbrink K.** Suppressor activity of anergic T cells induced by IL-10-treated human dendritic cells: association with IL-2- and CTLA-4-dependent G1 arrest of the cell cycle regulated by p27Kip1. Eur J Immunol 2003;33:1988-97
- LaSalle JM, Hafler DA. T cell anergy. FASEB J 1994;8:601-08
- Lechler R, Chai JG, Marelli-Berg F, Lombardi G. The contributions of T-cell anergy to peripheral T-cell tolerance. Immunology 2001;103:262-69
- Lechner O, Lauber J, Franzke A, Sarukhan A, von Boehmer H, Buer J. Fingerprints of anergic T cells. Curr Biol 2001;11:587-95

- Legname G, Seddon B, Lovatt M, Tomlinson P, Sarner N, Tolaini M, Williams K, Norton T, Kioussis D, Zamoyska R. Inducible expression of a p56<sup>Lck</sup> transgene reveals a central role for Lck in the differentiation of CD4 SP thymocytes. Immunity 2000;12:537-46
- Lemay S, Davidson D, Latour S, Veillette A. Dok-3, a novel adapter molecule involved in the negative regulation of immunoreceptor signaling. Mol Cell Biol 2000;20:2743-54
- Leo A, Wienands J, Baier G, Horejsi V, Schraven B. Adapters in lymphocyte signaling. J Clin Invest 2002;109:301-09
- Li L, Iwamoto Y, Berezovskaya A, Boussiotis VA. A pathway regulated by cell cycle inhibitor p27Kip1 and checkpoint inhibitor Smad3 is involved in the induction of T cell tolerance. Nat Immunol 2006;7:1157-65
- Li W, Whaley CD, Mondino A, Mueller DL. Blocked signal transduction to the ERK and JNK protein kinases in anergic CD4+ T cells. Science 1996;271:1272-76
- Liang X, Lu Y, Wilkes M, Neubert TA, Resh MD. The N-terminal SH4 region of the Src family kinase Fyn is modified by methylation and heterogeneous fatty acylation. J Biol Chem 2004;279:8133-39
- Lindsten T, June CH, Ledbetter JA, Stella G, Thompson CB. Regulation of lymphokine messenger RNA stability surface-mediated T cell activation pathway. Science 1989;244:339-43
- Liu XQ, Pawson T. The epidermal growth factor receptor phosphorylates GTPase-activating protein (GAP) at Tyr-460, adjacent to the GAP SH2 domains. Mol Cell Biol 1991;11:2511-16
- **Lockyer PJ, Kupzig S, Cullen PJ.** CAPRI regulates Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent inactivation of the Ras-MAPK pathway. Current Biology 2001;11:981-86
- Lukong KE, Richard S. Sam68, the KH domain-containing superSTAR. Biochim Biophys Acta 2003;1653:73-86
- Macian F, Garcia-Cozar F, Im SH, Horton HF, Byrne MC, Rao A. Transcriptional mechanisms underlying lymphocyte tolerance. Cell 2002;109:719-31
- Macian F, Im SH, García-Cózar FJ, Rao A. T-cell anergy. Curr Opin Immunol 2004;16:209-16

- Maksumova L, Le HT, Muratkhodjaev F, Davidson D, Veillette A, Pallen CJ. Protein tyrosine phosphatase α regulates Fyn activity and Cbp/PAG phosphorylation in thymocyte lipid rafts. J Immunol 2005;175:7947-56
- Marie-Cardine A, Bruyns E, Verhagen AM, Eckerskorn C, Kirchgessner H, Meuer SC, Schraven B. Molecular cloning of SKAP55, a novel protein that associates with the protein tyrosine kinase p59<sup>fyn</sup> in human T-lymphocytes. J Biol Chem 1997;272:16077-80
- Marie-Cardine A, Kirchgessner H, Eckerskorn C, Meuer SC, Schraven B. Human T lymphocyte activation induces tyrosine phosphorylation of alpha-tubulin and its association with the SH2 domain of the p59fyn protein tyrosine kinase. Eur J Immunol 1995;25:3290-97
- Marshall CJ. MAP kinase kinase kinase, MAP kinase kinase and MAP kinase. Curr Opin Genet Dev 1994;4:82-89
- Martin-Cofreces NB, Sancho D, Fernandez E, Vicente-Manzanares M, Gordon-Alonso M, Montoya MC, Michel F, Acuto O, Alarcon B, Sanchez-Madrid F. Role of Fyn in the rearrangement of tubulin cytoskeleton induced through TCR. J Immunol 2006;176:4201-07
- Matzinger P. Tolerance, danger, and the extended family. Annu Rev Immunol 1994;12:991-1045
- Medzhitov R, Janeway CA Jr. How does the immune system distinguish self from nonself? Semin Immunol 2000;12:185-88
- Melkonian KA, Ostermeyer AG, Chen JZ, Roth MG, Brown DA. Role of lipid modifications in targeting proteins to detergent-resistant membrane rafts. Many raft proteins are acylated, while few are prenylated. J Biol Chem 1999;274:3910-17
- Menges M, Rossner S, Voigtlander C, Schindler H, Kukutsch NA, Bogdan C, Erb K, Schuler G, Lutz MB. Repetitive injections of dendritic cells matured with tumor necrosis factor alpha induce antigen-specific protection of mice from autoimmunity. J Exp Med 2002;195:15-21
- Minguet S, Swamy M, Alarcon B, Luescher IF, Schamel WW. Full activation of the T cell receptor requires both clustering and conformational changes at CD3. Immunity 2007;26:43-54

- Mizushima S, Nagata S. pEF-BOS, a powerful mammalian expression vector. Nucleic Acids Res 1990;18:5322
- Moldovan MC, Yachou A, Levesque K, Wu H, Hendrickson WA, Cohen EA, Sekaly RP. CD4 dimers constitute the functional component required for T cell activation. J Immunol 2002;169:6261-68
- Molloy CJ, Bottaro DP, Fleming TP, Marshall MS, Gibbs JB, Aaronson SA. PDGF induction of tyrosine phosphorylation of GTPase activating protein. Nature 1989;342:711-14
- **Morel PA, Feili-Hariri M, Coates PT, Thomson AW.** Dendritic cells, T cell tolerance and therapy of adverse immune reactions. Clin Exp Immunol 2003;133:1-10
- Morita Y, Yang J, Gupta R, Schimizu K, Shelden EA, Endres J, Mule JJ, Mc Donagh KT, Fox DA. Dendritic cells genetically engineered to express IL-4 inhibit murine collageninduced arthritis. J Clin Invest 2001;107:1275-84
- Mueller DL. E3 ubiquitin ligases as T cell anergy factors. Nat Immunol 2004;5:883-90
- Nada S, Okada M, MacAuley A, Cooper JA, Nakagawa H. Cloning of a complementary DNA for a protein-tyrosine kinase that specifically phosphorylates a negative regulatory site of p60c-src. Nature 1991;351:69-72
- Nada S, Yagi T, Takeda H, Tokunaga T, Nakagawa H, Ikawa Y, Okada M, Aizawa S. Constitutive activation of Src family kinases in mouse embryos that lack Csk. Cell 1993;73:1125-35
- Najib S, Martin-Romero C, Gonzalez-Yanes C, Sanchez-Margalet V. Role of Sam68 as an adaptor protein in signal transduction. Cell Mol Life Sci 2005;62:36-43
- **Neet K, Hunter T.** The nonreceptor protein-tyrosine kinase CSK complexes directly with the GTPase-activating protein-associated p62 protein in cells expressing v-Src or activated c-Src. Mol Cell Biol 1995;15:4908-20
- **Ng J, Cantrell D.** STAT3 is a serine kinase target in T lymphocytes. Interleukin 2 and T cell antigen receptor signals converge upon serine 727. J Biol Chem 1997;272:24542-49
- **O'Hehir RE, Yssel H, Verma S, de Vries J, Spits H, Lamb JR.** Clonal analysis of differential lymphokine production in peptide and superantigen induced T cell anergy. Int Immunol 1991;3:819-26

- **O'Ebinu J, Bottorff DA, Chan EYW, Stang SL, Dunn RJ, Stone JC.** RasGRP, a Ras guanyl nucleotide releasing protein with calcium and diacylglycerol-binding motifs. Science 1998;280:1082-86
- **Ohtake H, Ichikawa N, Okada M, Yamashita T.** Cutting edge: Transmembrane phosphoprotein Csk-binding protein/Phosphoprotein associated with glycosphingolipidenriched microdomains as a negative feedback regulator of mast cell signaling through the FccRI. J Immunol 2002;168:2087-90
- **Okada M, Nada S, Yamanashi Y, Yamamoto T, Nakagawa H.** CSK: a protein-tyrosine kinase involved in regulation of src family kinases. J Biol Chem 1991;266:24249-52
- Olenchock BA, Guo R, Carpenter JH, Jordan M, Topham MK, Koretzky GA, Zhong XP. Disruption of diacylglycerol metabolism impairs the induction of T cell anergy. Nat Immunol 2006;7:1174-81
- **Otten GR, Germain RN.** Split anergy in a CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell: receptor-dependent cytolysis in the absence of interleukin-2 production. Science 1991;251:1228-31
- **Paronetto MP, Zalfa F, Botti F, Geremia R, Bagni C, Sette C.** The nuclear RNA-binding protein Sam68 translocates to the cytoplasm and associates with the polysomes in mouse spermatocytes. Mol Cell Biol 2006;17:14-24
- **Perez de Castro I, Bivona TG, Philips MR, Pellicer A.** Ras activation in Jurkat T cells following low-grade stimulation of the T-cell receptor is specific to N-Ras and occurs only on the Golgi apparatus. Mol Cell Biol 2004;24:3485-96
- Perez-Villar JJ, Whitney GS, Sitnick MT, Dunn RJ, Venkatesan S, O'Day K, Schieven GL, Lin TA, Kanner SB. Phosphorylation of the linker for activation of T-cells by Itk promotes recruitment of Vav. Biochemistry 2002;41:10732-40
- Peterson EJ, Woods ML, Dmowski SA, Derimanov G, Jordan MS, Wu JN, Myung PS, Liu QH, Pribila JT, Freedman BD, Shimizu Y, Koretzky GA. Coupling of the TCR to integrin activation by Slap-130/Fyb. Science 2001;293:2263-65
- Pfrepper KI, Marie-Cardine A, Simeoni L, Kuramitsu Y, Leo A, Spicka J, Hilgert I, Scherer J, Schraven B. Structural and functional dissection of the cytoplasmic domain of the

transmembrane adaptor protein SIT (SHP2-interacting transmembrane adaptor protein). Eur J Immunol 2001;31:1825-36

- Pitcher LA, Young JA, Mathias MA, Wrage PC, Bartok B, van Oers NS. The formation and functions of the 21- and 23-kDa tyrosine-phosphorylated TCR zeta subunits. Immunol Rev 2003;191:47-61
- **Poppema S, Maggio E, van den Berg A.** Development of lymphoma in Autoimmune Lymphoproliferative Syndrome (ALPS) and its relationship to Fas gene mutations. Leuk Lymphoma 2004;45:423-31
- **Posevitz-Fejfar A, Smida M, Kliche S, Hartig R, Schraven B, Lindquist JA.** A displaced PAG enhances proximal signaling and SDF-1 induced T-cell migration. Eur J Immunol 2007, in press
- **Powell JD, Lerner CG, Ewoldt GR, Schwartz RH.** The –180 site of the IL-2 promoter is the target of CREB/CREM binding in T cell anergy. J Immunol 1999;163:6631-39
- **Prasad KV, Cai YC, Raab M, Duckworth B, Cantley L, Shoelson SE, Rudd CE.** T-cell antigen CD28 interacts with the lipid kinase phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase by a cytoplasmic Tyr(p)-Met-Xaa-Met motif. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1994;91:2834-38
- **Prior IA, Harding A, Yan J, Sluimer J, Parton RG, Hancock JF.** GTP-dependent segregation of H-ras from lipid rafts is required for biological activity. Nat Cell Biol 2001;3:368-75
- **Quill H, Bhandoola A, Trinchieri G, Haluskey J, Pritt D.** Induction of interleukin 12 responsiveness is impaired in anergic T lymphocytes. J Exp Med 1994;179:1065-70
- **Quill H, Riley MP, Cho EA, Casnellie JE, Reed JC, Torigoe T.** Anergic Th1 cells express altered levels of the protein tyrosine kinases p56lck and p59fyn. J Immunol 1992;149:2887-93
- **Quill H, Schwartz RH.** Stimulation of normal inducer T cell clones with antigen presented by purified Ia molecules in planar lipid membranes: specific induction of a long-lived state of proliferative nonresponsiveness. J Immunol 1987;138:3704-12
- Rahmouni S, Vang T, Alonso A, Williams S, van Stipdonk M, Soncini C, Moutschen M, Schoenberger SP, Mustelin T. Removal of C-terminal Src kinase from the immune synapse by a new binding protein. Mol Cell Biol 2005;25:2227-41

- **Rapoport MJ, Lazarus AH, Jaramillo A, Speck E, Delovitch TL.** Thymic T cell anergy in autoimmune nonobese diabetic mice is mediated by deficient T cell receptor regulation of the pathway of p21ras activation. J Exp Med 1993;177:1221-26
- **Reczek D, Berryman M, Bretscher A.** Identification of EBP50: a PDZ-containing phosphoprotein that associates with members of the ezrin-radixin-moesin family. J Cell Biol 1997;139:169-79
- Reth M. Antigen receptor tail clue. Nature 1989;338:383-84
- Rocks O, Peyker A, Kahms M, Verveer PJ, Koerner C, Lumbierres M, Kuhlmann J, Waldmann H, Wittinghofer A, Bastiaens PI. An acylation cycle regulates localization and activity of palmitoylated Ras isoforms. Science 2005;307:1746-52
- Rodriguez-Viciana P, Warne PH, Dhand R, Vanhaesebroeck B, Gout I, Fry MJ, Waterfield MD, Downward J. Phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase as a direct target of Ras. Nature 1994;370:527-32
- Roose JP, Mollenauer M, Gupta VA, Stone J, Weiss A. A diacylglycerol-protein kinase C-RasGRP1 pathway directs Ras activation upon antigen receptor stimulation of T cells. Mol Cell Biol 2005;25:4426-41
- **Rubio I, Rodriguez-Viciana P, Downward J, Wetzker R.** Interaction of Ras with phosphoinositide 3-kinase γ. Biochem. J. 1997;326:891-95
- Sabe H, Hata A, Okada M, Nakagawa H, Hanafusa H. Analysis of the binding of the Src homology 2 domain of Csk to tyrosine-phosphorylated proteins in the suppression and mitotic activation of c-Src. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1994;91:3984-88
- Saez-Rodriguez J, Simeoni L, Lindquist JA, Hemenway R, Bommhardt U, Arndt B, Haus UU, Weismantel R, Gilles ED, Klamt S, Schraven B. A logical model provides insights into T cell receptor signaling. PloS Comput Biol 2007;3:1580-90
- Samelson LE, Phillips AF, Luong ET, Klausner RD. Association of the fyn protein-tyrosine kinase with the T-cell antigen receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1990;87:4358-62
- Samelson LE. Signal transduction mediated by the T cell antigen receptor: The role of adapter proteins. Annu Rev Immunol 2002;20:371-94

- Sanchez-Margalet V, Najib S. Sam68 is a docking protein linking GAP and PI3K in insulin receptor signaling. Mol Cell Endocrinol 2001;183:113-21
- Satoh T, Nakfuku M, Miyajima A, Kaziro Y. Involvement of ras p21 protein in signaltransduction pathways from interleukin 2, interleukin 3, and granulocyte/macrophage colonystimulating factor, but not from interleukin 4. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1991;88:3314-18
- Schamel WW, Arechaga I, Risueno RM, van Santen HM, Cabezas P, Risco C, Valpuesta JM, Alarcon B. Coexistence of multivalent and monovalent TCRs explains high sensitivity and wide range of response. J Exp Med 2005;202:493-503
- Schmedt C, Saijo K, Niidome T, Kuhn R, Aizawa S, Tarakhovsky A. Csk controls antigen receptor-mediated development and selection of T-lineage cells. Nature 1998;394:901-904
- Schmedt C, Tarakhovsky A. Autonomous maturation of alpha/beta T lineage cells in the absence of COOH-terminal Src kinase (Csk). J Exp Med 2001;193:815-26
- Schraven B, Kirchgessner H, Gaber B, Samstag Y, Meuer S. A functional complex is formed in human T lymphocytes between the protein tyrosine phosphatase CD45, the protein tyrosine kinase p56<sup>lck</sup> and pp32, a possible common substrate. Eur J Immunol 1991;21:2469-77
- Schroeder RJ, Ahmed SN, Zhu Y, London E, Brown DA. Cholesterol and sphingolipid enhance the Triton X-100 insolubility of glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored proteins by promoting the formation of detergent-insoluble ordered membrane domains. J Biol Chem 1998;273:1150-57
- Schultz J, Milpetz F, Bork P, Ponting CP. SMART, a simple modular architecture research tool: identification of signaling domains. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A 1998;95:5857-64
- Schwartz RH. Models of T cell anergy: is there a common molecular mechanism? J Exp Med 1996;184:1-8
- Schwartz RH. T cell anergy. Annu Rev Immunol 2003;21:305-34
- Sebzda E, Mariathasan S, Ohteki T, Jones R, Bachmann MF, Ohashi PS. Selection of the T cell repertoire. Annu Rev Immunol 1999;17:829-74
- **Seddon B, Legname G, Tomlinson P, Zamoyska R.** Long-term survival but impaired homeostatic proliferation of naïve T cells in the absence of p56<sup>lck</sup>. Science 2000;290:127-31

- **Seddon B, Zamoyska R.** TCR and IL-7 receptor signals can operate independently or synergize to promote lymphopenia-induced expansion of naïve T cells. J Immunol 2002a;169:3752-59
- Seddon B, Zamoyska R. TCR signals mediated by Src family kinases are essential for the survival of naïve T cells. J Immunol 2002b;169:2997-3005
- Shima T, Nada S, Okada M. Transmembrane phosphoprotein Cbp senses cell adhesion signaling mediated by Src family kinase in lipid rafts. PNAS 2003;25:14897-902
- Shortman K, Wu L. Early T lymphocyte progenitors. Annu Rev Immunol 1996;14:29-47
- Sicheri F, Moarefi I, Kuriyan J. Crystal structure of the Src family tyrosine kinase Hck. Nature 1997;385:602-9
- Simarro M, Lanyi A, Howie D, Poy F, Bruggeman J, Choi M, Sumegi J, Eck MJ, Terhorst C. SAP increases FynT kinase activity and is required for phosphorylation of SLAM and Ly9. Int Immunol 2004;16:727-36
- Simeoni L, Smida M, Posevitz V, Schraven B, Lindquist JA. Right time, right place: the organization of membrane proximal signaling. Semin Immunol 2005;17:35-49
- **Sloan-Lancaster J, Evavold BD, Allen PM.** Induction of T cell anergy by altered T-cellreceptor ligand on live antigen-presenting cells. Nature 1993;363:156-59
- Smida M, Posevitz-Fejfar A, Horejsi V, Schraven B, Lindquist JA. A novel negative regulatory function of the phosphoprotein associated with glycosphingolipid-enriched microdomains: blocking Ras activation. Blood 2007;110:596-615
- Starr TK, Jameson SC, Hogquist KA. Positive and negative selection of T cells. Annu Rev Immunol 2003;21:139-76
- **Stefanova I, Hemmer B, Vergelli M, Martin R, Biddison WE, Germain RN.** TCR ligand discrimination is enforced by competing ERK positive and SHP-1 negative feedback pathways. Nat Immunol 2003;4:248-54
- Steinbrink K, Graulich E, Knop J, Enk AH. CD4(+) and CD8(+) anergic T cells induced by interleukin-10-treated human dendritic cells display antigen-specific suppressor activity. Blood 2002;99:2468-76

- **Stover DR, Furet P, Lydon NB.** Modulation of the SH2 binding specificity and kinase activity of Src by tyrosine phosphorylation within its SH2 domain. J Biol Chem 1996;271:12481-87
- **Straus DB, Weiss A.** Genetic evidence for the involvement of the lck tyrosine kinase in signal transduction through the T cell antigen receptor. Cell 1992;70:585-93
- **Streilein JW.** Peripheral tolerance induction: lessons from immune privileged sites and tissues. Transplant Proc 1996;28:2066-70
- Su B, Jacinto E, Hibi M, Kallunki T, Karin M, Ben-Neriah Y. JNK is involved in signal integration during costimulation of T lymphocytes. Cell 1994;77:727-36
- Svec A, Velenska Z, Horejsi V. Expression pattern of adaptor protein PAG: Correlation between secondary lymphatic follicle and histogenetically related malignant lymphomas. Immunol Letters 2005;100:94-97
- Swat W, Shinakai Y, Cheng HL, Davidson L, Alt FW. Activated Ras signals differentiation and expansion of CD4+CD8+ thymocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996;93:4683-87
- Takeuchi S, Takayama Y, Ogawa A, Tamura K, Okada M. Transmembrane phosphoprotein Cbp positively regulates the activity of the carboxyl-terminal Src kinase, Csk. J Biol Chem 2000;275:29183-86
- Tamir I, Stolpa JC, Helgason CD, Nakamura K, Bruhns P, Daeron M, Cambier JC. The RasGAP-binding protein p62dok is a mediator of inhibitory FcgammaRIIB signals in B cells. Immunity 2000;12:347-58
- **Taylor SJ, Resnick RJ, Shalloway D.** Sam68 exerts separable effects on cell cycle progression and apoptosis. BMC Cell Biol 2004;5:5
- Tedoldi S, Paterson JC, Hansmann ML, Natkunam Y, Rüdiger T, Angelisova P, Du MQ, Roberton H, Roncador G, Sanchez L, Pozzobon M, Masir N, Barry R, Pileri S, Mason DY, Marafioti T, Horejsi V. Transmembrane adaptor molecules: a new category of lymphoid-cell markers. Blood 2006;107:213-21
- **Telander DG, Malvey EN, Mueller DL.** Evidence for repression of IL-2 gene activation in anergic T cells. J Immunol 1999;162:1460-65

- Thomas S, Kumar R, Preda-Pais A, Casares S, Brumeanu TD. A model for antigen-specific T-cell anergy: displacement of CD4-p56(lck) signalosome from the lipid rafts by a soluble, dimeric peptide-MHC class II chimera. J Immunol 2003;170:5981-92
- **Thomas SM, Brugge JS.** Cellular functions regulated by Src family kinases. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 1997;13:513-609
- **Timson Gauen LK, Kong AN, Samelson LE, Shaw AS.** p59<sup>fyn</sup> tyrosine kinase associates with multiple T-cell receptor subunits through its unique amino-terminal domain. Mol Cell Biol 1992;12:5438-46
- **Togni M, Lindquist J, Gerber A, Kolsch U, Hamm-Baarke A, Kliche S, Schraven B.** The role of adaptor proteins in lymphocyte activation. Mol Immunol 2004;41:615-30
- **Tognon CE, Kirk HE, Passmore LA, Whitehead IP, Der CJ, Kay RJ.** Regulation of RasGRP via a phorbol ester-responsive C1 domain. Mol Cell Biol 1998;18:6995-7008
- Torgersen KM, Vang T, Abrahamsen H, Yagub S, Horejsi V, Schraven B, Rolstad B, Mustelin T, Tasken K. Release from tonic inhibition of T cell activation through transient displacement of C-terminal Src kinase (Csk) from lipid rafts. J Biol Chem 2001;276:29313-18
- **Trenn G, Sykora J, Michel MC, Brittinger G.** Functional and biochemical characterization of a calcium-ionophore-induced state of unresponsiveness in a cytolytic T cell clone. J Immunol 1992;148:1338-46
- **Tuosto L, Michel F, Acuto O.** p95vav associates with tyrosine-phosphorylated SLP-76 in antigen-stimulated T cells. J Exp Med 1996;184:1161-66
- **Turner H, Cantrell DA.** Distinct Ras effector pathways are involved in FccR1 regulation of the transcriptional activity of Elk-1 and NFAT in mast cells. J Exp Med 1997;185:43-57
- **Turner JM, Brodsky MH, Irving BA, Levin SD, Perlmutter RM, Littman DR.** Interaction of the unique N-terminal region of tyrosine kinase p56lck with cytoplasmic domains of CD4 and CD8 is mediated by cysteine motifs. Cell 1990:60;755-65
- Tzachanis D, Freeman GJ, Hirano N, van Puijenbroek AA, Delfs MW, Berezovskaya A, Nadler LM, Boussiotis VA. Tob is a negative regulator of activation that is expressed in anergic and quiescent T cells. Nat Immunol 2001;2:1174-82

- **Utting O, Teh SJ, Teh HS.** A population of in vivo anergized T cells with a lower activation threshold for the induction of CD25 exhibit differential requirements in mobilization of intracellular calcium and mitogen-activated protein kinase activation. J Immunol 2000;164:2881-89
- Vadlamudi RK, Sahin AA, Adam L, Wang RA, Kumar R. Heregulin and HER2 signaling selectively activates c-Src phosphorylation at tyrosine 215. FEBS Letters 2003;543:76-80
- van Leeuwen JEM, Samelson LE. T cell antigen-receptor signal transduction. Curr Opin Immunol 1999;11:242-48
- van Oers NS, Lowin-Kropf B, Finlay D, Connoly K, Weiss A. alpha beta T cell development is abolished in mice lacking both Lck and Fyn protein tyrosine kinases. Immunity 1996;5:429-36
- van Parijs L, Perez VL, Abbas AK. Mechanisms of peripheral T cell tolerance. Novartis Found Symp 1998;215:5-14
- Vang T, Abrahamsen H, Myklebust S, Horejsi V, Tasken K. Combined spatial and enzymatic regulation of Csk by cAMP and protein kinase A inhibits T cell receptor signaling. J Biol Chem 2003;278:17597-600
- Vang T, Torgersen KM, Sundvold V, Saxena M, Levy FO, Skalhegg BS, Hansson V, Mustelin T, Tasken K. Activation of the COOH-terminal Src kinase (Csk) by cAMPdependent protein kinase inhibits signaling through the T cell receptor. J Exp Med 2001;193:497-507
- **Veillette A, Bookman MA, Horak EM, Bolen JB.** The CD4 and CD8 T cell surface antigens are associated with the internal membrane tyrosine-protein kinase p56lck. Cell 1988;55:301-8
- Verdoodt B, Blazek T, Rauch P, Schuler G, Steinkasserer A, Lutz MB, Funk JO. The cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors p27Kip1 and p21Cip1 are not essential in T cell anergy. Eur J Immunol 2003;33:3154-63
- Walker LS, Abbas AK. The enemy within: keeping self-reactive T cells at bay in the periphery. Nat Rev Immunol 2002;2:11-9
- Wang B, Lemay S, Tsai S, Veillette A. SH2 domain-mediated interaction of inhibitory protein tyrosine kinase Csk with protein tyrosine phosphatase-HSCF. Mol Cell Biol 2001;21:1077-88

- Wang LL, Richard S, Shaw AS. P62 association with RNA is regulated by tyrosine phosphorylation. J Biol Chem 1995;270:2010-13
- Weissman AM. The T-cell antigen receptor: a multisubunit signaling complex. Chem Immunol 1994;59:1-18
- Wekerle T, Kurtz J, Bigenzahn S, Takeuchi Y, Sykes M. Mechanisms of transplant tolerance induction using costimulatory blockade. Curr Opin Immunol 2002;14:592-600
- Welke J, Zavazava N. p59(fyn) is upregulated in anergic CD8+ T cells. Hum Immunol 2002;63:834-43
- Willumsen BM, Norris K, Papageorge AG, Hubbert NL, Lowy DR. Harvey murine sarcoma virus p21 ras protein: biological and biochemical significance of the cysteine nearest the carboxy terminus. The EMBO Journal 1984;2581-85
- **Wolf H, Muller Y, Salmen S, Wilmanns W, Jung G.** Induction of anergy in resting human T lymphocytes by immobilized anti-CD3 antibodies. Eur J Immunol 1994;24:1410-17
- Wu J, Motto DG, Koretzky GA, Weiss A. Vav and Slp-76 interact and functionally cooperate in IL-2 gene activation. Immunity 1996;4:593-602
- Xavier R, Brennan T, Li Q, McCormack C, Seed B. Membrane compartmentalization is required for efficient T cell activation. Immunity 1998;8:723-32
- **Xu H, Gutmann DH.** Mutations in the GAP-related domain impair the ability of neurofibromin to associate with microtubules. Brain Res 1997;759:149-52
- Xu S, Huo J, Tan JEL, Lam KP. Cbp deficiency alters Csk localization in lipid rafts but does not affect T-cell development. Mol Cell Biol 2005;25:8486-95
- Xu W, Harrison SC, Eck MJ. Three-dimensional structure of the tyrosine kinase c-Src. Nature 1997;385:595-602
- Yablonski D, Kuhne MR, Kadlecek T, Weiss A. Uncoupling of nonreceptor tyrosine kinases from PLC-gamma-1 in an SLP-76-deficient T-cell. Science 1998;281:413-16
- Yagub S, Abrahamsen H, Zimmerman B, Kholod N, Torgersen KM, Mustelin T, Herberg FW, Tasken K, Vang T. Activation of C-terminal Src kinase (Csk) by phosphorylation at serine-364 depends on the Csk-Src homology 3 domain. Biochem J 2003;372:271-78

- **Yamanashi Y, Baltimore D.** Identification of the Abl- and rasGAP-associated 62 kDa protein as a docking protein, Dok. Cell 1997;88:205-11
- Yarilin D, Duan R, Huang YM, Xiao BG. Dendritic cells exposed in vitro to TGF-beta1 ameliorate experimental autoimmune myasthenia gravis. Clin Exp Immunol 2002;127:214-19
- Yasuda K, Nagafuku M, Shima T, Okada M, Yagi T, Yamada T, Minaki Y, Kato A, Taniichi S, Hamaoka T, Kosugi A. Cutting Edge: Fyn is essential for tyrosine phosphorylation of Csk-binding proten/Phosphoprotein associated with glycolipid-enriched microdomains in lipid rafts in resting T cells. J Immunol 2002;169:2813-17
- Yun CH, Oh S, Zizak M, Steplock D, Tsao S, Tse CM, Weinman EJ, Donowitz M. cAMPmediated inhibition of the epithelial brush border Na+/H+ exchanger, NHE3, requires an associated regulatory protein. Proc. Natl Acad Sci USA 1997;94:3010-15
- Zeyda M, Staffler G, Horejsi V, Waldhausl W, Stulnig TM. LAT displacement from lipid rafts as a molecular mechanism for the inhibition of T cell signaling by polyunsaturated fatty acids. J Biol Chem 2002;277:28418-23
- Zha Y, Marks R, Ho AW, Peterson AC, Janardhan S, Brown I, Praveen K, Stang S, Stone JC, Gajewski TF. T cell anergy is reversed by active Ras and is regulated by diacylglycerol kinase-alpha. Nat Immunol 2006;7:1166-73
- Zhang SQ, Yang W, Kontaridis MI, Bivona TG, Wen G, Araki T, Luo J, Thompson JA, Schraven BL, Philips MR, Neel BG. Shp2 regulates Src family kinase activity and Ras/Erk activation by controlling Csk recruitment. Mol Cell 2004;13:341-55
- Zhang W, Sloan-Lancaster J, Kitchen J, Trible RP, Samelson LE. LAT: the ZAP-70 tyrosine kinase substrate that links T cell receptor to cellular activation. Cell 1998;92:83-92
- **Zhang W, Trible RP, Zhu M, Liu SK, McGlade CJ, Samelson LE.** Association of Grb2, Gads and Phospholipase C-γ1 with phosphorylated LAT tyrosine residues. J Biol Chem 2000;275:23355-6

## 8. Abbreviations

AICD	activation-induced cell death
AP-1	activator protein 1
APC	antigen-presenting cell
C2 domain	protein kinase C conserved region 2 domain
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CAPRI	calcium-promoted Ras inactivator
Cbl	casitas B-lineage lymphoma
CD	cluster of differentiation
Cdk	cyclin-dependent kinase
Csk	C-terminal Src kinase
CTLA4	cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4
DAG	diacylglycerol
DC	dendritic cell
DGK	diacylglycerolkinase
DN	double negative
Dok	downstream of kinase
DP	double positive
EBP50	ezrin-radixin-moesin binding protein of 50 kDa
ERK	extracellular signal related kinase
FI	fold induction
FoxP3	forkhead box P3 protein
Gads	Grb2-related adaptor downstream of Shc
GEMs	glycosphingolipid-enriched membrane microdomains
GM-CSF	granulocyte and monocyte colony-stimulating factor
Grb2	growth factor receptor-bound protein2
GST	glutathione S-transferase
IB	immunoblotting
IFN-γ	interferon gamma
IGAP	inducible GTPase-activating protein
IL	interleukin

IP	immunoprecipitation
${\rm I\!P}_3$	inositol-1,4,5-trisphosphate
ITAM	immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif
IVK	<i>in vitro</i> kinase assay
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
LAT	linker for activation of T cells
Lck	lymphocyte-specific protein tyrosine kinase
LIME	Lck-interacting molecule
МАРК	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MHC	major histocompatibility complex
MW	molecular weight
NF1	neurofibromin 1
NFAT	nuclear factor of activated T cells
NFkB	nuclear factor kappa B
p21cip1	cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 1
p27kip1	kinase inhibitor protein 1
PAG	phosphoprotein associated with glycosphingolipid-enriched
	microdomains
PAGE	polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PEP	PEST-enriched phosphatase
PH domain	pleckstrin homology domain
РІЗК	phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase
РКСө	protein kinase C theta
PLCy1	phospholipase C gamma 1
PMA	phorbol myristate acetate
PTB domain	phosphotyrosine-binding domain
ΡΤΡα	protein tyrosine phosphatase alpha
pTyr	phosphotyrosine
RasGAP	Ras GTPase-activating protein
RasGEF	Ras guanine-nucleotide exchange factor
RasGRP	Ras guanyl-releasing protein
RBD	Ras binding domain

Sam68	Src-associated in mitosis of 68kDa
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulphate
SFK	Src family kinase
SH2	Src homology 2
SH3	Src homology 3
SHP	SH2 domain-containing phosphatase
SHIP	SH2 domain-containing inositol 5 ' phosphatase
shRNA	short hairpin RNA
siRNA	short interfering RNA
SIT	SHP-2 interacting transmembrane adaptor protein
SLP-76	SH2 domain containing leukocyte protein of 76 kDa
Sos	son of sevenless
Syk	spleen tyrosine kinase
TBSM	tyrosine based signaling motif
Tc	cytotoxic T cell
TCR	T-cell receptor
TGF-β	transforming growth factor beta
Th	helper T cell
TRAPs	transmembrane adaptor proteins
Treg	regulatory T cell
WB	Western blotting
ZAP70	zeta-associated protein of 70kDa

# 9. Curriculum Vitae

Name:	Michal Smida
Date of birth:	01.02.1976
Place of birth:	Boskovice, Czech Republic
Nationality:	Czech
Marital status:	single
Current address:	Amsdorfstrasse 3
	39112, Magdeburg, Germany
Education	
1982 - 1990	Elementary school, Adamov, CZ
1990 – 1994	Grammar school, Blansko, CZ
1994 – 1997	Faculty of Medicine, Masaryk University, Brno, CZ
1997 – 2002	Faculty of Science, Masaryk University, Brno, CZ
	Mgr. (~M.Sc., DiplBiol.) in Molecular Biology/Genetics
2002 - 2007	Doctoral candidate in the Institute of Immunology, Otto-von-
	Guericke University, Magdeburg, Germany

#### **10.** Publications and presentations

**Smida M**, Posevitz-Fejfar A, Horejsi V, Schraven B, Lindquist JA. A novel negative regulatory function of the phosphoprotein associated with glycosphingolipid-enriched microdomains: blocking Ras activation. Blood 2007;110:596-615

Filby A., Seddon B, Kleczkowska J, Salmond R, Tomlinson P, **Smida M**, Lindquist JA, Schraven B, Zamoyska R. Fyn regulates the duration of T cell receptor engagement needed for commitment to effector function. J Immunol 2007;179:4635-44

Posevitz-Fejfar A, **Smida M**, Kliche S, Hartig R, Schraven B, Lindquist JA. A displaced PAG enhances proximal signaling and SDF-1 induced T-cell migration. Eur J Immunol 2007, in press

Simeoni L, **Smida M**, Posevitz V, Schraven B, and Lindquist JA. Right time, right place: the organization of membrane proximal signaling. Semin. Immunol. 2005;17:35-49

5-8 Sept. 2007	37 <sup>th</sup> Annual Meeting of the German Society for Immunology,
	Heidelberg, Germany – poster presentation
6-9 Sept. 2006	Joint meeting of European national society of immunology, Paris, France – <u>poster presentation</u>
10-12 Nov. 2005	9 <sup>th</sup> Joint meeting in signal transduction – Receptors, mediators and genes, Weimar, Germany – <u>oral presentation</u>
21-24 Sept. 2005	Joint 36 <sup>th</sup> annual meetings of the German society of immunology and the Scandinavian society for immunology, Kiel, Germany – <u>poster presentation</u>
20-23 Oct. 2004	Joint Annual Meeting of the German and Dutch Societies for Immunology, Maastricht, the Netherlands – <u>poster presentation</u>

 11-16 Sept. 2004
 6th EFIS Tatra Immunology Conference, Tatranske Zruby, Slovakia

 - poster presentation